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I. INTRODUCTION

1. The evidence in this case proves beyond reasonable doubt that between

approximately 17 May and 5 June 1999, KLA members including Pjetër SHALA, the

Accused in this case, Sabit GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI, and other KLA soldiers and

policemen arbitrarily detained and tortured at least 18 civilians at the Kukës Metal

Factory (‘KMF’), a KLA base in the town of Kukës, Albania. One of the victims was

murdered, dying as a result of gunshot injuries sustained during a brutal beating in

which the Accused participated.

2. The victims were held in inhumane conditions and severely mistreated on a

regular basis. They lived for weeks in a constant state of fear, unable even to sleep. As

TW4-01 described it: ‘[w]e were expecting to be killed at every moment’.1

3. The victims suffered severe, and permanent, physical and psychological harm

as a result of their ordeal. They were left terrified, humiliated, bloodied, bruised, with

broken bones and teeth, and with gunshot wounds. The Accused took active part in

those mistreatments. 

4. Some of the victims are no longer alive, and could not testify in this trial to tell

their story. The account of their plight, however, lives in their prior testimonies, which

are corroborated by the surviving victims, and by the Accused’s own admissions. It

also lives in the memory of their loved ones, who testified in this trial on their behalf.

                                                

1 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539
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This brief tells the story of each of these victims, of the cruelty of their tormentors, and

of the impact the perpetrators’ crimes had on the victims’ lives and on those of their

families.

5. In the following sections, this brief demonstrates how the evidence presented

at trial proves beyond reasonable doubt the responsibility of the Accused for the

offences of arbitrary detention, cruel treatment, torture, and murder. It also provides

submissions on appropriate sentencing. Annex 1 to the brief contains, for ease of

reference, certain photograph and diagrams illustrating the evidence, which are

referenced where relevant throughout.  
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II. GENERAL EVIDENTIARY CONSIDERATIONS

6. The Law and Rules, in particular Article 21(3) and Rules 139 and 140, explicitly

regulate the standard of proof to be applied by Trial Panel I (‘Panel’), as well as a

number of considerations in relation to the assessment of evidence for the purposes of

the judgment. 

A. Standard and Burden of Proof 

7. The Specialist Prosecutor’s Office (‘SPO’) must prove the guilt of the Accused

beyond reasonable doubt.2 Reasonable doubt cannot consist of imaginary or frivolous

doubt based on empathy or prejudice, but must have a rational link to the evidence,

lack of evidence, or inconsistencies in the evidence,3 – it must be grounded in reason.4

8. The beyond reasonable doubt standard applies to the facts underlying the

crimes and modes of liability charged in the Indictment, as well as to other facts on

which the Accused’s responsibility depends.5 The standard does not apply to

individual pieces of evidence.6 

                                                

2 See Article 21(3), Rules 140(1) and 158(3); Mustafa TJ, para.27; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.34.
3 Rule 140(2); Mustafa TJ, para.27; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.36; Halilović AJ, para.109; Rutaganda AJ,
para.488; Delalić et al. TJ, para.601.
4 Ongwen TJ, para.228.
5 Mustafa AJ, para.368.
6 Rule 140(2).
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9. Circumstantial evidence can satisfy the standard of proof beyond reasonable

doubt when the inference drawn from that evidence is the only reasonable one that

could be drawn.7 If a trial panel bases a conviction solely or to a decisive extent on

circumstantial evidence, it must assess this evidence with caution and provide

reasoned findings, in particular regarding the consistency and intrinsic coherence of

such evidence.8

10. A conviction may not be based solely or to a decisive extent on inter alia: (a) the

statement of a witness whom the Defence had no opportunity to examine; or (b) the

evidence of witnesses whose identity was not disclosed to the Defence.9 However,

otherwise, the Panel shall not impose a legal requirement that corroboration is

required in order to prove any crime or criminal conduct within the jurisdiction of the

Kosovo Specialist Chambers (‘KSC’).10 The Panel retains discretion to consider

whether a single piece of evidence or the sum of different pieces of evidence suffice to

prove a specific fact.11

                                                

7 Rule 140(3); Mustafa TJ, para.29; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.37; Kvočka et al. AJ, para.237; Šainović et
al. AJ, para.995; Karadžić TJ, para.14.
8 Rule 139(5); Mustafa TJ, para.45.
9 Rule 140(4); Mustafa TJ, para.40.
10 Rule 139(3); Taylor AJ, para.78.
11 Mustafa TJ, para.43; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.39.
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B. Assessment of Evidence

11. The Panel must assess each piece of evidence in light of the entire body of

evidence admitted at trial, and carry out a holistic evaluation and weighing of the

evidence before it, as required by Rule 139(2), to determine whether the facts at issue

have been established.12

12. In determining the weight to be given to the testimony of witnesses, the Panel

shall assess the credibility and the reliability of their evidence.13 This assessment

should be made on a case-by-case basis. In the Mustafa case, the Panel provided a non-

exhaustive list of factors relevant to this assessment.14 The Panel retains broad

discretion in assessing inconsistencies in a witness’s account, which, in accordance

with Rule 139(6), do not per se render that account unreliable.15 In this regard, the Panel

shall consider the nature, extent and seriousness of the inconsistencies, any

explanations provided for them, and factors such as trauma and passage of time.16

Minor discrepancies between the evidence of different witnesses, or between the

testimony of a particular witness and his or her prior statement, should not be

                                                

12 Mustafa TJ, paras 28, 32; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.35.
13 Rule 139(4); Mustafa TJ, para.34; Mustafa AJ, para.229.
14 Mustafa TJ, para.35; Mustafa AJ, para.233; Ongwen TJ, para.260.
15 Mustafa TJ, para.36; Mustafa AJ, paras 272, 307.
16 Mustafa TJ, para.36.
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regarded as discrediting such evidence.17 The Panel may accept parts of a piece of

evidence and reject others.18

13. In assessing the credibility of documentary evidence, the Panel may consider,

inter alia, indicia of authenticity and reliability, the source of a document, its content,

its purported use, and its coherence and consistency with other evidence on record.19

14. Just as for any other evidence presented, it is for the Panel to assess the

reliability and probative value of expert reports and testimony.20 Relevant factors are

the experts’ competence in their field of expertise, the methodology used, the

coherence of the findings with other evidence in the case, and the general reliability

of the experts’ evidence.21

15. Hearsay evidence is admissible before the KSC, and its probative value is not

necessarily lower than direct evidence.22 While a Panel may assess certain hearsay

with caution,23 its probative value will ultimately depend on the circumstances

surrounding each piece of evidence.24

                                                

17 Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.38.
18 Mustafa TJ, para.37; Ngirabatware TJ, para.53.
19 Mustafa TJ, para.42; Musema TJ, paras 59-60, 63-67, 70-72.
20 Nahimana et al. AJ, para.199.
21 Mustafa TJ, para.41.
22 Mustafa TJ, para.44.
23 Mustafa TJ, para.44; Mustafa AJ, para.125.
24 Mustafa TJ, para.44.
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16. The credibility, reliability, and weight of evidence presented by the SPO and

the Accused, respectively, is to be assessed in the same manner.25

17. The Panel may rely on evidence that falls outside of the temporal scope of the

charges in certain circumstances, including: (i) to clarify a given context; (ii) to

establish by inference the elements, in particular the mens rea, of criminal conduct

occurring during the indictment period; or (iii) to demonstrate a deliberate pattern of

conduct.26

III. THE KUKËS METAL FACTORY AND THE KLA

A. Location

18. Kukës is a town in the northern part of Albania, located approximately 20

kilometres south-west of the Kosovo border.27 

19. In 1999, the KLA converted a former factory located in the outskirts of Kukës

town28 into a military base.29 The KMF rests on the road going towards Has or Krume.30

                                                

25 Ntaganda AJ, paras 13, 587.
26 Khieu Samphan and Nuon Chea TJ, para.60; Taylor TJ, para.101.
27 Common Knowledge Facts List, fact no.1; SPOE00127400-00127400; Annex 1, figure 1.
28 Common Knowledge Facts List, fact no.2.
29 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.51; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.14-15, 18, 21-28; W04754,
23 October 2023, p.2922.
30 SPOE00330362-00330362; 060653-060663-ET, p.060653; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.1, 3; 060124-TR-ET
Part 1 Revised RED, pp.52, 56-57; Annex 1, figure 2.
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While the KMF was operational as a KLA base already at the end of March 1999,31 the

crimes charged in the Indictment took place at this location between approximately

17 May and 5 June 1999 (‘Indictment Period’).32 During the Indictment Period, the

KMF was referred to variously as ‘KLA headquarters’,33 ‘logistics headquarter, or

staff’,34 ‘barracks’,35 ‘Headquarters 2’36 or ‘Pavillion 2’.37

20. The KLA had a second base in Kukës,38 close to the KMF.39 It was initially used

by Ruzhdi SARAMATI’s group as a mobilisation and registration centre,40 before such

activity was moved to the KMF following the KLA’s general call for mobilisation on

or around the end of March 1999.41 This other, smaller base was a one-storey house,42

                                                

31 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.21-25. See also W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2920.
32 Pre-Trial Brief, para.1.
33 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1401-1402; SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014092.
34 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1035.
35 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3174.
36 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014093; SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016912.
37 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2745-2747, 2790; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1062.
38 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1092.
39 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, p.2790.
40 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1092; DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2738-2741; W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3957-
3960; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2929; W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3069.
41 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.14-15, 18, 21-28; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2816.
42 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2740-2741; W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3957-3960.
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called ‘Headquarter 1’,43 ‘Pavillion 1’,44 or referred to as Ruzhdi SARAMATI’s

location.45 

B. KLA presence at the KMF

1. Use of the KMF by the KLA

21. At the end of March 1999, W04379 (Asllan ELEZAJ), an Albanian civilian who

had become the owner of the KMF after its privatisation,46 made the KMF available to

Ruzhdi SARAMATI,47 who, from that moment, used it as the base of operations of his

group of KLA soldiers.48 SARAMATI was the person in charge at the KMF until the

arrival of Xheladin GASHI, aka Plaku, at the beginning of April 1999.49 From this time,

and until the end of the war in June 1999,50 the KMF became a main recruitment and

logistics base of the KLA in Albania.51 

                                                

43 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1092; SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014093; SITF00016908-
00016964RED, p.SITF00016912.
44 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, p.2739; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1107.
45 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014093.
46 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.5-6, 12-13; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2988.
47 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.13-21, 30.
48 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.36-37; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.98; Adjudicated Facts
List, fact no.51.
49 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.33-37.
50 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.25-26; SPOE00133847-00133847, p.SPOE00133847.
51 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3198; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.25, 39-41; 060664-TR-ET
Part 2, pp.9, 18; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3012-3013, 3098.
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22. The KMF was used by the KLA as a base for mobilisation,52 logistics,53

training,54 and operations.55 From March to May 1999, several thousand people were

mobilised at the KMF.56 Volunteers came from Kosovo, Albania, and abroad.57 KLA

recruits were provided with uniforms and weapons,58 sent for training to other KLA

bases in Albania,59 and then deployed to fight at the frontline.60 The KMF was a busy

place, with people constantly arriving and leaving.61

                                                

52 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.38, 42; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1038, 1090, 1092; W04754,
23 October 2023, pp.2922, 2929; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.9-10.
53 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2922; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.103; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised
RED, pp.44-45.
54 SPOE40010298-SPOE40010298-ET; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1091; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED,
p.45; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.5; 064716-TR-ET Part 5, p.2.
55 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2922.
56 SPOE40010298-SPOE40010298-ET. See also 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.29-30.
57 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.8-9, 19; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2929.
58 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.44-45.
59 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.9-10; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.39-40, 42; W04405, 9 January
2024, p.3960. Some training took place also at the KMF: 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.45-46;
U003-2231-U003-2231-ET.
60 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.39, 41-43; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1032-1036, 1080, 1097-1098,
1100, 1108.
61 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3183; W03887, 22 November 2023, p.3440; DW4-05, 3 October 2023,
p.2871.
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23. The KMF was also used to store weapons and ammunition,62 military

equipment,63 and food.64 From  early April 1999,65 it served as a primary KLA centre in

Albania for the preparation of Operation Arrow,66 a military operation aimed at

clearing the border between Kosovo and Albania of FRY forces.67 Around 20 May

1999,68 Ruzhdi SARAMATI and his men left from Kukës to join Operation Arrow ,

which began around 26 May 1999.69

24. As addressed below, in addition to being used as a military base, the KMF was

also used to illegally detain, interrogate, and mistreat individuals considered to be

spies, traitors, or collaborators of Serbia.

                                                

62 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2952-2953.
63 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1409-1410; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2922; W03887, 20 November 2023,
p.3196; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.101.
64 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1409-1410; W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3198; 066888-TR-ET Part 1
Revised, p.101.
65 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2920; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3020, 3119; 077978-077982-ET Revised,
p.077981.
66 W03887, 22 November 2023, pp.3439-3440.
67 SPOE00055399-SPOE00055399-ET.
68 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.3000.
69 SPOE00055399-SPOE00055399-ET; 108011-108040-ET, pp.108019-108020; W04754, 24 October 2023,
pp.3023, 3093, 3096-3097; W04754, 25 October 2023, p.3133.
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2. KLA command structure at the KMF

25. The evidence shows that from the end of March 1999 until the end of the war

there was a command structure within the KLA at the KMF.70 

26. As early as March 1999, Ruzhdi SARAMATI’s group – which became known

as Brigade 12871 - was involved in the mobilisation of individuals who wanted to join

the KLA at the KMF.72 During the Indictment Period, a number of members of Brigade

128 were stationed at the KMF.73 Brigade 128 was part of the Pashtrik Operational

Zone of the KLA,74 and covered parts of the territory of Kosovo and the north of

Albania.75

                                                

70 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.18-26; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.10, 14-15.
71 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2753, 2773; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1091-1092; W04754, 23 October 2024,
p.2976; W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3093; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2828, 2830; 058048-058112-ET;
060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.34, 140; W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3907.
72 SPOE40010298-SPOE40010298-ET.
73 058048-058112-ET, p.058049; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1034-1035; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2817,
2828.
74 058048-058112-ET, p.058049.
75 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3018; 066843-066855-ET Revised, p.066848; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised
RED4, pp.18-20.
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27. Towards the end of April 1999,76 Ruzhdi SARAMATI went with a group of

soldiers from Kukës to a training centre in Burrel,77 coming back in May 1999.78 The

Accused went to Burrel with SARAMATI, where he was arrested for the killing of a

KLA soldier on 2 May 1999, and later released.79 

28. Upon his return from Burrel, SARAMATI was appointed commander of the

Kukës-Gorožup/Gorozhup-Morine/Qafë Morinë axis of Operation Arrow,80 and

moved to the frontline in Gorožup/Gorozhup after 20 May 1999.81 SARAMATI and his

men fought in the battle of Gorožup/Gorozhup, at the end of May 1999,82 suffering

casualties on 31 May 1999.83 Many of SARAMATI’s soldiers returned to Kukës for the

                                                

76 This is established by the timeline provided by W04848 about his arrival to Kukës, his meeting with
Ruzhdi SARAMATI, and SARAMATI’s subsequent departure for Burrel with his soldiers:

SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014089-SITF00014093.
77 SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014093-SITF00014094; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 RED4, p.99.
78 That SARAMATI came back in May is established by the evidence of W04848 who stated that he was
arrested for the killing of Halil GASHI, which took place on 1 or 2 May 1999, SITF00014088-
00014120RED, pp.SITF00014093-SITF00014094; DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2761-2763.
79 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, pp.31-34; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2966, 2983;
SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014093-SITF00014094; DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2761-2763.
80 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2999; W04754, 25 October 2023, p.3150; 058048-058112-ET, p.058056.
81 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.3000. See also 064716-TR-ET Part 3 RED4, pp.29-30.
82 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.66-67; 108011-108040-ET, pp.108019-108020.
83 W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3227, 3234; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.22-24, 66; W04405,
9 January 2024, pp.3974-3975; 108011-108040-ET, p.108019.
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funerals of the fallen soldiers held at the Kukës cemetery84 between 1 and 4 June 1999,85

and then returned to the front lines.86

29. Joint Criminal Enterprise (‘JCE’) member Xhemshit KRASNIQI was a high

ranking KLA member mainly stationed at the KMF.87 Witnesses have described him

as the chief of the military police in Kukës,88 and in charge of detainees.89 Sabit GECI

was another high-ranking KLA member regularly present at the KMF.90 As discussed

in Section V, they were both heavily involved in the crimes committed at the KMF.

Xheladin GASHI, aka ‘Plaku’, was also a high-ranking KLA officer in charge of the

mobilisation process,91 who was present at the KMF during the relevant timeframe.

30. Although not primarily stationed at the KMF, Bislim  ZYRAPI was the officer

in charge of the preparations for Operation Arrow, until Fatmir LIMAJ replaced him

in May 1999.92 When the KLA launched Operation Arrow, Fatmir LIMAJ appointed

                                                

84 W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3216, 3247, 3273-3274; REG00992-REG00992; TW4-01, 31 May 2023,
p.1545. 
85 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.25-28; W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3267.
86 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3274; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.25-28.
87 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014098; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1068.
88 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.21-22; SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013276; SPOE00014669-
00014751RED, p.SPOE00014694.
89 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1929; TW4-10, 1 May 2023; Section V.H.3.b.
90 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014098; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013838;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013743, SITF00013763; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1559;
TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1930.
91 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2928, 2994; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.33-34; W04280,
28 November 2023, pp.3770, 3781-3782; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.104.
92 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3093, 3096; 077978-077982-ET Revised, p.077981.
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operational commanders to lead KLA forces in battle, which included Ruzhdi

SARAMATI.93

C. Layout of the KMF

31. The KMF had an entrance gate,94 accessible from the road going to Krumë,95

with a guard booth.96 The gate was guarded at all times by KLA soldiers.97 A fence

surrounded the rectangular-shaped premises.98

                                                

93 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2999-3001; Section III.A.
94 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1409, 1411, REG00954-REG00954; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1040-1043,
REG00947-REG00947, 065594-065596, p.065596; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.99-100, 066883-
066886, p.2; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2924, 2948, 083525-083534RED, p.083525, REG00974-
REG00974; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.2-3, 5; 060653-060663-ET, pp.060653-060654; W03887,
20 November 2023, pp.3261-3262, 075138-02 from 12:41 to 13:01; Annex 1, figure 3.
95 060653-060663-ET, p.060653.
96 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1043-1045; 065597-065612, p.065597, REG00947-REG00947; W04754,
23 October 2023, pp.2962-2963, REG00975-REG00975; Annex 1, figure 4.
97 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1037-1038; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2902.
98 SPOE40010264-40010559, p.SPOE40010267; 083525-083534RED, p.083534; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.2.
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32. Past the entrance gate, on the left-hand side,99 there was a two-storey

building,100 referred to as the ‘Command Building’,101 where KLA soldiers and officers

slept,102 and had office space.103

33. On the ground floor of the Command Building there was a narrow corridor,104

offices used by the mobilisation officers,105 and sleeping quarters.106 A staircase led to

the first floor,107 which hosted the operations centre108 and a number of other offices

                                                

99 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1410.
100 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2925; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1045-1046; 065597-065612, p.065597.
101 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2924-2925, 083525-083534RED, p.083525; TW4-01, 30 May 2023,
pp.1412-1413, 1450, REG00954-REG00954; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.9; 060653-060663-ET, p.060653;
060653-060663, p.060655; W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3178; REG00983-REG00983. The Command
Building was also referred to as ‘headquarters’: TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1450; W03887,
20 November 2023, p.3178; Annex 1, figure 5.
102 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2926; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1037-1038, 1041-1042 1045, REG00947-
REG00947; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.15; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.1-2.
103 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2922, 2949, REG00974-REG00974; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.103;
TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1412; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, p.44; W03887, 20 November 2023,
p.3181.
104 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1467; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; SITF00018740-
00018767RED, p.SITF00018744; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2925.
105 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2925, 2928; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.14-15; 060653-060663-ET, p.060653;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856.
106 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2925.
107 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2925; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; SITF00018740-
00018767RED, p.SITF00018741.
108 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2925.
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and sleeping quarters.109 An infirmary110 and a ‘lawyer’s office’111 were also located

inside the Command Building. Next to the Command Building was a kitchen or

canteen.112 

34. Opposite the entrance gate there was a warehouse or ‘depot’113 a part of which

was used to store uniforms (‘Uniforms Warehouse’).114 Food was stored in another

part of the warehouse, next to the Uniforms Warehouse (‘Food Warehouse’).115 The

two warehouses were part of the same building and connected internally,116 with a

single entrance from the KMF’s courtyard.117 W03887 (Zijadin Hoxha), a KLA member

                                                

109 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2925-2926, 2949, REG00974-REG00974; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1046-
1047, 1049; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856.
110 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1412, 1451; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1047; SITF00013852-00013869RED5,
p.SITF00013856; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, p.46; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, p.16;
W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3183-3188; REG00984-REG00984; SPOE00185335-00185363RED3,
p.SPOE00185343; W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3824; Annex 1, figure 6.
111 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.16. See also SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014099.
112 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.15; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.2; 060653-060663-ET, p.060653; TW4-01,
30 May 2023, p.1410, REG00947-REG00947; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2949; W03887,
20 November 2023, pp.3190, 3266, REG00985-REG00985, 075138-02, 13:14; Annex 1, figure 7.
113 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1409; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2856; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1050; 066888-
TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.100; 066883-066886, p.2; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.4, 6; 060653-060663-ET,
p.060653; W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3178, 3193, 3195-3196, REG00982-REG00982, REG00986-
REG00986, REG00987-REG00987.
114 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1407, 1411-1412, REG00954-REG00954; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1050; TW4-
10, 2 May 2023, p.1145; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2856, REG00968-REG00968; W04754,
23 October 2023, pp.2956-2957; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.100-101; Annex 1, figure 8.
115 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2950, 2957; Annex 1, figure 9.
116 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1411-1412; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2861, 2867-2868; W03887,
20 November 2023, pp.3196, 3199, REG00987-REG00987.
117 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2956-2957; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2861, 2867-2868; W03887,
20 November 2023, p.3195, REG00987-REG00987.
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in charge of weapons maintenance at the KMF118 during the Indictment Period,119 had

a small weapons repair workshop inside the Food Warehouse.120 All of the KMF

buildings overlooked an internal courtyard.121 

35. To the right of the entrance gate there was another warehouse (‘Dormitory

Warehouse’), which hosted sleeping quarters for newly mobilised KLA soldiers.122 In

front of it, always on the right-hand side of the KMF entrance gate,123 rose a long and

narrow  building protruding inside the courtyard. As illustrated below, this building

was used as a prison (‘Detention Building’).124 There was a toilet located outside the

                                                

118 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3175; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2953.
119 W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3173-3174; W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3317-3319.
120 W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3196-3199, REG00988-REG00988; W03887, 21 November 2023,
pp.3366-3367, REG00994-REG00994.
121 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1052, REG00947-REG00947; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.7, 10, 060653-060663,
pp.060653, 060656.
122 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, p.54, 065437-065439 and 065437-065439-ET; W04754,
23 October 2023, p.2957, D00044; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3047-3048, SPOE40010264-40010559,
p.SPOE40010281; Annex 1, figure 10.
123 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1410.
124 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1101; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.2; Annex 1, figure 11; Sections V.A. and B.
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Detention Building, in the Dormitory Warehouse.125 Based on the evidence above, the

relevant locations within the KMF are identified in Figure 12 of Annex 1.126

D. Locations where crimes were committed

36. The crimes charged in the Indictment principally took place in two locations

within the KMF: the Command Building and the Detention Building. 

37. TW4-01, a Kosovar Albanian [REDACTED],127 who was detained at the KMF

between [REDACTED] May 1999128 and [REDACTED] June 1999 ,129 identified the

room where he and other victims were mistreated on or around 20 May 1999 (‘20 May

1999 Incident’),130 as ‘the third office’ on the ground floor of the Command Building

(‘Office Room’).131 W01448 similarly stated that, as one entered the Command

                                                

125 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1445-1446, REG00954-REG00954, REG00955-REG00955; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.27; 060664-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.2-4, 060653-
060663, p.060662, 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.9-10, 108837-108849RED, p.108847, 060664b Part 4 at
05:40 to 07:29; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013749; 108816-108825RED, p.108822;
Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.55; Annex 1, figure 21. There may have been another toilet within the
premises of the KMF, see W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3377-3378. However, as illustrated by the
evidence cited above in this footnote, the detainees held in the Detention Building used the toilets
placed in the Dormitory Warehouse.
126 The Detention Building no longer existed when the photo in SPOE00330362-00330362 was taken, but
its existence, shape, and position as superimposed on SPOE00330364-00330364 are confirmed by
065437-065439, p.065437.
127 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1387. 
128 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1388, 1418-1419.
129 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1422; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539.
130 Section V.D.
131 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1450-1453, 1463, REG00956-REG00956; Annex 1, figure 13.
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Building, on the right-hand side, there were several rooms, the third of which ‘was the

room where they beat us’.132 W04733 corroborates TW4-01 and W01448’s evidence by

stating that this room overlooked the internal courtyard of the KMF,133 and was on the

ground floor.134 TW4-01, W01448 and W04733 also provided consistent descriptions of

the furniture in this room which included benches,135 a table,136 chairs,137 and a bed.138 

38. W03887 identified that room as the office of Latif FEJZULLAHU,139 where he

and other KLA members gathered on or around 2 June 1999, after Abdurrahman

GERDELLAJ’s funeral ceremony.140 Its interior can be seen in a video shot by

                                                

132 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; U003-2231-U003-2231-ET; Annex 1, figure 14.
133 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 6, pp.6-7, 10, 20-21.
134 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 6, pp.20-21. W04733 stated this room had a sign reading ‘the Lawyer’ on the

door: 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.4, 23-24.
135 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1646; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.24.
136 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1646; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part
4 RED3, p.24.
137 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1646; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.24.
138 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743 (W01448 stated that Sabit GECI was lying on the
bed in the Office Room during the 20 May 1999 Incident); 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.3, 25-26.
139 Cfr. marking in blue in REG00956-REG00956 and number 3 in sketch U003-2231-U003-2231-ET with
number 2 in REG00983-REG00983; Annex 1, figures 13-15.
140 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3289-3292; W03887, 22 November 2023, pp.3456-3557; REG00983-
REG00983, no.2.
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W03887,141 which clearly shows the table, the chairs behind the table, and the bed.142

Next to this room, there was another room where detainees were interrogated.143 

39. One of the rooms in the upper floor of the Command Building (‘Command

Building Detention Room’)144 was used to detain a number of individuals, namely

W04733, W01448 and [REDACTED],145 before they were moved to the Detention

Building. 

40. The Detention Building, a one-storey building146 located on the right-hand side

of the courtyard once one entered the premises through the gate,147 stood 40 to 50

meters148 from the Command Building. Several witnesses recognised the Detention

                                                

141 078252-01, 00:08 to 16:07.
142 See 078252-01, 00:08 to 16:07. Cfr. marking in blue in REG00956-REG00956 and number 3 in sketch
U003-2231-U003-2231-ET with number 2 in REG00983-REG00983; Annex 1, figure 8; Section III.C.
143 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; U003-2231-U003-2231-ET; SITF00014088-
00014120RED, pp.SITF00014099-SITF00014100.
144 Annex 1, figure 16.
145 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; TW4-
01, 30 May 2023, p.1471; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1915. Section V.A.
146 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1052, REG00947-REG00947; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1423; 108826-TR-ET Part
1 RED, p.5; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1198.
147 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1196-1198; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1420-1421, REG00954-REG00954;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013868; U003-2231-U003-2231-ET.
148 SPOE00330365-00330365; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1554-1555; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.11;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013748. See also TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1054.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/24 of 193



25

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

Building in a picture taken in 2009.149 While this building no longer exists today,150 it

can be seen in a planimetry of the KMF dated January 1996,151 between the buildings

marked with numbers 2 and 4.152

41. An entrance to the side of the Detention Building153 led inside, where there were

a corridor and three rooms154 (‘Room 1’, ‘Room 2’ and ‘Room 3’).’155 The corridor

separated Rooms 1 and 2.156 Rooms 1 and 3 were used to hold detainees,157 while Room 

                                                

149 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1423-1424; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1054-1055, 1101, REG00947-REG00947;
TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1200-1205; 108837-108849RED, p.108847; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.8-9;
074390-074391, p.074390; Annex 1, figure 11.
150 SPOE40010264-40010559, pp.SPOE40010273, SPOE40010282, SPOE40010285, SPOE40010290,
SPOE40010291; Annex 1, figure 17.
151 065437-065439, p.065437; Annex 1, figure 18. See also 060653-060663, p.060653; 060664-TR-ET Part 4
RED3, p.2, 060664B Part 4 at 04:28 to 04:34.
152 The shapes of the buildings in 074390-074391, p.074390 and in 065437-065439, p.065437 further
confirm that they are the same building.
153 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1426-1429, REG00955-REG00955; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.6, 060653-
060663, p.060661; 060664-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.1-2; 108816-108825RED, p.108822; TW4-10, 1 May 2023,
p.1055, REG00950-REG00950; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.8-9; 108837-108849RED, p.108847;
REG00951-REG00951.
154 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1421, 1426, 1428; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; 064716-
TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.7-8.
155 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.4-6; 060653-060663-ET, p.060653; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013858; Annex 1, figure 19.
156 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1428, REG00955-REG00955; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.6-7; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1198-1199.
157 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1421, 1426-1428. The witnesses are consistent with TW4-01 in stating that
the Detention Building had two detention rooms and a corridor: 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.4-6;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.6; 108816-108825RED,
p.108822; 108837-108849RED, p.108839.
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2 ‘was mostly used to beat people up’.158 The rooms measured between 3 to 5 meters

per side.159 The windows had bars,160 but no glass.161

42. The window on the short side of Room  1 overlooked the internal courtyard,

and from there one could see the entire KMF.162 The door to Room  1 was made of

wooden planks with a frame, which were slightly detached so it was possible to see

through the gaps.163 A guard was stationed inside the building, between the two

prison rooms.164 TW4-01,165 TW4-02,166 and W01448167 provided almost identical

sketches of the internal layout of the Detention Building.

                                                

158 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1421, 1424-1425, 074390-074391, p.074391, REG00954-REG00954,
REG00955-REG00955.
159 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1430, 1432; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1529; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1199;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013748-SITF00013749; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1056.
160 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1431; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1055, 074390-074391, p.1; 060664-TR-ET Part 3,
pp.25-26; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013749; SITF00016140-00016220RED3,
p.SITF00016147; TW4-08, 27 March 2023, p.683.
161 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1430; TW4-08, 27 March 2023, p.683.
162 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1423-1424; 074390-074391, p.074390.
163 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1426-1427, 1448; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1524.
164 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1446; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1207; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.4-6, 060653-
060663-ET, p.060653; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.7; SITF00013852-00013869RED5, p.SITF00013858;
U003-2231-U003-2231-ET.
165 Annex 1, figure 19.
166 Annex 1, figure 23.
167 Annex 1, figure 20.
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IV. THE ACCUSED

A. Background

43. Pjetër SHALA (‘Accused’), son of Ndue,168 was born in Prizren, Kosovo, on

17 September 1963.169 During the war, he was known by the nom de guerre

‘Ujku’/wolf/.170 On 3 March 2006 he acquired Belgian citizenship.171

44. In the 1980s, the Accused spent four years in Serb prisons for his involvement

in separatist activities.172 Released in 1987, he worked in construction around

Kosovo.173 In the 1990s, he joined groups advocating for Kosovo’s liberation through

the use of force.174 Starting in 1992-1993, the Accused began carrying out armed actions

against Serb police installations.175

                                                

168 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-A, p.10; U009-9245-U009-9258-ET, p.1.
169 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, p.3; U009-9245-U009-9258-ET, p.1.
170 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074120.
171 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074120.
172 T001-0105-1-A-TR, p.22; 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.46-51; U009-9230-U009-9235-ET, p.U009-
9230.
173 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.56-58, 69.
174 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-A, pp.22-29; 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.58-60.
175 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.65-70.
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B. KLA membership in 1998 in the Dukagjini area and move to Belgium in

summer of the same year

45. In 1996 and 1997, the Accused underwent some military training in Albania.176

In March 1998, shortly after the killing of Adem JASHARI, he decided to join the

KLA,177 and entered Kosovo with a group of 30 to 50 people.178 The Accused went to

Jablanica/Jabllanicë,179 where the KLA was already organised.180

46. In Jablanica/Jabllanicë, Nazmi BRAHIMAJ appointed the Accused to lead a

military police unit.181 The Accused received orders from and reported to Nazmi

BRAHIMAJ.182 

47. The Accused enjoyed freedom of movement within the Dukagjini region.183 His

responsibilities included organising people to dig trenches,184 addressing disputes

                                                

176 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-A, pp.35-36; T001-0105-1-A-TR, pp.33-34; 066864-TR-
ET Part 2 Revised 1, pp.2, 10-11, 18.
177 T000-2745-T000-2745-Alb and Eng Transcript-B, p.1; T001-0105-1-A-TR, pp.32-33; 066864-TR-ET
Part 2 Revised 1, pp.13-14.
178 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-A, pp.44-45; 066864-TR-ET Part 2 Revised 1, pp.21, 24-
26, 36-39.
179 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-A, pp.32-34, 51.
180 T000-2745-T000-2745-Alb and Eng Transcript-B, pp.3-4; 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.49-51.
181 066845-066855-ET Revised, p.066853; 066864-TR-ET Part 2 Revised 1, pp.83-88, 119; U009-9230-U009-
9235-ET, p.U009-9230; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2978.
182 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-3-B, pp.8-11, 21; T001-0105-1-A-TR, p.57.
183 U009-9399-U009-9402-ET, p.4; T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, p.42; 066864-TR-ET
Part 1 Revised 1, pp.19-20. See also U009-9230-U009-9235-ET, p.1.
184 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-3-B, pp.6, 22.
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amongst villagers, overseeing the arrival of recruits and weapons,185 and conducting

interrogations.186 He slept in Jablanica/Jabllanicë, at the house of Nazmi BRAHIMAJ,

and in other places.187 

48. On 2 July 1998, Ramush HARADINAJ re-assigned the Accused as a

commander to the village of Dujake/Dujak.188 In August 1998, the Accused left for

Belgium.189 He did not re-enter Kosovo until 2007.190

C. Return to Albania in March 1999

49. At the end of March 1999, the Accused travelled back from Belgium  to Albania.

On or around 22 or 23 March 1999, in Durrës,191 a member of the KLA directed him to

                                                

185 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-3-B, pp.10-11.
186 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-3-B, pp.28-30.
187 T000-2742-T000-2742-Alb and Eng Transcript-3-B, pp.1-4, 26-27; T001-0105-1-A-TR, pp.52-56; 066864-
TR-ET Part 2 Revised 1, pp.51, 54, 82.
188 T000-2745-T000-2745-Alb and Eng Transcript-A, pp.13-14; T001-0105-1-A-TR, p.52; 066864-TR-ET
Part 1 Revised 1, pp.23-26; U009-9399-U009-9402-ET, p.1; 066864-TR-ET Part 2 Revised 1, p.119; 066888-
TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.18-20, 29-30; 066843-066855-ET Revised, p.066847; 066866-066882-ET Revised,
p.066870.
189 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, pp.27-29; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.5-6;
066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066869.
190 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, p.39; 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, pp.074121,
074123. See also 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.118.
191 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.80-81.
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go to Kukës,192 to join KLA Brigade 128.193 The Accused went first to Tirana,194 and then

to the KMF.195 He remained in Albania for approximately four months, returning to

Belgium after Serb forces left Kosovo.196 During this time, the Accused continued to

go by the nickname ‘Ujku’.197 Evidence on the Accused’s presence and criminal

conduct at the KMF during the Indictment Period is discussed in Sections V.A  to V.H.

below.

D. Accused’s role and responsibilities in Albania in 1999

50. In Durrës, the Accused had understood that he would assume command of

Brigade 128.198 However, once in Kukës, he realised that that was not going to be the

case,199 as Ruzhdi SARAMATI was already there, from the end of March 1999, in

command of the KLA soldiers mobilised at the KMF.200 

                                                

192 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, pp.29-31; 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074121;
066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.35-36, 42-43; U009-9398-U009-9398-ET; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised,
pp.67, 71-72. See also W04754, 23 October 2024, pp.2966-2967.
193 066845-066855-ET Revised, p.066848; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.76.
194 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.98.
195 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.83-84, 88, 98-103; 066883-066886, pp.066884-066886.
196 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.121.
197 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.132-133, 146.
198 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.77-78.
199 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.79-83, 110-112.
200 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.83; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2999; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised
RED, pp.18-19,21-23, 36-37; Section III.B.
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51. The Accused’s de jure or de facto membership in a specific unit of the KLA  is not

determinative of his criminal responsibility as charged in the Indictment. The

evidence shows, however, that upon his arrival in Kukës, he was associated with

Ruzhdi SARAMATI and the military formation201 which became known as Brigade

128.202

52. The Accused did not hold a particular rank during the Indictment Period.203

While at the KMF, however, the Accused enjoyed a significant degree of freedom of

movement. Unlike other soldiers,204 the Accused could move in and out of the KMF

without having to request permission.205 Inside the KMF, he had access to the

Command Building,206 which the Accused defined as ‘the very heart of the

headquarters’.207 Evidence of the Accused’s involvement in the charged crimes,

discussed below, also shows the Accused’s close association with JCE members Sabit

                                                

201 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3069, 3092-3093; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2968, 2977-2978; 060124-
TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.138-141, 146-147; U009-9245-U009-9258-ET, p.U009-9256; U009-9230-
U009-9235-ET, p.U009-9230.
202 Section III.B.
203 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.147-148; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2978, 2980-2981.
However, W04754 understood that he was the commander of a military police platoon while in Burrel,
before the Indictment Period (W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2978, 2980).
204 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.14-15; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1118.
205 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1110, 1116-1119; 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066880.
206 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.180-181, 188.
207 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.188-189.
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GECI and Xhemshit KRASNIQI,208 who were amongst the most powerful individuals

at the KMF,209 and directly involved with the arrests, detentions, and mistreatments.210

V. THE CHARGES ARE PROVEN  BEYOND REASONABLE DOUBT

A. The victims individual accounts: Abduction, detention, mistreatment

1. TW4-01 [REDACTED] were arrested, detained, and mistreated at the

KMF

53. TW4-01 is a Kosovar Albanian who in May 1999 [REDACTED], Kosovo.211

Around [REDACTED] May 1999,212 [REDACTED].213

                                                

208 Sections V.D, V.F, and V.H.
209 SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014097-SITF00014098; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1559; TW4-01,
6 June 2023, p.1929.
210 Sections V.A-V.F.
211 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1387-1388.
212 The exact timing of this event is further discussed in Section V.D., together with the evidence of
W04733 and W01448.
213 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1388-1392, 1394; SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.SITF00374134.
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54. [REDACTED]. 214 [REDACTED].215 [REDACTED],216 [REDACTED].217 

[REDACTED]218 – [REDACTED],219 [REDACTED].220

55. [REDACTED].221 [REDACTED].222 While TW4-01 [REDACTED], the Accused

went in and out of the KMF.223

56. [REDACTED] KLA military policemen arrested TW4-01, [REDACTED].224

[REDACTED].225 TW4-01 was refused an explanation for his arrest.226 [REDACTED].227

TW4-01 was mistreated.228

                                                

214 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1394-1395; SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.SITF00374136.
215 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1396.
216 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1396-1397; SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185341.
217 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1397, 1401-1403; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1074.
218 Section V.H.1.
219 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1407-1408; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1074-1075.
220 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1477; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1690; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1925-1926.
221 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1403, 1407, 1411, 1413-1414, 1417-1418; REG00954-REG00954.
222 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1407; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1684.
223 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1931-1932. See also TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1110, 1116-1119.
224 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1418-1419.
225 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1418-1419.
226 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1419.
227 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1419.
228 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1419.
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57. [REDACTED] TW4-01 [REDACTED] brought to Room 1 of the Detention

Building,229 [REDACTED]230 [REDACTED].231 [REDACTED].232

58. Throughout TW4-01’s detention, there were between five and 12 detainees held

at any one time in Room 1.233 They included Roma prisoners, a person

[REDACTED],234 W04733,235 and a man from Drenica – deceased at the time of

TW4-01’s testimony –who had come from Germany to Durrës, who was freed by

International Kosovo Forces (‘KFOR’) [REDACTED],236 and who was in fact

W01448.237 TW4-01 also recalls two sisters from Đakovica/Gjakovë in their early

twenties who were detained in Room 3 of the Detention Building,238 where

[REDACTED].239 TW4-01 testified that people were held on account of having

conducted business, or even just socialised, with Serbs.240

                                                

229 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1420-1429, REG00954-REG00954, REG00955-REG00955; 074390-074391.
230 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1422.
231 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1529, 1532.
232 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1421-1422.
233 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1431; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1917.
234 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1432-1434. See also U003-2232-U003-2232-ET, where W01448 listed the
names of the other people detained with him, including [REDACTED].
235 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1438; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1811-1814; 059113-059144, pp.059115, 059127.
See also Section V.A.3.
236 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1440.
237 Section V.A.4.
238 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1565-1567. TW4-04, who was also detained [REDACTED], see 064716-TR-
ET Part 5 RED4, p.28.
239 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1434
240 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1555-1556.
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59. TW4-01 [REDACTED] were kept in harsh and unsanitary conditions, with

inadequate amounts of food being provided to them.241 [REDACTED].242 TW4-01

[REDACTED], like the other detainees held at the KMF, were also routinely beaten,

harassed, and humiliated.243 Three incidents of mistreatment of TW4-01,

[REDACTED] are discussed in specific sections of this brief in light of their particular

brutality and the direct participation of the Accused.244 [REDACTED].245

60. [REDACTED],246 [REDACTED].247 [REDACTED].248 [REDACTED].249

[REDACTED].250 [REDACTED].251

                                                

241 Evidence on the conditions in the Detention Building is discussed in Section V.B.
242 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1447.
243 Evidence of mistreatments is discussed in Section V.C.
244 [REDACTED].
245 [REDACTED].
246 [REDACTED]: 071136-TR-ET Part 2 RED, p.11; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016142,
SITF00016148. Despite the variance, TW4-01 remains otherwise reliable and his testimony
corroborated. 
247 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1539-1541; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1697.
248 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1540; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1694; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
pp.SITF00013861-SITF00013862.
249 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1541; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013862.
250 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1540-1541; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1698, 1700.
251 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1542.
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61. [REDACTED].252 [REDACTED].253 [REDACTED].254

62. After his release, TW4-01 [REDACTED] medical treatment for the injuries

suffered in Kukës.255 He did not go [REDACTED] because he was afraid,

[REDACTED].256

63. During his detention in Kukës, TW4-01 was counting the minutes left to him

before his death.257 Today, TW4-01 still suffers, mentally and physically, from the

wounds and harm that the Accused and the other JCE members and perpetrators

inflicted on him at the KMF.258 His symptoms include [REDACTED],.259 His experience

in Kukës left a lingering sense of fear in TW4-01, who never feels he is safe.260 Medical

professionals who conducted an evaluation of TW4-01 concluded that he suffers from

chronic PTSD related to the violence he experienced in 1999.261

                                                

252 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1539-1541; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1697, 1719, REG00957-REG00957,
[REDACTED], 050084-01, 02:36 to 02:45; 071136-TR-ET Part 2 RED, pp.11-12; 071142-071313-ET Revised
1 RED, p.071180.
253 072508-01, 06:09-06:15; 072508-01-TR-ET.
254 SITF00012895-00012913RED, p.SITF00012910, photograph n.53.
255 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1553-1554; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1741-1742.
256 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1743-1745.
257 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539.
258 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1570.
259 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1570, 1572.
260 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1574, 1577.
261 V4010023-V4010044, pp.V4010040-V4010041.
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64. [REDACTED].262 TW4-01 testified that he will never be able to leave behind the

memories of what happened to him in Kukës.263

2. TW4-11 was arrested, detained, and mistreated at the KMF

65. TW4-11 is a Kosovar Albanian who worked as a [REDACTED] until the end of

April 1999. On [REDACTED] April 1999, under pressure by Serb paramilitaries, TW4-

11 and his family left Kosovo for Kukës.264 

66. In early to mid-May 1999, TW4-11 and his family were staying [REDACTED],

when [REDACTED] and another man appeared and told TW4-11 to go with them to

give a statement.265 They brought TW4-11 to the KMF.266 

67. Upon arrival to the KMF, TW4-11 was put in Room 1 of the Detention

Building,267 where he was held [REDACTED].268 TW4-11 found seven or eight people

already in Room 1.269 TW4-11’s co-detainees included three musicians of Roma

                                                

262 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1569.
263 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1572; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1760.
264 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1183-1186.
265 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1186-1191; SITF00013100-00013122RED3, pp.SITF00013102, SITF00013107,
SITF00013115; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1329-1330.
266 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1192-1193; 059341-059350, p.059342.
267 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1193-1199, 1204-1207; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1248; 074390-074391, p.074390;
064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.31. See also Sections V.A.4., V.A.6., and V.A.8.
268 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1187, 1193, 1195, 1199; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1266.
269 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1207; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1337.
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ethnicity,270 W04733,271 TW4-01 [REDACTED],272 with the composition changing over

time.273

68. TW4-11’s account of the detention conditions and his mistreatment at the KMF

are discussed respectively in Sections V.B. and V.C. As discussed in Section V.F,

TW4-11 was in Room 1 when [REDACTED] bled to death there after being shot

[REDACTED] June 1999.

69. TW4-11 testified that nobody told him  the reasons for his detention,274

including when, approximately one month into it, he was brought before Osman

KRYEZIU (W04848).275 TW4-11 was ultimately released from the KMF.276

70. TW4-11 felt unsafe at the KMF, and frightened by all the violence he

experienced, not knowing what could happen to him.277 This experience had severe

negative repercussions on TW4-11’s well-being.278

                                                

270 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1208-1209; 059341-059350, p.059348.
271 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1307-1309, 1326-1328; 059341-059350, p.059350.
272 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1210-1215; 059341-059350, p.059349.
273 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1338-1339.
274 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1187, 1193, 1195; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1266, 1283-1286, 1336.
275 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1261-1262, 1265-1267, 1331-1333; SITF00013100-00013122RED3,
p.SITF00013119, picture n.74. According to W01448, the reason may have been that he had failed to
surrender his work weapons to the KLA, SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013757.
276 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1260, 1306.
277 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1229; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1259.
278 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1268.
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3. W04733 was arrested, detained, and mistreated at the KMF

71. W04733, a Kosovar Albanian living with his family in [REDACTED], worked

as a police officer from 1968 until his dismissal at the end of 1997 [REDACTED]. In

this capacity, W04733 often visited the village of Jablanica/Jabllanicë.279

72. In April 1999, W04733 and his family fled to Durrës, Albania.280 Shortly after

their arrival in Durrës, KLA members, including Xhemshit KRASNIQI, repeatedly

visited the home where W04733 and his family had found shelter, harassing them.281

On or around 18 May 1999, four KLA soldiers, armed and wearing black uniforms

with KLA insignia, kidnapped W04733.282 W04733’s family and his landlord at the

time reported W04733’s abduction to the Albanian authorities and international

institutions.283

73. W04733 was held for two or three days in Romanat, between Durrës and

Tirana. On or about 20 May 1999, KLA personnel dressed him in a black KLA uniform

                                                

279 106978-107020, p.107003; U017-4058-U017-4062RED2, p.U0174059; [REDACTED].
280 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 1 RED3, p.51; SITF00390625-00390626, pp.SITF00390625-SITF00390626.
281 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013802-SPOE00013803; [REDACTED].
282 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 2 RED3, pp.28-29; [REDACTED].
283 [REDACTED]; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 7, pp.2-5.
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to hide that he was a detainee, and drove him to a nearby petrol station, where he was

handed over to another group of KLA soldiers which included the Accused.284

74. They drove W04733 to Kukës, where he was interrogated by Fatmir LIMAJ,285

who addressed him as a ‘shkie’ officer, and then put into the Command Building

Detention Room  of the KMF.286 During the trip to Kukës, the KLA soldiers who

transported W04733 called him a Serb commander, and threatened to kill him if he

tried to escape.287 The Accused, whom the other KLA on the bus called by his

nickname ‘Ujku’,288 was howling like a wolf during the ride.289

75. In the Command Building, W04733 was placed, still dressed in a black KLA

uniform, in the same detention room as W01448.290 At some point during W04733’s

detention, the black KLA uniform was swapped with a camouflage one.291 Shortly

                                                

284 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, pp.2-9, 11; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, pp.SITF00019831,
SITF00019836-SITF00019837.
285 Fatmir LIMAJ’s presence at the KMF during this time is corroborated by TW4-10 and W01448 (TW4-
10, 1 May 2023, p.1104; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860; SITF00013886-00013908RED,
p.SITF00013886), and consistent with his role as commander of Operation Arrow starting from mid-
May 1999 (W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3093). See also Section III.B.2.
286 SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013185; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.11.
287 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, pp.10, 16-17.
288 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741.
289 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019837; 082892-TR-ET Part 3 RED2, p.12.
290 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.7-8, 15.
291 SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, pp.SITF00019832-
SITF00019833; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.15, 19-20. In two other statements, W04733 described
these clothes as workers’ clothes dirty with paint: SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741;
SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013810.
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after his arrival, on the same day, W04733 was taken for a brutal beating discussed

under Section V.D., in which the Accused participated.

76. About two days after his arrival at the KMF, W04733 and his co-detainees were

transferred from the Command Building Detention Room  to Room 1 in the Detention

Building.292 There, W04733 was detained with three Roma musicians [REDACTED],293

[REDACTED] TW4-11, [REDACTED] TW4-05,294  TW4-01, [REDACTED],295 and

W01448.296 There were nine detainees in total.297 

77. During his detention at the KMF, W04733 was held in harsh conditions and

repeatedly mistreated, as discussed in Sections V.B., V.C. and V.D.

78. The KLA released W04733 unwillingly and under pressure from  [REDACTED]

on or around 1 June 1999.298 [REDACTED].299

                                                

292 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013812-SPOE00013813, SPOE00013822;
SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186.
293 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5-6; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013811-
SPOE00013812.
294 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019831.
295 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.6.
296 Section V.A.4.
297 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5-6; SPOE00013793-00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013812-
SPOE00013813; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019831; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3,
p.SITF00013186.
298 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 7, pp.2, 6-7, 10-13; [REDACTED]. See also TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1456;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013761.
299 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018746.
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79. W04733 was broken when he was released.300 When he arrived home, he was

covered in dried blood, almost fainting, weak, and had lost a lot of weight.301 He had

a wound on his forehead, a cut wrist, bruises and burn marks from cigarettes, broken

teeth, broken ribs, a broken foot and a broken elbow; his legs, hands, feet and the soles

of his feet were swollen.302 Despite all of these injuries, W04733 was too afraid to go to

the hospital.303 W04733 suffered severe physical and mental health issues for years

after his detention at the KMF.304 

4. W01448 was arrested, detained, and mistreated at the KMF

80. W01448, a Kosovo Albanian, was an immigrant worker in Germany. Around

14 May 1999, he travelled to Albania.305 Upon arrival, two persons approached him

and took him to Durrës,306 complaining that he had not contributed enough to KLA

funding.307

                                                

300 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.18; [REDACTED].
301 [REDACTED].
302 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, pp.17-20; [REDACTED].
303 SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185337.
304 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, pp.17-21; 106978-107020, p.106982; [REDACTED].
305 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013737.
306 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013854. 
307 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013737-SITF00013738, SITF00013742, SITF00013766.
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81. In Durrës, W01448 was interrogated and detained for four days.308 Thereafter,

KLA soldiers picked up W01448,309 and took him to the KMF, which they reached after

midnight.310 W01448 was handcuffed and put in the Uniforms Warehouse.311 His

money and passport were confiscated.312 W01448 was then brought to the Command

Building Detention Room, where he was joined a few days later by W04733, dressed

in a black KLA uniform.313

82. After approximately one week of detention in the Command Building, W01448

and his co-detainees were brought to Room 1 in the Detention Building.314 There, they

joined further detainees: three Romas [REDACTED], and TW4-05.315 They were later

                                                

308 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016227-SITF00016228; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013855.
309 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013739; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
pp.SITF00013855-SITF00013856.
310 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016228-SITF00016229; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
p.SITF00013739.
311 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013739.
312 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016229; The money was later returned to W01448:
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013740.
313 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016229-SITF00016231; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013856; U003-2231-U003-2231-ET.
314 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016236; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016144;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013748; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858;
U003-2231-U003-2231-ET.
315 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858. See also SITF00016140-00016220RED3,
pp.SITF00016142-SITF00016143.
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joined by TW4-11,316 [REDACTED],317 [REDACTED],318 a teacher from

Đakovica/Gjakovë, a person from Smocica/Smolica and somebody from Krume,319 and

four FARK soldiers.320 TW4-01 [REDACTED] were also detained there.321

83. During his detention at the KMF, W01448 was regularly mistreated. His

account of the detention conditions and his mistreatment at the KMF is discussed in

Sections V.B., V.C. and V.D.

84. W01448 was detained at the KMF for 30 days.322 On 17 June 1999, W01448,

[REDACTED] and further co-detainees were taken to Prizren. They were put into a

van and told not to move, ‘otherwise you will get a bullet’.323 At the border, they

passed KFOR soldiers, but W01448 was too afraid to alarm them. They were brought

to the MUP building in Prizren, where German KFOR released them the following

day. 324

                                                

316 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016225; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016142.
317 SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF0013848.
318 SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF0013848.
319 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016225, SITF00016236, SITF00016237; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013762; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858. 
320 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016238; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013837.
321 Section V.A.1.
322 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750.
323 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013862.
324 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013861-SITF00013863.
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5. TW4-02 was arrested, detained, and mistreated at the KMF

85. TW4-02, a Kosovar Albanian [REDACTED], arrived with his family from

Kosovo to Kukës, Albania, on [REDACTED].325 On [REDACTED],326 TW4-02 and

[REDACTED].327 There, TW4-02 [REDACTED].328 [REDACTED]. 329 

86. In early June 1999, [REDACTED] arrested TW4-02 at the [REDACTED] and

took him  to the KMF.330 TW4-02 was detained in [REDACTED] the Detention

Building331 for [REDACTED] days before being released,332 [REDACTED].333

87. The evidence is unclear on TW4-02’s exact arrival date to the KMF, with TW4-

02 stating that he was arrested on [REDACTED],334 [REDACTED]335 or [REDACTED]336

                                                

325 060664-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.3-4, 18-19; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.1.
326 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.16, 20.
327 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.10.
328 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.17-20.
329 060664-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, p.19; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.6-7, 10, 16.
330 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.19.
331 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3.
332 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.4, 6, 23-25; 060664-TR-ET Part 4, p.5; 060653-
060663-ET, p.060653; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.5.
333 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.4-5; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.2, 14-16; SITF00013262-00013315RED,
p.SITF00013278; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.30.
334 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.5.
335 060664-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, p.19; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.5.
336 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.2.
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[REDACTED], and other evidence indicating that he arrived to the KMF at an earlier

time. 337

88. During his detention, TW4-02 was afraid of being killed. He felt terrified and

humiliated. His detention left a ‘heavy burden’ on him  and he had problems sleeping

for years. 338

                                                

337 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1449; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1904-1905; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.23 (stating
that [REDACTED] happened‘[e]ither two to three days before [TW4-02’s arrival at the KMF] or when I

was there, but it seems two to three days before’ (emphasis added)). TW4-01 testified that he saw TW4-
02 twice, once when the latter was taken ‘to the office’ escorted by military police, and another time

when TW4-01 went to the toilet, both times before [REDACTED]. TW4-02 was indeed taken out to be
interrogated by W04848, 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.26. 
338 060664-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, p.18; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3; 060664-TR-ET Part 4, pp.20-22.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/46 of 193



47

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

6. TW4-04 was arrested, detained, and mistreated at the KMF

89. TW4-04, a Kosovar Albanian from the [REDACTED].339 TW4-04 left Kosovo on

[REDACTED] March 1999 due to the conflict.340 He was detained by the KLA

[REDACTED]341 before being transferred to the KMF [REDACTED].342 

90. At the KMF, TW4-04 was [REDACTED] the Detention Building, where he was

initially alone.343 [REDACTED],344 [REDACTED].345 Later, [REDACTED], a father and

a son, and TW4-02 [REDACTED].346 [REDACTED].347 TW4-04 also recalled three

                                                

339 SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.2; SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013262-SITF00013263;
064716-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.5-7; 064716-TR-ET Part 2 RED3, pp.1-3.
340 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013263; SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015828;
SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014674; SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013338.
341 SITF00013336-00013347RED, pp.SITF00013338-SITF00013339; SITF00013262-00013315RED,
pp.SITF00013263-SITF00013269; 064716-TR-ET Part 3 RED4, pp.3-4, 7-8, 20, 22-25; SITF00015825-
00015925RED, pp.SITF00015828-SITF00015830; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014674-
SPOE00014675, SPOE00014678, SPOE00014680, SPOE00014682, SPOE00014687; 064716-TR-ET Part 2
RED3, pp.9, 14-15; 064716-TR-ET Part 3 RED4, pp.4, 6, 8; 064716-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, p.2.
342 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013275; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014691;
064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.1-3; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.7; 108816-108825RED, p.108822;
SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013278; SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015854.
343 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013275; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.5, 7-8, 9; 108816-
108825RED, p.108822; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.4, 7; SPOE00014669-00014751RED,
pp.SPOE00014691, SPOE00014692.
344 064716-TR-ET PART 5 RED4, p.29.
345 SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013340; SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013272-
00013273; SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015844; SPOE00014669-00014751RED,
pp.SPOE00014693-00014694; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.28-29.
346 SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013272-SITF00013273, SITF00013278; 064716-TR-ET Part 5
RED4, p.30; 064716-TR-ET Part 3 RED4, p.14; SITF00015825-00015925RED, pp.SITF00015844,
SITF00015846, SITF00015854-SITF00015855; SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013340.
347 064716-TR-ET Part 3 RED4, p.14; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.4, 11.
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Romas [REDACTED], and TW4-11, [REDACTED], among those detained at the

KMF.348 Before and during his detention, [REDACTED].349

91. During TW4-04’s first night at the KMF, [REDACTED].350 [REDACTED]

prisoners were mistreated when people came back from the frontline. REDACTED].351

92. TW4-04 stated that he was not physically mistreated at the KMF,352 which

contradicts the evidence of another witness.353 He was kept at the KMF for

[REDACTED], then taken to W04848 [REDACTED]. According to TW4-04, W04848 

‘was just making something official that had been already decided by somebody else.’

[REDACTED]. Shortly after that, TW4-04 was released.354 

                                                

348 SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015846; SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013340;
SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014694; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.27, 31-32.
349 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013271-00013272; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.7-8; 064716-
TR-ET Part 3 RED4, p.6.
350 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.11-12.
351 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.13-14. See also Section V.E.
352 SITF00013336-00013347RED, pp.SITF0001339-SITF0001340.
353 Section V.A.C.
354 SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013273-SITF00013274; SITF00015825-00015925RED,
p.SITF00015854; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014692-SPOE00014698; SPOE00014669-
00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014697-SPOE00014698; 064716-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, p.19; 064716-TR-ET Part 5
RED4, pp.3-4, 9-10; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.7.
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7. TW4-05 was arrested, detained, and mistreated at the KMF

93. TW4-05, a Kosovar Albanian [REDACTED], arrived in Kukës as a refugee

around [REDACTED].355 TW4-05 had moved [REDACTED] after they were expelled

by the Serbs.356 On or around [REDACTED] two KLA members in black uniforms took

TW4-05 to the ‘headquarters’.357 At the KMF, [REDACTED] and another person

aggressively interrogated TW4-05, accusing him  of having friendly relationships with

Serbs, [REDACTED], and [REDACTED].358 

94. Thereafter, TW4-05 was put in Room 1. He recalled being detained with up to

nine people, including three Romas and W01448.359 [REDACTED].360 

95. At night, TW4-05 and his co-detainees were taken for interrogation.361

[REDACTED] interrogated TW4-05 three times.362

                                                

355 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372500; SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, pp.SITF00013125,
SITF00013127.
356 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013125.
357 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, pp.SITF00372500-SITF00372501; SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED,
p.SITF00013126.
358 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, pp.SITF00013127-SITF00013128.
359 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, pp.SITF00013129, SITF00013132; SITF00372498-00372510RED4,
p.SITF00372500.
360 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013128-SITF00013130, SITF00013133, SITF00013136.
361 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013130.
362 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, pp.SITF00013129, SITF00013131.
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96. TW4-05 stated that he was not mistreated at the KMF, which contradicts the

evidence of another witness.363 TW4-05 was detained at the KMF [REDACTED].364

[REDACTED].365

8. Other individuals detained and mistreated at the KMF during the

Indictment Period

97. A  number of other individuals were held at the KMF during the Indictment

Period, including three musicians of Roma ethnicity366 [REDACTED],367

[REDACTED]. TW4-11 identified a photograph of one of them.368 The Romas were

detained in the Uniforms Warehouse and then in Room 1 of the Detention Building.369

                                                

363 Section V.C.
364 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013128.
365 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372502; SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013135;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013861, SITF00013863.
366 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1414-1415, 1432; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1208-1209, 059341-059350,
p.059348; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5-6; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858;
060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.1; SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00312500.
367 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1209; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.6.
368 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1209; 059341-059350, p.059348.
369 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1414-1415, 1432-1434; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1208-1209; 059341-059350,
p.059348; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016225, SITF00016236; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013858, SITF00013861; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013748,
SITF00013762; SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, pp.SPOE00185341-SPOE00185342; 064716-TR-ET Part 5
RED4, p.27; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.1; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1098; Adjudicated Facts List, fact
no.53. See also U003-2232-U003-2232-ET.
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They were subjected to forced labour and mistreatment, as set out in Sections V.B. and

V.C., respectively, and released from the KMF on 17 June 1999.370

98. [REDACTED],371 [REDACTED], was detained in both Room 1 and Room 3 and

severely mistreated. He was accused of being a collaborator. He passed away after the

war.372

99. [REDACTED],373 a Kosovar Albanian [REDACTED], was initially detained in

Room 1 and then taken to Room 3. He was severely mistreated, including having his

teeth broken from beatings, and threatened. He was accused of being a Serb

collaborator. He was freed by KFOR in Prizren on 18 June 1999. He passed away after

the war.374

100. [REDACTED], was a Kosovar Albanian [REDACTED]. He was detained

together with [REDACTED] in both Rooms 1 and 3,375 and was mistreated during his

                                                

370 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016143.
371 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858.
372 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF00013848;
060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.23-24; 060664-TR-ET Part 4, p.12; SITF00016221-00016285RED4,
p.SITF00016225; SITF00013736-00013767RED5, p.27. See also, TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1530, 1538, 1556;
TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1787.
373 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1216; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858.
374 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.23-24; 060664-TR-ET Part 4, pp.5-7; SITF00016221-00016285RED4,
p.SITF00016225; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013858, SITF00013861, SITF00013863;
SITF00013736-00013767RED2, pp.SITF00013760-00013762; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.30-31.
375 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1433-1434; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013762.
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detention. He had worked with the Serb administration. He passed away after the

war.376

101. A person from Mitrovica,377 who had worked as a driver, was detained in

Room 3 and mistreated. TW4-02 was told by the other detainees that this person had

raped a young girl, which is why he was detained at the KMF.378

102. [REDACTED], a young woman [REDACTED], was also detained at the KMF.379

[REDACTED] was severely mistreated by Xhemshit KRASNIQI.380 At some point, she

                                                

376 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016237; SITF00013736-00013800RED5, p.SITF00013762;
SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF00013848; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.24; 060664-TR-ET Part 4, pp.8-
10; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1433-1434. While W01448 stated that [REDACTED] came to Kukes ‘shortly

after [REDACTED] death’ (SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF00013848), other evidence indicates
that he may be misremembering the time of his arrival. In particular, TW4-02 stated that [REDACTED]
told him he had been mistreated, and the evidence is consistent in indicating that mistreatments
stopped after [REDACTED] death (Section V.B.). Furthermore, W01448 listed [REDACTED] among the
detainees in Room 1 (SITF00013736-00013800RED4, p.SITF00013762), and drew the two individuals
together in the same room (U003-2232-U003-2232-ET).
377 060664-TR-ET Part 4, p.11.
378 060664-TR-ET Part 4, pp.11-12; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.23-24.
379 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1388, 1419, 1421-1422, 1477; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1561-1562;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013747;
TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1073-1074; Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.53.
380 Section V.D.
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was detained in Room  3 of the Detention Building.381 She was also made to work in

the kitchen of the KMF.382

103. Two women from Đakovica/Gjakovë  383 were detained for some time in Room

3 and beaten by Xhemshit KRASNIQI. The woman referred to by W01448 as

[REDACTED], who was beaten in the Office Room during the 20 May 1999 Incident,

may be one of these two women.384

104. A group of FARK or KLA soldiers were at some point detained in Room 1 on

accusations of desertion.385 They were severely mistreated, as set out in Section V.C.

105. Towards the end of May 1999, a Serb soldier386 member of Arkan’s group, was

captured in Đakovica/Gjakovë and taken to the KMF. He was blindfolded, and his

                                                

381 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.29; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016225, SITF00016235;
SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013340; SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013272-
SITF00013273; SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015844; SPOE00014669-00014751RED,
pp.SPOE00014693-SPOE00014694.
382 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1563-1564; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1916.
383 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1565; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016235.
384 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1565-1567; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016235; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013746-SITF00013747; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858;
Section V.D.
385 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016238; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860; TW4-
01, 31 May 2023, pp.1507, 1512; SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014095-SITF00014096;
SITF00016908-00016964RED, pp.SITF00016913-SITF00016914; SITF00013833-00013847RED4,
p.SITF00013837.
386 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.56-66; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1913.
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hands were tied; he was interrogated and taken into detention. After some time, the

Kukës police went to the KMF and took the Serb soldier away.387

B. Conditions of detention

106. The detainees kept at the KMF where held in conditions which W04733

described as unsuitable even for animals.388

107. The Command Building Detention Room  was situated on the first floor.389 It

was a very narrow space, measuring approximately two by two and a half metres, and

had a slanting roof, which did not allow the detainees to stand straight up, or to lie

down at the same time.390 The room  had no windows, and the only light came in from

under the door.391 There was no insulation: when it rained it was cold, and once the

temperature rose it became hot.392 There were bottles filled with urine on the floor.393

The detainees had to repeatedly ask for drinking water, and were afraid to do so.394

                                                

387 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.56-66.
388 106978-107020, p.106990.
389 Section III.D.
390 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016144-SITF00016145; SITF00019824-00019876RED2,
pp.SITF00019829-SITF00019830. The number and identity of individuals held in this room is further
discussed in Section V.H.3.c.
391 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013752; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019831;
SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019831.
392 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016145; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013752;
SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019830.
393 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016229; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016144.
394 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013752.
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The room  had no furniture but blankets and thin sponge mattresses.395 The detainees

were locked up inside,396 and handcuffed.397 

108. In the Detention Building, detainees were locked in two separate rooms, and

were not allowed to go out or move around freely.398 The doors were guarded by

armed KLA  soldiers.399 The temperature in the Detention Building was extremely

hot.400 W01448 could barely breath,401 and fell unconscious multiple times because of

the heat.402

109. Water tanks outside the Detention Building, close to the toilets, were the only

place the detainees could get water from.403 However, their access to water depended

on the goodwill of the KLA soldiers.404 On their way to the water tanks, KLA soldiers

                                                

395 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016229; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013741;
SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016144; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013809.
396 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019829; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016229-
SITF00016230.
397 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
398 TW4-10, 2 May 2023, p.1169; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013822.
399 SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, pp.SPOE00185343-SPOE00185344; SITF00013262-00013315RED,
p.SITF00013275; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014690-SPOE00014691; 108826-TR-ET
Part 1 RED, p.6, 108816-108825RED, p.108822.
400 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.26-27; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016147.
401 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750.
402 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750.
403 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013748; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016146.
404 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1431; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1207; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.27; SITF00016140-
00016220RED3, p.SITF00016146.
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insulted and harassed the detainees,405 including by kicking them, hitting them with a

stick and stabbing them with a knife.406 Despite the hot temperatures at the time and

the number of people crammed into the small room,407 the detainees would rather stay

thirsty than face the mistreatment.408

110. Similarly, when the detainees had to use the nearby toilets,409 they had to ask

for permission to the guard, who would escort them there.410 KLA soldiers also

harassed the detainees when they went to the toilet, so they tried to limit their use of

those facilities.411 The toilets were dirty and not fit for use.412

                                                

405 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016146-SITF00016147; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013858; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.27-28.
406 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016146; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858.
407 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750. See also SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013858.
408 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013750, SITF00013752; SITF00013833-00013847RED4,
p.SITF00013838.
409 Section III.C.
410 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1446-1447; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1219; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.27;
SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016146; SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013130;
106978-107020, pp.106990, 107001; Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.55.
411 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016145; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.27-28.
412 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013749.
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111. Room  1 was about three to five meters per side,413 and held up to 13 detainees.414

It had windows with iron bars, but no glass. 415 There was no furniture, only a light

bulb hanging from the ceiling.416 The room had a concrete floor with soil and dust

seeping through cracks in it.417 

112. Some blankets and thin mattresses were provided, but were not available at all

times,418 so the detainees slept on the broken concrete floor, or would lean against the

wall, using their hands as pillows as they were not allowed to rest their heads on their

jackets or shoes.419 

                                                

413 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1432; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1199; SITF00016140-00016220RED3,
p.SITF00016145; SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, pp.SITF00013129-SITF00013130.
414 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1431-1434, 1438-1440; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1917; TW4-11, 2 May 2023,
p.1207; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1337-1339; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013748; 082892-
TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5-6.
415 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1430-1431; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1055, 074390-074391, p.074390; 060664-
TR-ET Part 3, pp.25-26; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013749.
416 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013749; SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED,
p.SITF00013130.
417 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1430; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1199; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013858.
418 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1430-1432; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1289, 1324; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013749-SITF00013750; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2,
p.SPOE00013822.
419 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1431; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1218; SITF00016140-00016220RED3,
p.SITF00016146; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013749; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013858. See also TW4-07, 29 March 2023, p.906.
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113. The detainees in Room 1 consistently reported that the food was scarce,420 and

not provided on a regular basis.421 Sometimes they were given a boiled egg, a fish or

leftovers to share after the KLA soldiers had eaten their meal.422 Some days they did

not eat anything at all.423 When they were given food, it was always inside the

detention room.424 In some instances, the Roma musicians brought back small food

items unloaded from the trucks.425 TW4-01, W01448, and W04733 lost a lot of weight

during their detention.426 

114. Those in Room 1 could not wash themselves or change their clothes,427 and

‘would smell like animals’.428 W01448 wore the same clothes throughout his detention

at the KMF.429 W04733 stated: ‘I myself, after I was released, was ashamed to go home

                                                

420 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1431; TW4-07, 29 March 2023, p.906.
421 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1431; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013823; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800, p.SITF00013751. This is corroborated by TW4-10: TW4-10, 2 May 2023, pp.1168-1169. See
also SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.SITF00374136; TW4-06, 28 March 2023, pp.809, 816; TW4-07,
29 March 2023, p.906.
422 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016147; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013751;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.15; 106978-107020, p.106990. See also TW4-10, 2 May 2023, p.1169.
423 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013751.
424 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013130.
425 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016147; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013751.
426 TW4-01 lost considerable weight during his detention: TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1552; SITF00374132-
00374148RED2, p.SITF00374136. W01448 lost 14-17 kg during his detention: SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013751. W04733 lost over
16kg during his detention: SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013823; [REDACTED].
427 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1447-1448; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013823; 082892-
TR-AT-ET Part 7, p.13; TW4-06, 28 March 2023, pp.809, 816.
428 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013823.
429 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016148; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750.
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because of the way I looked.’430 [REDACTED] was not allowed to wash or change

clothes until the arrival of W04820, after the death [REDACTED].431

115. At least six people were detained in Room 3 of the Detention Building.432 There,

detainees were provided with food.433 Room 3 had a small window with bars on it.434

It had no furniture, and, except for [REDACTED], who was provided with a

mattress,435 the other detainees slept on the floor with only some blankets to put on

the concrete.436

116. Some detainees held at the KMF were subjected to forced labour, having to

clean rooms.437 The three Roma detainees [REDACTED] were forced to work every

day, sometimes until 22:00hrs, unloading trucks and cleaning toilets and other

                                                

430 106978-107020, p.106990.
431 [REDACTED].
432 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1565-1567; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.23-24; 108826-
TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.7-8; 108816-108825RED, p.108822.
433 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.27; SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013275: [REDACTED].
434 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.25-26.
435 SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015843; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014691.
436 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.25; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014691.
437 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013748.
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facilities.438 Their work outside the Detention Building at least allowed them better

access to food and washing facilities.439

117. Even though the KMF had an infirmary440 and medical staff,441 the detainees

were denied suitable medical care. If they received treatment at all, it was immediately

thwarted by KLA soldiers. For example, immediately after the medical team

bandaged the deep head wound W04733 suffered during the 20 May 1999 Incident,

KLA soldiers cut it off with a knife.442 W04733 was bandaged a second time as the

wound was bleeding profusely, but the bandage was cut again.443 W04733 was also

denied medication [REDACTED] even though the KLA soldiers were aware of his

condition.444 For [REDACTED], the denial of medical care had fatal consequences.445 

                                                

438 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1219; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1340; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.27-28;
SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, pp.SITF00013128-SITF00013130, SITF00013133, SITF00013136;
SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185342; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016143;
SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018745-SITF00018746; SITF00015825-00015925RED,
p.SITF00015846; 106978-107020, p.106989.
439 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013130; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.27.
440 Section III.C.
441 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1529, 1547; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1834; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1346;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.29-32; Section V.H.3.d.
442 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.29, 32-33; Section V.D.
443 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.32-33.
444 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.33; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 8 RED2, pp.5-7.
445 Section V.F.
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118. Several victims described how KLA soldiers whom they knew and recognised

at the KMF were careful in approaching them, and tried to avoid being seen having

contact with them, for fear of being associated with the detainees.446

C. Mistreatment 

119. In addition to the specific incidents of mistreatment discussed in detail in

Sections V.D., V.E and V.F., the detainees in Room 1 of the Detention Building were

harassed, sleep-deprived, threatened, and mistreated almost every day, by KLA

members including Sabit GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI and soldiers returning from the

frontline.447 

120. Detainees in Room 1 were made to face the wall and beaten from behind in the

presence of each other with whatever the perpetrators had at their disposal - batons,

                                                

446 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.27-29; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1535; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1790-1791;
SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013135. See also TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1909.
447 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1512-1513 1524; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1919; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1222,
1233; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
pp.SITF00013753-SITF00013754; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 8 RED2, p.29; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2,
p.7; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013823-SPOE00013825; 106978-107020, pp.106988-
106989; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018745-SITF00018746; SITF00013262-00013315RED,
p.SITF00013273; SITF00015825-00015925RED, pp.SITF00015844-SITF00015845; 064716-TR-ET Part 5
RED4, pp.14-15; TW4-07, 29 March 2023, pp.906-907, 909.
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metal bars and belts.448 They were deliberately made to witness the mistreatments of

co-detainees.449 

121. On one occasion, when Sabit GECI was present, the detainees in Room 1 were

forced to slap one another as hard as they could,450 with W01448 stating that they had

to beat each other also on the genitals, and to pretend to have sexual intercourse with

each other.451 On another occasion, W04733 was kicked in his mouth, breaking his

teeth.452 TW4-11 was punched hard in the eye, which bled and bruised, with

repercussions for his eyesight still present in 2023.453 Yet another time, the detained

FARK or KLA soldiers (and in parallel other detainees) were beaten by Sabit GECI

and other KLA members so severely that the baton used broke.454 

                                                

448 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1220, 1230-1231; 106978-107020, p.106988; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013825; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.9-10, 13; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013753-SITF00013754, SITF00013759; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013859.
449 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1448; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1507; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1221-1222;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016147.
450 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1512-1513; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1233; SITF00016221-00016285RED4,
p.SITF00016237; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
pp.SITF00013753-SITF00013754. 
451 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF00013849.
452 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, pp.9-10; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018744; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013751; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013859.
453 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1231-1233.
454 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1507, 1512; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860; SITF00016221-
00016285RED4, p.SITF00016238; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013759.
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122. When beatings took place, the detainees were scared to look at what was

happening to the others.455 They were also scared of talking to each other as they feared

being beaten for doing so.456 KLA soldiers would also utter threats and insults against

the detainees from the windows of the Detention Building,457 or when they were going

to the toilets.458

123. In addition to being beaten inside Room 1, the detainees were also beaten

outside that room,459 with those remaining in Room 1 hearing their screams.460 When

the victims were brought back, they showed signs of the beatings.461 

124. Detainees were also repeatedly taken out for harsh interrogations and beatings

in the Command Building,462 including by the Accused,463 Sabit GECI, Xhemshit

KRASNIQI, and others.464 

                                                

455 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1231; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013760.
456 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1448; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1228; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1243.
457 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1466-1467; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1919.
458 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.27-28.
459 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013753; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1421, 1424-1425.
460 SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185343; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
pp.SITF00013754-SITF00013755.
461 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1538-1539; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
pp.SITF00013754-SITF00013755.
462 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1219, 1222-1226; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1510; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1101;
060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.26.
463 Section V.D.
464 SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185343; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.7, 25; 082892-
TR-AT-ET Part 6, pp.4-7; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013861. In 2009, W01448 recognised
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125. [REDACTED],465 [REDACTED].466 They beat him with different types of

instruments, including iron rods and truncheons,467 throughout the night and until the

morning.468 TW4-11 testified that one morning, after had been taken out for

interrogation, [REDACTED].469 This is telling of the level of mistreatment

[REDACTED] must have endured, considering that the detention rooms were

described as unbearably hot.470 

126. The Roma musicians were also severely mistreated,471 with W04733 indicating

that they were ‘treated worse’ and discriminated against due to their ethnicity,472 and

that they were ‘beaten up like horses, as if they were animals’.473 W04733 learnt from

the Romas that the Accused was one of those who mistreated them during their

work.474 

                                                

LIMAJ and GECI in a photo board identification, stating that they were in Kukës: SITF00013886-
00013908RED, pp.SITF00013887, SITF00013898, SITF00013901.
465 Section V.D.
466 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1497-1498.
467 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1507-1508, 1510.
468 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1510.
469 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1224; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1242-1244; 059341-059350, p.059349.
470 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016147; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.26-27.
471 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1417; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1512; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1918; TW4-11,
2 May 2023, p.1220; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.5; SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013340;
SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185342; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016143.
472 SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185342.
473 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.5.
474 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, pp.6-7.
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127. Some of the victims, namely TW4-02, TW4-04 and TW4-05, stated they were

not physically mistreated during their detention at the KMF,475 although evidence

exists to the contrary.476 It is apparent that TW4-02, TW4-04 and TW4-05 all

downplayed their own mistreatment, possibly due to intimidation, [REDACTED].

128. With regard to TW4-02, TW4-01 recalled that TW4-02 was beaten during his

detention at the KMF and that [REDACTED] was involved in the mistreatment.477

TW4-02, however, only marginally involved [REDACTED] in his ordeal. In particular,

TW4-02 omitted information concerning [REDACTED],478 [REDACTED]. 479

129. Similarly, with regard to TW4-05, W01448 remembered that he was beaten.480

At the same time, certain aspects of TW4-05’s own account are markedly inconsistent

with one another, and with other evidence on record. For example, TW4-05 reported

that his treatment at the KMF ‘was very good’,481 but at the same time feared for his

life, considering himself ‘a dead person already’ due to [REDACTED].482 He stated

that he was never held in a locked room but described the place he was held as a

                                                

475 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.26; SITF00013336-00013347RED, pp.SITF00013339-SITF00013340;
SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013131.
476 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1904-1907; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.6; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013758; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013836.
477 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1906-1907.
478 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1911; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.17, 20.
479 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1907, 1910-1911.
480 SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013836; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013758.
481 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372500.
482 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013134.
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prison.483 [REDACTED].484 TW4-05 expressed [REDACTED] for saving his life, since

he expected to be killed as a traitor.485 The Panel should give due consideration to these

statements in assessing TW4-05’s account of his treatment at the KMF.

130. Regarding TW4-04, TW4-02 stated that TW4-04 was mistreated during his

detention at the KMF.486 TW4-04, too, had attempted to soften the narrative of his

detention in Kukës by downplaying the conditions of his detention,487 and proactively

trying to [REDACTED],488 which appears to be connected to [REDACTED].489 

D. 20 May 1999 Incident 

131. On or about 20 May 1999,490 in the evening and throughout the night, a group

of KLA soldiers including the Accused, Sabit GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI, W04848, a

                                                

483 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372500.
484 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372500.
485 SITF00013123-00013167RED, p.SITF00013134.
486 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.6.
487 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, pp.12-13.
488 SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014705; 064716-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.15-17.
489 See e.g., SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014705; 064716-TR-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.15-20.
490 Witnesses provided slightly different indications on the exact date of this incident, which can be
determined took place on or around 20 May 1999. W04733 was kidnapped on or around 18 May 1999
(Section V.A.3. and [REDACTED]), and stated that this beating happened on 21/22 May 1999, during
the night of the first day he arrived the KMF (082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.21-23). W01448 stated
that this incident took place on ‘Thursday evening’ (SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
p.SITF00013743). In 1999, May the 20th was a Thursday. TW4-01, too, testified that this incident took
place the same night in which W04733 had arrived at the KMF (TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1455). TW4-01
also testified that [REDACTED]. According to this timeline, the mistreatment in the Command Building
should have occurred around 15 May 1999. However, TW4-01 had in the past stated that he was
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man from Suva Reka, and others, severely mistreated TW4-01, W04733,

[REDACTED], W01448 and [REDACTED] in the Office Room.491 W01448 stated that

he ‘never saw such tortures happening, even in movies.’492

132. On the same day of his arrival at the KMF,493 W04733 was taken out of the

Command Building Detention Room,494 and brought downstairs to an office with a

sign reading ‘the Lawyer’ on the door.495 W04733 stated in this regard: ‘[w]hen […] I

saw THE LAWYER sign, I said to myself, there’s salvation here, there’s going to be

justice, except that there was no justice there at all.’496 Initially, W04733 was the only

                                                

[REDACTED], which would place this incident closer to the date provided by W04733 and W01448. In
light of the consistent evidence from W04733, [REDACTED], and W01448, and of TW4-01’s original

timeline, the mistreatment in the office of the Command Building must have taken place on or around
20 May 1999.
491 Evidence of the presence of these individuals is discussed below in this section. See also Section III.D.
for the precise identification of this location.
492 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013747.
493 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.21-23; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1455.
494 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016231; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856. See
Section III.D. for the precise identification of this location.
495 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.4, 23-24; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013810-
SPOE00013812; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019834; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3,
p.SITF00013186.
496 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.24.
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detainee in there.497 The KLA soldiers told W04733 that they had been waiting for him ,

and that they were holding a party in his honour.498

133. Once in the room, three KLA soldiers sat W04733 on a bench or chair499 in front

of Sabit GECI,500 while the Accused and Xhemshit KRASNIQI were behind him.501

Sabit GECI asked W04733 why he worked for the Serbs. He called him an idiot, a

traitor, and punched him.502 The Accused hit W04733 with a baseball bat and a rubber

baton,503 all over his body, including his back, chest and head,504 and called him  a

spy.505 The Accused and Xhemshit KRASNIQI also hit W04733 with a rubber baton on

his hands and on the soles of his feet, ‘as hard as they could’. W04733’s hands and feet

became swollen,506 to a point that W04733 could not put his shoes on.507

                                                

497 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013813; SITF00019824-00019876RED2,
p.SITF00019841.
498 SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2,
p.SPOE00013813.
499 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452.
500 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.24.
501 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019834; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4, p.24.
502 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.25; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, pp.SITF00019838, SITF00019841-
SITF00019842.
503 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, pp.9-10; 106978-107020, p.106980; SITF00019824-00019876RED2,
pp.SITF00019842, SITF00019844.
504 106978-107020, p.106980; U003-2283-U003-2289RED2, p.U0032286; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2,
p.10; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
505 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.10.
506 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.11; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018743; SITF00019824-
00019876RED2, p.SITF00019846.
507 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.11.
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134. During that night, W04733 was severely kicked and beaten with metal bars,

baseball bats, rubber batons, and whatever else the KLA soldiers could grab.508 They

accused W04733 of being a traitor for his work with the Serb institutions, and of

having killed, burnt Albanian houses, and raped women.509 Xhemshit KRASNIQI

repeatedly burned W04733 with a cigarette, until he put it out on his chest,510 broke

W04733’s elbow with a rubber baton,511 and pushed the baton into W04733’s mouth,

breaking W04733’s teeth and making him bleed.512

135. Eventually, Xhemshit KRASNIQI took out his revolver and hit W04733 with its

barrel on the head.513 W04733 was bleeding profusely.514 W04733 stood up but could

                                                

508 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018743; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.25; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013814; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019838; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013856-SITF00013857; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232.
[REDACTED].
509 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013814; SITF00019824-00019876RED2,
p.SITF00019841; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013744; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1455;
[REDACTED].
510 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.27; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013815-
SPOE00013816; 106978-107020, p.106983; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018742-
SITF00018743.[REDACTED].
511 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018742.
512 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, pp.7-8; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818;
106978-107020, p.106982; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013187.
513 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.28; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.12; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013814; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018742, SITF00018743;
[REDACTED].
514 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.32; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1491-
1492; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013856-SITF00013857.
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not keep standing due to the pain; W04733 lost consciousness and fell to the ground.515

At this point, medical personnel were called in to bandage W04733.516 A  bucket of

water was thrown on W04733 to make him regain consciousness.517 

136. About 30 minutes after W04733 was taken from  the Command Building

Detention Room  to the Office Room for the beating, KLA soldiers also brought

W01448 to the Office Room.518 In the corridor, just outside the Office Room, W01448

saw TW4-01 [REDACTED].519 About 10 to 12 KLA members, some sporting KLA

uniforms, and others in civilian clothes, were inside the room.520 They included the

Accused,521 Sabit GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI,522 and W04848.523

                                                

515 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.28; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818; 106978-
107020, p.106979; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018744.
516 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.31-32.
517 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.35; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818; 106978-
107020, p.106979; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018744.
518 106978-107020, p.106985; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013808-SPOE00013809, SPOE00013818.
519 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856. See also TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1450-1452, and
REG00954-REG00954, where [REDACTED].
520 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016234; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013743-
SITF00013744.
521 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019834; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013743-SITF00013744.
522 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019834; 082892-TR-AT-ET
Part 4, p.24; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013857.
523 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1817-1821.
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137. W01448 was made to witness W04733’s mistreatment, and characterised its

severity as follows:

‘Seeing [REDACTED] in that position, I felt like dying. […] A normal man

can not torture anybody like that. It looked as if all of them were in some
sort of competition to beat and humiliate him.’524

138. W01448, too, was beaten that night. W01448’s legs were put into cold water up

until the knees.525 A KLA soldier unbuttoned W01448’s shirt and threatened to cut a

cross on his chest.526 Instead, he started beating W01448, and was then joined by the

Accused.527 The KLA soldier and the Accused beat W01448 with batons on his upper

body and hands for about 30 minutes,528 so hard that he almost fainted, until Sabit

GECI told them to stop.529 

139. When Xhemshit KRASNIQI hit him with a rubber baton on his nose, W01448

lost consciousness.530 The perpetrators threw a bucket of water on him to bring him

                                                

524 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
525 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743.
526 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016167;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013745.
527 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743.
528 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016167-SITF00016168; SITF00016221-00016285RED4,
pp.SITF00016231-SITF00016232; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013745; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.26; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013820; 106978-107020, p.106984; SITF00018740-00018767RED,
p.SITF00018744.
529 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016231; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743.
530 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
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back to his senses.531 W01448 was interrogated and made to write a sort of a ‘CV’,

where he had to list his friends in the Serb MUP.532 W01448 stated that Sabit GECI and

Xhemshit KRASNIQI were in charge in the room, with Sabit GECI being the higher

ranking one.533

140. At some point, TW4-01 [REDACTED] were brought inside the Office Room.534

There, they met [REDACTED].535 TW4-01 [REDACTED] arrived while W04733 was

still being beaten,536 but after W04733’s head – which TW4-01 recalls being ‘totally

covered in blood’ – had already been bandaged.537 TW4-01 recalls the Accused, Sabit

GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI, W04848, and other people, including one holding a

handgun in his hand, amongst those present in the room.538

141. Someone in the room – either Sabit GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI, or the Accused

[REDACTED] to beat W04733 – ‘this Serb’ – with a baton.539 W04733 said that he was

                                                

531 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
532 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013746.
533 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743.
534 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452.
535 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1421-1422, 1452.
536 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018742.
537 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1491-1492.
538 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1817-1821.
539 [REDACTED]; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.27; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2,
p.SPOE00013819; 106978-107020, p.106981; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018743;
SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185340.
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not a Serb,540 [REDACTED].541 TW4-01 witnessed the Accused and others in the room 

hitting W04733, including with a wooden bar, and throwing salt in his eyes. TW4-01

testified that W04733 had been beaten very badly, and was crying.542

142. When they were finished with W04733, Xhemshit KRASNIQI told two of the

people in the room  to take him out.543 W04733 was not able to walk.544 

143. KLA members dragged W04733 back to the detention room, and cut W04733’s

wrist with a knife.545 W04733 bled profusely.546 In 2010, W04826 documented a linear

scar on W04733’s left wrist compatible with an injury caused by a sharp object.547

                                                

540 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.27; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013819; 106978-
107020, p.106981; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018743; SPOE00185335-00185363RED3,
p.SPOE00185340.
541 [REDACTED].
542 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1454.
543 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.34; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1455.
544 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
545 106978-107020, p.106983; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.4; SITF00018740-00018767RED,
p.SITF00018744; [REDACTED].
546 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.4.
547 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2131-2132; SITF00019793-00019810, pp.SITF00019795, SITF00019801,
SITF00019806.
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144. [REDACTED].548 [REDACTED].549 [REDACTED],550 [REDACTED].551 TW4-01

provided a further, chilling detail about this moment: [REDACTED].552 That night, the

Accused beat TW4-01 as much as he could.553 [REDACTED],554 [REDACTED].555 As the

beating continued [REDACTED].556 Others present in the office also repeatedly hit

TW4-01 with baseball bats and iron and wooden bars [REDACTED].557

[REDACTED].558 [REDACTED].559 

145. During his beating, those present interrogated TW4-01, [REDACTED].560 They

asked him about other people, and accused him of being a Serb collaborator.561 With

                                                

548 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1456-1457; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018744.
549 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1457. While W04733 essentially confirms the same chronology of the events
as recounted by TW4-01, [REDACTED], see 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, pp.12-13; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013820-SPOE00013821. [REDACTED], see 059341-059350, p.059349.
550 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1457.
551 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1457-1458.
552 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1690.
553 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1691-1692.
554 113841-113843, p.113843.
555 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2119-2120; SITF00019134-SITF00019147RED2, p.SITF00019137; TW4-01, 30
May 2023, pp.1475-1476.
556 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1461-1462.
557 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1457.
558 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1457-1458.
559 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1458.
560 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1459-1460.
561 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1460-1461, 1475-1476; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013744.
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reference to the Accused’s role in the beating of TW4-01 and [REDACTED], W04733,

who was later detained with them, stated that he ‘ruined them’.562 

146. During the mistreatment of TW4-01, the Accused and Xhemshit KRASNIQI

forced [REDACTED].563 Xhemshit KRASNIQI and others beat both [REDACTED] and

[REDACTED] female victim  in the room.564 They accused one of the females of

working [REDACTED] and singing for the Serb paramilitary leader Arkan.565

Xhemshit KRASNIQI beat [REDACTED] so hard that she wet the place when she was

moved away.566

147. In addition to beating TW4-01, the perpetrators [REDACTED],567 as they had

done with W04733. [REDACTED].568 TW4-01 testified that the same people had been

in the room the whole night, with nobody coming to replace them.569

                                                

562 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.9.
563 106978-107020, p.106987; SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185341; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
564 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013746-SITF00013747; SITF00016221-00016285RED4,
p.SITF00016234; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1477.
565 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016235.
566 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
567 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1464; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013747.
568 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1465.
569 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1465.
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148. KLA soldiers used sharp knives and other objects on TW4-01 and

[REDACTED] that night, who screamed while suffering ‘unbelievable pains’.570 

W01448 stated that [REDACTED].571

149. In addition to the persons mentioned above, W04733 recounted that TW4-05

and the three Roma musicians were also brought to and beaten in the Office Room.572

W01448 stated that a second female detainee, possibly named [REDACTED],573 was

beaten that night.574 

150. W04733 was the first detainee brought back into the Command Building

Detention Room.575 The beatings inflicted on W04733 during that night resulted in a

deep wound on his forehead,576 a broken elbow,577 broken teeth,578 swollen feet and

hands, impaired eye sight579 and impaired equilibrium,580 - in addition to the

                                                

570 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1468; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013745; SITF00016221-
00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part
4 RED3, p.27.
571 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013746.
572 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818-SPOE00013819; SPOE00185335-
00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185341; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018742
573 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013747.
574 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016235; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013744.
575 106978-107020, pp.106984-106986.
576 SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186.
577 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013817; 106978-107020, p.106982; SITF00018740-
00018767RED, p.SITF00018742.
578 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818.
579 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818.
580 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818.
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psychological trauma.581 A medical examination of W04733 performed by W04826 on

10 November 2010 found a 4.5 centimetre scar on W04733’s forehead,582 which was the

consequence of a ‘serious injury on the left forehead, […] done by a blunt, heavy object

with a certain force applied.’583 W04826 also confirmed an injury to W04733’s elbow,

which appeared as slightly deformed and had a limited range of motion.584 W04826

considered the state of the elbow compatible with being the consequence of an injury

as described by W04733.585 W04826 also found irregular, superficial scars on W04733’s

body compatible with cigarette burns.586

151. After W04733, W01448 was also returned to the Command Building Detention

Room.587 When W01448 was brought back there, his legs, feet and hands were swollen

and he had bruises on his body.588 

                                                

581 See Section V.A.3.
582 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2125-2127; SITF00019793-00019810, pp.SITF00019794-SITF00019795,
SITF00019797.
583 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2128-2129.
584 SITF00019793-00019810, p.SITF00019795.
585 W04826, 27 June 2023, p.2130.
586 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2129-2130; SITF00019793-00019810, pp.SITF00019798-SITF00019799,
SITF00019802.
587 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013821; 106978-107020, p.106985. See also

SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016236.
588 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013820; 106978-107020, pp.106984, 106987.
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152. After several hours of beatings in the Office Room,589 [REDACTED].590

[REDACTED].591 [REDACTED] was severely beaten [REDACTED],592 a circumstance

which would have been apparent to the Accused.593 [REDACTED], TW4-01 also heard

[REDACTED] scream. That was the last night he saw [REDACTED] at the KMF.594

153. [REDACTED].595 [REDACTED].596 

154. W03887’s video, showing at least ten people at once singing and moving

around the space full of furniture,597 demonstrates a capacity of the Office Room598

compatible with the victims’ accounts on the number of individuals present during

the 20 May 1999 Incident.599

E. [REDACTED]

                                                

589 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1459, 1467.
590 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1468-1469, 1472-1473.
591 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1469.
592 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1470; W04826, 26 June 2023, pp.2084-2085; 031049-031095RED2, p.031050.
593 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1470.
594 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1477.
595 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1469, 1471.
596 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1471.
597 078252-01, 00:08 to 16:07.
598 See Section III.D. for an illustration of the evidence on this location.
599 That offices in the Command Building could host several people is also corroborated by W04754,
who confirmed that seven people were present in Bislim ZYRAPI’s office in a photograph taken in May

1999: W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2992; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3032-3033.
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155. One another occasion, after the 20 May 1999 Incident, [REDACTED] were taken

from  Room 1 to Room 2 of the Detention Building [REDACTED].600 [REDACTED].601

[REDACTED].602 [REDACTED].603 [REDACTED].604 [REDACTED].605

156. [REDACTED].606 [REDACTED].607 [REDACTED].608 [REDACTED].609 

157. Corroborating this account, TW4-04, who was held [REDACTED],610

[REDACTED] 611 - [REDACTED].612 [REDACTED],613 and [REDACTED] told TW4-04

that when soldiers ‘come back’ from the frontlines, things ‘get bad’.614 KLA members

later ‘came back and grabbed that same guy and moved him out of there’.615 TW4-04

                                                

600 [REDACTED]
601 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1522.
602 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1523; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1647-1648, 1650-1653, 1655-1656; TW4-01,
6 June 2023, p.1922.
603 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1522, 1523.
604 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1523.
605 DW4-03, 27 November 2023, pp.3656, 3681; DPS01724-DPS01725, p.DPS01724. [REDACTED], DW4-
03, 27 November 2023, pp.3649-3655; DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00866.
606 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1522-1523; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1656-1657.
607 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1523-1524.
608 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1523; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1657; Section III.C.
609 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1523-1525; 031049-031095RED2, p.031050.
610 See Section V.A.6.
611 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.13-14.
612 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.11-12.
613 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.12.
614 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.12, 14.
615 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.12, 18-19.
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never saw him again after that.616 [REDACTED].617 TW4-04 had heard gunshots that

same night, and was afraid that the bullets would penetrate the walls of his cell.618 

158. TW4-04 also stated that after this night, conditions changed at the KMF, which

would suggest that this referred to the night [REDACTED] was killed.619

[REDACTED].

F. The killing of [REDACTED]

1. Beating and shooting

a) [REDACTED]

159. [REDACTED].620 The evening of the next day, which based on the timeline that

follows below was [REDACTED]. 621 [REDACTED] identified this location in a 

photograph shown to him at trial, stating that it brought back painful memories.622 

                                                

616 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.14.
617 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.15.
618 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.15.
619 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.14; Section V.G.
620 [REDACTED].
621 [REDACTED].
622 [REDACTED].
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160. [REDACTED].623 [REDACTED].624 [REDACTED].625 The Accused stayed there

for two or three days.626 During this time, in fact, W04379 had the opportunity to get

acquainted with the Accused. The Accused, too, remembered W04379, since years

after the war he gifted him with a bottle of liquor.627

161. [REDACTED],628 [REDACTED].629 [REDACTED].630 [REDACTED].631

[REDACTED].632 [REDACTED].

162. [REDACTED],633 [REDACTED].634 [REDACTED].635 [REDACTED].636 

163. [REDACTED].637 [REDACTED].638 [REDACTED].639

                                                

623 [REDACTED].
624 [REDACTED].
625 [REDACTED].
626 060124-TR-ET Part 2 RED4, p.143.
627 060124-TR-ET Part 2RED4, pp.141-142.
628 [REDACTED].
629 [REDACTED].
630 [REDACTED].
631 [REDACTED].
632 [REDACTED].
633 [REDACTED].
634 [REDACTED].
635 [REDACTED].
636 [REDACTED].
637 [REDACTED].
638 [REDACTED].
639 [REDACTED].
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164. [REDACTED].640 [REDACTED].641 [REDACTED].642 

165. [REDACTED].643 [REDACTED].644 [REDACTED].645 [REDACTED],646

[REDACTED].647 [REDACTED].648 [REDACTED].649 [REDACTED],650 [REDACTED].651

[REDACTED].652 [REDACTED].653 [REDACTED].’654

b) Further corroboration of [REDACTED]

166. [REDACTED],655 [REDACTED]. 

                                                

640 [REDACTED].
641 [REDACTED].
642 [REDACTED].
643 [REDACTED].
644 [REDACTED].
645 [REDACTED].
646 [REDACTED].
647 [REDACTED].
648 [REDACTED].
649 [REDACTED].
650 [REDACTED].
651 [REDACTED].
652 [REDACTED].
653 [REDACTED].
654 [REDACTED].
655 [REDACTED].
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167. [REDACTED],656 [REDACTED].657 [REDACTED].658 [REDACTED],659

[REDACTED].660 [REDACTED].661 [REDACTED].662 [REDACTED].663

168. [REDACTED].664 [REDACTED].665 [REDACTED].666

169. [REDACTED],667 [REDACTED].668 [REDACTED].669 [REDACTED].670

[REDACTED].671

170. [REDACTED].672 [REDACTED],673 [REDACTED].674 [REDACTED],675

[REDACTED].676

                                                

656 [REDACTED].
657 [REDACTED].
658 [REDACTED].
659 [REDACTED].
660 [REDACTED].
661 [REDACTED].
662 [REDACTED].
663 [REDACTED].
664 [REDACTED].
665 [REDACTED].
666 [REDACTED].
667 [REDACTED].
668 [REDACTED].
669 [REDACTED].
670 [REDACTED].
671 [REDACTED].
672 [REDACTED].
673 [REDACTED].
674 [REDACTED].
675 [REDACTED].
676 [REDACTED].
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c) [REDACTED] 

171. [REDACTED].677 [REDACTED].

172. [REDACTED].

173. [REDACTED] 678 [REDACTED].679 [REDACTED].680 [REDACTED],681

[REDACTED].682

174. [REDACTED].683 [REDACTED],684 [REDACTED].685 [REDACTED]686

[REDACTED].687 [REDACTED].688 [REDACTED].689 [REDACTED],690 [REDACTED].691

[REDACTED]. 

                                                

677 [REDACTED].
678 [REDACTED].
679 [REDACTED].
680 [REDACTED].
681 [REDACTED].
682 [REDACTED].
683 [REDACTED].
684 [REDACTED].
685 [REDACTED].
686 [REDACTED].
687 [REDACTED].
688 [REDACTED].
689 [REDACTED].
690 [REDACTED].
691 [REDACTED].
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175. [REDACTED].692 [REDACTED],693 [REDACTED].694 [REDACTED].695

176. [REDACTED]. 

177. [REDACTED].

178. [REDACTED].696

2. [REDACTED]

179. [REDACTED], 697 [REDACTED].698 [REDACTED].699 [REDACTED].700 

[REDACTED].701

3. [REDACTED] exhumation [REDACTED] cemetery and DNA analysis

[REDACTED]

180. On [REDACTED], a EULEX judge ordered the exhumation of the grave in the

[REDACTED] cemetery [REDACTED], delegating to the EULEX Office of Missing

                                                

692 [REDACTED].
693 [REDACTED].
694 [REDACTED].
695 [REDACTED].
696 [REDACTED].
697 [REDACTED].
698 [REDACTED].
699 [REDACTED].
700 [REDACTED].
701 [REDACTED].
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Persons and Forensics (‘OMPF’) the authority to conduct a post-mortem inspection.702

The body was exhumed on [REDACTED].703 On [REDACTED], the same EULEX

judge authorised the ‘Kriminalisticky Ustav Institute’ of Prague (‘Criminalistic

Institute of Prague’) to perform a DNA identification of the remains.704 

181. Zybnik DOLEJSI (W04887), a genetist from the Criminalistic Institute of

Prague, determined a probability of 99.99998% that the DNA profile extracted from

the bone fragment belonged to the biological descendant of [REDACTED]705

[REDACTED], or – expressed in different terms – 11 million times more likely than

not that this kinship relation exists.706 

182. William GOODWIN (W04875), a DNA expert who reviewed the results

obtained by W04887, found W04887’s analysis adherent to standard practice and

professional and scientific standards.707 W04875 also explained that by combining the

likelihood ratio found by W04887 with additional analysis performed by W04887 on

the Y chromosome, the 11 million likelihood increases at least by ten times.708 This is

                                                

702 031049-031095RED2, pp.031094-031095.
703 031049-031095RED2, p.031092.
704 SITF00017298-00017300, p.SITF00017298; SITF00017301-00017307RED, pp.SITF00017301-
SITF00017302.
705 [REDACTED]: SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.SITF00374136. See also 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised,
p.150.
706 110670-110674, p.110670; SITF00012456-SITF00012458-ET; W04887, 16 June 2023, pp.1966, 1970-1971.
707 111160-111162, p.111162; W04875, 4 July 2023, p.2216.
708 W04875, 4 July 2023, pp.2219-2221.
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‘extremely strong evidence’ in support of a kinship relationship between the bone

fragments taken from the grave, and the biological samples extracted from

[REDACTED].709

4.  Expert forensic evidence

a) Post-mortem examination [REDACTED]

183. On [REDACTED], Marek GASIOR (W04826) – a pathologist employed by the

OMPF - conducted a post-mortem examination on [REDACTED]’s remains,710 as

ordered by the EULEX judge.711 

184. [REDACTED], during the autopsy [REDACTED], W04826 found

[REDACTED],712 [REDACTED].713 The remains were determined to have belonged to

a male aged between [REDACTED].714

                                                

709 W04875, 4 July 2023, pp.2222-2223.
710 W04826, 26 June 2024, p.2071; 031049-031095RED2, pp.031049, 031051.
711 W04826, 27 June 2024, pp.2136-2138; 031049-031095RED2, p.031094-031095.
712 W04826, 3 July 2023, pp.2165-2166, 2188-2189; 031049-031095RED2 pp.031058, 031060, 031064,
031070.
713 W04826, 26 June 2023, pp.2075, 2077-2078, 2081; W04826, 3 July 2023, pp.2164-2165, REG00959-
REG00959; 031049-031095RED2 pp.031051, 031058-031059, 031062-031065.
714 W04826, 26 June 2023, p.2073; 031049-031095RED2, p.031072.
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185. W04826 concluded that [REDACTED] died because of gunshots

[REDACTED].715 [REDACTED].716 [REDACTED].717 According to W04826, only a

rapid surgical intervention could create a chance of saving someone affected by this

type of wound.718 [REDACTED].719 The conclusion that this wound caused the death

of the victim is reinforced by the absence of any sign of healing in the bones after the

injury, meaning that a short time, at most a few days, passed between the injury and

the victim’s death.720 

b) Number of shots and their trajectories

186. W04826 found injuries [REDACTED] right knee.721 W04826 was able to

determine that [REDACTED] was hit by two or three bullets, as well as the trajectory

of the bullets.722 One shot, and possibly a second one, went through the bones

                                                

715 W04826, 26 June 2023, pp.2085-2087; 031049-031095RED2, p.031052.
716 W04826, 26 June 2023, p.2094; W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2173.
717 W04826, 26 June 2023, pp.2094-2095; W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2201.
718 W04826, 27 June 2023, p.2113; W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2201.
719 W04826, 27 June 2023, p.2113; W04826, 3 July 2023, pp.2201-2202.
720 W04826, 26 June 2023, p.2095; W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2173.
721 W04826, 26 June 2023, p.2087.
722 031049-031095RED2, pp.031051, 031055, 031091; W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2170; 113841-113843,
p.113842.
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constituting the knee, while another shot was superficial.723 A ruler applied next to the

injuries was used to measure their size.724

187. The two or three shots,725 in relation to which W04826 was able to determine

the entry726 and exit points,727 affected the distal right femur, causing destruction of the

patella, and the right tibia.728

188. With regard to the shot identified as shot number 1 (‘Shot 1’), W04826

determined that it penetrated the lower part of the right femur of [REDACTED], front

to back, with a horizontal trajectory.729

189. The trajectory of what W04826 described as the possible second shot

(‘Shot 2’),730 indicated by W04286 with a light blue arrow, was determined to have hit

the bone from front to back, in the upward direction.731 The third shot (‘Shot 3’),

marked with a green arrow, was determined to have hit the bone from front to back,

                                                

723 W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2170. See 031049-031095RED2, pp.031091, where W04826 noted one shot to
the femur, one to the tibia, and a possible third shot on the knee.
724 W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2171. See also e.g. 031049-031095RED2, pp.031066, 031067.
725 031049-031095RED2, p.031051.
726 031049-031095RED2, p.031065, picture 29.
727 W04826, 26 June 2023, pp.2092-2093; 031049-031095RED2, p.031068, pictures 43-44.
728 W04826, 26 June 2023, p.2087, REG00960-REG00960; 031049-031095RED2, p.031051.
729 W04826, 26 June 2023, pp.2092, 2096, 2098-2099, REG00960-REG00960; W04826, 27 June 2023,
pp.2109-2110; 031049-031095RED2, p.031066, picture 36, red arrow, and p.031091, showing the location
of the shot on a drawing of a human skeleton.
730 031049-031095RED2, pp.031051, 031055.
731 W04826, 27 June 2023, p.2110; 031049-031095RED2, p.031066, picture 36, light blue arrow.
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with a similar upward trajectory, but was more superficial, i.e. did not go through the

victim’s knee.732 This shot was also found to have a trajectory going from the internal

to the external part of the victim’s leg.733

c) Respective position of the shooter and victim, and

sequence of the shots

190. W04826 considered that Shot 1 could have been the first shot fired, even though

cautioning that this was not a conclusive determination.734 While DW4-03 testified that

it was not possible to tell the sequence in which the shots were fired,735 he confirmed

that Shot 1 is compatible with a shot fired from  a [REDACTED],736 at close range,737

pressed against the victim’s leg, while the victim was sitting.738 W04826, too,

considered his findings compatible with the victim being seated at the time

[REDACTED] was shot.739 Both prosecution and defence experts therefore confirmed

the forensic evidence to be consistent with the very specific account witnessed and

described by [REDACTED].

                                                

732 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2110-2111; 031049-031095RED2, p.031066, picture 36, green arrow; W04826,
3 July 2023, pp.2171-2172.
733 W04826, 27 June 2023, p.2111; 031049-031095RED2, pp.031051, 031055.
734 113841-113843, p.113842.
735 DW4-03, 27 November 2023, pp.3693-3694.
736 DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00869.
737 DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00869.
738 DW4-03, 27 November 2023, p.3689; DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00870.
739 113841-113843, p.113842.
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191. [REDACTED].740 [REDACTED].741

192. [REDACTED].742

d) Injuries [REDACTED]

193. [REDACTED], 743 [REDACTED].744 [REDACTED].745 [REDACTED],746 

[REDACTED].747 [REDACTED],748 [REDACTED].

194. [REDACTED].749 [REDACTED].750 [REDACTED].751 [REDACTED].752

195. [REDACTED].753 [REDACTED].754 

                                                

740 DW4-03, 27 November 2023, pp.3691-3692.
741 DW4-03, 27 November 2023, pp.3963-3694.
742 [REDACTED].
743 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2121-2122; SITF00019134-SITF00019147RED2, pp.SITF00019138,
SITF00019141.
744 SITF00019134-SITF00019147RED2, pp.SITF00019138, SITF00019142-SITF00019144.
745 W04826, 3 July 2023, pp.2178-2179; SITF00019134-SITF00019147RED2, p.SITF00019147; 113841-
113843, p.113843.
746 W04826, 3 July 2023, p.2196.
747 113841-113843, p.113843.
748 DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00868.
749 DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00868.
750 [REDACTED].
751 DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00868.
752 [REDACTED].
753 DPS00864-DPS00875, p.DPS00868.
754 113841-113843, p.113843.
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196. Finally, [REDACTED] pistols and [REDACTED]755 - [REDACTED] - were in fact

used by the KLA.756

G. The arrival of new guards at the KMF

197. [REDACTED],757 [REDACTED],758 [REDACTED].759 [REDACTED].760 With their

arrival, the detention conditions at the KMF improved,761 with the detainees finally

being allowed to wash themselves.762 The beatings, too, stopped.763 The detainees in

                                                

755 The terms [REDACTED] are used to describe the same type of rifle, see DW4-03, 27 November 2023,
p.3676.
756 DW4-03, 27 November 2023, p.3684; 072508-01, 06:00 to 06:01; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.27;
074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074124.
757 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3770, 3823; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1537; SITF00013262-
00013315RED, p.SITF00013273; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.11-12; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.30.
758 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1537-1538; 064716-TR-ET Part 3 RED4, p.16.
759 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750; W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3769-3770. See
also W04280, 29 November 2023, pp.3838-3839 ([REDACTED].)
760 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013273; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.21; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860.
761 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1537-1538; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013749-
SITF00013750; SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015854; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.14;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860.
762 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1447-1448; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1537-1538, SITF00012876-
SITF00012878, p.SITF00012878 (where the tent is drawn just above Room 1); SITF00016140-
00016220RED3, p.SITF00016148; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750; 064716-TR-ET
Part 3 RED4, pp.15-16.
763 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860; 064716-TR-ET Part 5
RED4, p.5.
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Room 1 could finally sleep,764 even though it was difficult to properly rest in such

limited space.765

H. The evidence from the victims is reliable

1. The Accused’s admissions

198. As discussed below - while making certain inconsistent and/or implausible

denials to try and downplay his culpability - the Accused  has in fact acknowledged

being present at the KMF during the Indictment Period, knowing of the detention and

mistreatment of victims in this case, and has admitted his own participation in certain

of the charged crimes, together with other alleged JCE members.

199. It is apparent that the Accused drew a link between [REDACTED]766 -

[REDACTED] - and the subsequent suspect summons he received for crimes

committed in Albania in 1999.767 This is likely to be what caused the Accused to begin

                                                

764 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860.
765 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016146.
766 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074127; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1597-1598. The Accused stated that
[REDACTED], he received ‘a summons’, 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.166. This must be a reference
to the summons to the 2016 Belgian interview, which was sent to the Accused on 23 November 2015,
see 101752-101763RED2, p.101762.
767 101752-101763RED2, p.101760. Differently, his ICTY interviews focused on his possible involvement
in crimes committed in 1998 in the Dukagjin area.
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making certain partial admissions, in an attempt to come across as credible while still

seeking to avoid prosecution.

a) The Accused’s presence at the KMF 

200. The Accused admitted being present at the KMF during the Indictment Period.

He stated that his duties in 1999 included transporting KLA volunteers from their

point of arrival to the Albanian/Kosovo border,768 which required him to travel very

often between Tirana and the frontlines in northern Albania, passing through and

stopping in Kukës,769 where he also slept.770 The Accused stopped in Kukës so that

volunteers could get armed,771 and helped them to find accommodation in Kukës

town.772 

201. The Accused corroborates TW4-10’s evidence that he, the Accused, could enter

and leave the premises of the KMF as he pleased, because people knew him.773 In fact,

the Accused stated that he would come and go from the KMF.774 He went there to get

                                                

768 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074121; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.127-129. See also U009-9398-
U009-9398-ET, which tasked the Accused with the transport of the ‘command structures’ to the

frontlines of the Pashtrik Operational Zone.
769 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.124-126.
770 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.131, 140-141.
771 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, pp.074122, 074128.
772 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, pp.074122-074124.
773 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066880; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1110, 1116-1119.
774 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066878.
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provisions,775 including ammunition,776 and to meet people.777 Asked how many times

he went there during 1999, he said that he did not keep count.778 The Accused admitted

it was possible that he was in Kukës in May 1999,779 adding that he ‘stayed in Kukës

until the bombing was over’, before returning to Belgium.780 

202. Specific examples provided by the Accused show that he was, in fact, at the

KMF in May 1999. For instance, consistent with TW4-01’s evidence, he admitted being

at the KMF [REDACTED],781 in the second half of May 1999.782 The Accused also

corroborates TW4-01’s testimony [REDACTED].783 Although the Accused stated that

he did not sleep at the KMF,784 and it is possible that normally he did not,785 he slept

there on or around the arrival of [REDACTED]at the KMF.786 [REDACTED]evidence

that the Accused slept at the KMF [REDACTED],787 is highly reliable considering that

[REDACTED]. [REDACTED] the Accused stated that he was ‘an officer, a superior’,

                                                

775 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.175.
776 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.182.
777 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.124.
778 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.124-125.
779 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074124.
780 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074124.
781 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.146-147, 169; 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074126.
782 Section V.A.1.
783 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.150; 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074126; TW4-01, 30 May 1999,
p.1408.
784 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.141.
785 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1119; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2967-2968.
786 [REDACTED].
787 See Section V.A.1.
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at that time.788 Irrespective of the Accused’s actual rank, upon his arrival in Albania in

1999 he had understood that he had been appointed to lead a brigade,789 and made

claims in year 2000 about holding a high rank with the KLA when he was in Albania

in 1999.790

203. The Accused also admitted seeing W04733 serving coffee to KLA commanders

in the Command Building at the KMF.791 On this occasion, the Accused was at the

KMF to restock on ammunition for his rifle, of which he only took a few bullets at a

time and kept a reserve stock at the KMF.792 The Accused recalls that W04733 was

wearing a camouflage uniform,793 thus corroborating W04733’s evidence on what he

was made to wear after his arrival at the KMF.794 W04733 had arrived at the KMF in

the evening of the 20 May 1999 Incident, and was taken out for a night of beatings

shortly after on the same day.795 Considering the state in which W04733 was after the

20 May 1999 Incident,796 and the fact that Albanian authorities released W04733 on or

around 1 June 1999,797 the Accused must have seen W04733 at some point after the

                                                

788 [REDACTED].
789 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.77-78.
790 U009-9245-U009-9258-ET, p.U009-9256; U009-9230-U009-9235-ET, p.U009-9230.
791 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.180-181, 185, 188-189.
792 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.182.
793 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.185.
794 See Section V.A.3.
795 See Section V.A.3.
796 See Section V.D.
797 See Section V.A.3.
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20 May 1999 Incident, but before 1 June 1999. This conclusion is consistent with

W04733’s evidence that he also saw the Accused at the KMF approximately four days

before his release.798 As discussed elsewhere, the Accused was also present at the KMF

on other occasions, including at the time [REDACTED]was killed.799

b) The Accused’s involvement in beatings at the KMF 

204. The Accused also made partial admissions concerning his participation in the

20 May 1999 Incident, in which he is implicated by the consistent and mutually

corroborating evidence of TW4-01, W04733, and W01448.800

205. In this regard, the Accused admitted to beating TW4-01 and [REDACTED]801

with a wooden stick,802 [REDACTED].803 This corroborates TW4-01, [REDACTED],804

and W01448, who stated that during the 20 May 1999 Incident Sabit GECI was

imparting orders to others to beat the victims.805 The Accused also corroborates TW4-

01, W01448, and W04733’s accounts about the presence of other KLA members during

                                                

798 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9RED2, p.5.
799 Section V.F.
800 Sections V.D and V.I.3.
801 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.154, 168.
802 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.154, 163.
803 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, pp.074127-074128; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.145-148,165.
804 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1925-1926.
805 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013836.
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this beating.806 The Accused stated that TW4-01 and [REDACTED] did not pose any

danger to the KLA when he met them at the KMF.807

206. The Accused further corroborates TW4-01’s account that his tormentors levied

various accusations against him  during his mistreatment, [REDACTED].808 In this

regard, the Accused stated that he learnt information about [REDACTED] ‘around

that time, I learned it there, in Kukës’.809 This is further evidence that his presence at

the KMF – and involvement with TW4-01 and [REDACTED]’s detention – went

beyond the single episode in relation to which he has partially admitted responsibility.

207. The Accused also admitted to making wolf-like howls during the war,810 which

corroborates W04733’s evidence of the Accused’s conduct during his transport from

Romanat to the KMF.811 While the Accused denied participating in W04733’s

transport,812 he knew that someone ‘in the Durrës camp’, was accusing W04733 of

having done something bad.813 This knowledge is consistent with W04733’s evidence

about the Accused’s involvement in his transport to Kukës after his kidnapping in

                                                

806 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.152, 157-158; 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066877.
807 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066876.
808 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.153, 155,157.
809 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.153.
810 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.132.
811 Section V.A.3.
812 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.190.
813 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.183.
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Durrës, on the same day that the Accused took part in W04733 beating during the

20 May 1999 Incident.814 

2. Untruthful statements and inconsistencies in the Accused’s evidence

208. The Accused’s ill-conceived attempts to downplay his involvement in the

crimes and avoid prosecution are marred by inconsistencies and rife with implausible

denials. The untruthful parts, however, do not render unreliable the parts that

corroborate the evidence of the victims.815

209. The Accused has often resorted to drunkenness as an excuse for not

remembering certain facts, stating that he was ‘drunk during the entire period of the

war.’816 For example, in 2005, asked if he had ever beaten someone in Durrës or Kukës,

the Accused stated that he did not remember as he was ‘very, very drunk’, but

conceded that ‘it might have happened some time.’817 Yet, eleven years later, in 2016,

the Accused specifically recalled beating TW4-01 [REDACTED], ‘a few times, […]

many times’,818 ‘for about five minutes, an hour, two hours’819 - although claiming it

                                                

814 Section V.A.3.
815 See Mustafa TJ, para.237.
816 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074121; T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, p.40. See also
074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074124.
817 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, pp.35-37.
818 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, pp.074126-074127.
819 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074128.
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was only with his fists.820 In 2019, he acknowledged that he only drank to be less afraid

and energised, but did not get ‘blackout drunk’, and that he knew what he was doing,

even if he had consumed alcohol.821 The Accused’s claim  that he was drunk the whole

time is also at odds with his statement that during that time he operated a sniper rifle,

which is a high-precision weapon, and that everyone wanted him by their side for

protection.822

210. A clear sign that the Accused’s admissions are only partial is that, in different

accounts, he changed certain important details or simply contradicted himself. For

example, while in 2016 the Accused justified his violence towards TW4-01

[REDACTED],823 in 2019 he stated that [REDACTED].824 In 2016, when confronted with

TW4-01’s evidence implicating him in mistreatments within the KLA HQs, the

Accused stated that he had ‘not entered those rooms’.825 However, in 2019, he

admitted having coffee inside the Command Building.826 In 2016 the Accused

admitted that TW4-01 [REDACTED] had been arrested,827 while in 2019 he denied that

anyone was ever arrested or detained at the KMF, stating that TW4-01

                                                

820 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074128.
821 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.138-141.
822 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.123.
823 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074126.
824 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.156.
825 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, pp.074127-074128.
826 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.180-181, 185, 188-189.
827 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074127.
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[REDACTED].828 In 2016 he stated that he had learnt about [REDACTED] death three

or four years earlier,829 while in 2019 he claimed to have first learnt about it in 2016.830

211. Furthermore, [REDACTED]the Accused was part of a group of KLA members

looking for W04733 in his home [REDACTED],831 but did not find him.832

[REDACTED].833 

212. In 2019, the Accused characterised as ‘propaganda’ allegations that members

of the KLA from Jablanica/Jabllanicë paid threatening visits to households in the

Đakovica/Gjakovë area in 1998, looking for weapons,834 and denied knowing that

W04733 was targeted by the KLA.835 However, the Accused admitted being in or

around the village [REDACTED], where the attack against W04733 and his family took

place,836 but stated it was to train recruits.837 Yet, in 2016, the Accused had in fact

already admitted that in 1998 the KLA military police had been looking for W04733 in

Kosovo838 and stated ‘[i]f I had caught him one year earlier, he wouldn’t have been

                                                

828 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.155, 157-158.
829 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074127.
830 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.165.
831 [REDACTED].
832 [REDACTED].
833 [REDACTED].
834 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.54.
835 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.60, 189.
836 [REDACTED]; Section V.A.3.
837 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.60-63; 066866-066882-ET Revised, pp.066878-066879.
838 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074128.
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able to testify about anything anymore. Unfortunately, I never found him. He had

hidden among the leaders of the KLA.’839

213. In 2016 and 2019, when he knew he was suspected for crimes committed in

Albania in 1999, and during the Defence’s opening statement in this trial,840 the

Accused tried to distance himself as much as possible from the KMF, stating that upon

his arrival to Kukës, at the end of March 1999,841 he spent only a few days in Kukës

before leaving for the frontlines in Northern Albania to meet Fatmir LIMAJ.842 In fact,

as he had clearly stated in 2005, after arriving to the KMF at the end of March 1999,

the Accused remained in Kukës until he went to Burrel for training, where he was

arrested for the killing of a soldier, and then released.843 The Accused went to Burrel

around the end of April 1999, with Ruzhdi SARAMATI, and stayed there until at least

2 May 1999.844 After the Burrel incident, the Accused went back to Kukës. This is

proved by his admissions reviewed above,845 the evidence of victims,846 KLA

                                                

839 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074128.
840 Defence Opening Statements, p.584.
841 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.98-100; 066883-066886, p.066884.
842 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.103, 112-113; 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074121.
843 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, pp.31-34.
844 Section III.B.2.
845 Section V.H.1.
846 Sections V.A.1., V.A.3., 4, V.D., and V.F.
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soldiers,847 and by W04754, who testified that he issued a sniper rifle to the Accused

after he had come back from Burrel.848

214. Finally, on 11 February 2019, asked whether he had a criminal record in

Belgium, the Accused stated ‘[c]lean, never had any problems’.849 While by then he

was yet to be convicted for that crime, in 2018 he had stabbed and seriously injured a

person in a bar. His house had been searched in 2018 already in relation to that event,

and a knife confiscated.850 This is further evidence of the Accused’s propensity to hide

relevant information on matters concerning his criminal responsibility.

3. The perpetrator identifications are reliable 

a) Victims’ identification of the Accused 

215. Several victims reliably identified and named the Accused as one of the

perpetrators at the KMF. All of them were also victims during the 20 May 1999

Incident.851 They either knew the Accused from before or learnt his identity during

their detention.

                                                

847 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1074-1075.
848 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2966, 2968.
849 066864 TR ET Part 1 Revised 1, p.4.
850 118356-118384-ET, p.118367.
851 Section V.D.
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216. TW4-01 identified the Accused as one of the perpetrators of the 20 May 1999

Incident852 and of the later mistreatment [REDACTED].853 [REDACTED],854

[REDACTED].855 TW4-01 identified the Accused during a photo board procedure

[REDACTED],856 and in a photograph in 2019.857 The Accused himself admitted to

seeing and beating TW4-01 at the KMF.858

217. W04733, too, identified the Accused as one of the perpetrators of the 20 May

1999 Incident.859 While W04733 met the Accused for the first time on his transfer from

Romanat to Kukës on or about 20 May 1999,860 he had seen pictures of the Accused

and knew who he was before that. W04733 knew the Accused from his work as a

police officer before the war.861 The Accused used to operate within the area of

jurisdiction of W04733’s police station in [REDACTED].862 The Accused was a person

                                                

852 Section V.D.
853 Section V.F.1.
854 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1407-1408.
855 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1407-1408; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.148-150, 154; 074117-074129-
ET Revised 1, p.074126.
856 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1493-1494; SPOE00056067-00056080, p.SPOE00056072.
857 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1495-1496; 059118-059144RED2, p.059124.
858 Section V.H.1.
859 Section V.D.
860 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019836.
861 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019836; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741,
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, p.11, SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013793.
862 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.37-38; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, p.11; 066888-TR-ET Part 1
Revised, p.18; 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, pp.23-24; Section IV.B.
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of interest to the police,863 and therefore was depicted in a police photo album,864 which

W04733 was able to describe.865 W04733 also knew that the Accused had been in

prison.866 W04733 knew that the Accused was known to howl like a wolf and was

therefore referred to as ‘Ujku’.867 

218. This evidence is consistent with that of the Accused, who in 1998 was a KLA

member in the Jablanica/Jabllanicë area,868 the same area where W04733 was from and

had worked.869 The Accused stated that in 1998 he knew all the members of the local

police,870 knew that W04733 was a ‘Yugoslavian policeman’,871 knew his name,872 and

that he was from [REDACTED].873 He also knew that, in 1998, W04733 was no longer

part of the Serb police.874

219. In the van from Romanat to Kukës, the Accused looked different from the

photographs W04733 knew, but when the Accused started howling like a wolf and

                                                

863 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019836; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.37-38. See also
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, p.11.
864 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 1 RED3, pp.37-38; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741;
SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019836.
865 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 1 RED3, p.38.
866 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, p.11.
867 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741.
868 See Section IV.B.
869 See Section V.A.3; TW4-01, 27 March 2023, pp.629-630; REG00937-REG00937; REG00938-REG00938.
870 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, p.67.
871 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.60-63.
872 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.64-65.
873 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074129.
874 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.187. [REDACTED].
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was called ‘Ujku’ by the other KLA soldiers, W04733 knew it was him.875 This was only

hours before the brutal beatings of the 20 May 1999 Incident, in which the Accused

personally participated.876

220. W01448 did not know the Accused before his detention at the KMF, but after

the 20 May 1999 Incident he learnt from his co-detainees that one of the perpetrators

was ‘Pjetër Shala from Dushanov, alias Commander Ujku’.877 The evidence of the

Accused himself establishes that, in fact, he resided in Dušanovo/ Dushanovë just

before the war.878

221. In 2010, W01448 was shown nine photographs during a photo board

identification.879 W01448 stated that while he was not sure, he thought that ‘the man

pictured in photo No5 [is] the one called “commander wolf” real name Pjetar Shala’.880

Although the officers who assembled the photo board later expressed doubts about

the authenticity of the pictures used therein,881 and irrespectively of whether that

                                                

875 SITF00019824-00019876RED2, pp.SITF00019836-SITF00019837; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, p.12;
SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018741.
876 See Section V.D.
877 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016231-SITF00016232; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
p.SITF00013743.
878 T001-0105-3-A-TR, p.42.
879 SITF00374536-SITF00374541RED, p.SITF00374539.
880 SITF00374536-SITF00374541RED, p.SITF00374536.
881 SITF00374534-00374534, p.SITF00374534.
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picture actually depicts the Accused, W01448 clearly – though hesitantly - chose the

person closest in appearance to the Accused from amongst those in the photo board.

b) Identifications of JCE members and other persons of 

interest are reliable

222. Victims consistently implicated Sabit GECI in the crimes.882 Like the Accused,883

TW4-01 and W01448 knew  Sabit GECI by the nickname ‘Qopa’,884 explained that he

was an invalid due to an accident,885 and stated that he used crutches at the KMF.886

Both W01448887 and TW4-01888 identified Sabit GECI in a photograph. His presence at

the KMF is further confirmed by TW4-10,889 W04379890 and W04848.891

                                                

882 See e.g. TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1458; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013741-
SITF00013742; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013836; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.24-25;
SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019838.
883 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.143-144.
884 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1513; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013759.
885 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1513.
886 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1513; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013741-SITF00013742;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.3; SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372502.
887 SITF00013886-00013908RED, p.SITF00013887.
888 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1496, and SITF00012895-00012913RED, p.SITF00012909 (no.42).
889 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1105-1107.
890 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.126-127.
891 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014098.
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223. The victims implicate Sabit GECI in, inter alia, the 20 May 1999 Incident,892 in

the beating of KLA or FARK soldiers in Room 1,893 and the repeated beatings that took

place in Room 1.894 The victims consistently identified Sabit GECI as a high-ranking

KLA member, and provided corroborative evidence that GECI was the person in

charge when he was in the room.895 Based on the observation of their interactions,

TW4-01 testified that the Accused took orders from Sabit GECI.896

224. Several witnesses implicated Xhemshit KRASNIQI in their arrest and detention

at the KMF.897 The victims learnt KRASNIQI’s identity directly from him,898 or from

their co-detainees,899 and recognised him in photographs shown to them.900

[REDACTED]901 and W01448902 saw  Xhemshit KRASNIQI wearing a red jacket during

                                                

892 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1453, 1458, 1477; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.3, 23.
893 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1507; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013754; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013759.
894 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1513; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013754.
895 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1929; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013838; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013743, SITF00013763.
896 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1925-1926.
897 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1187; 060664-TR-ET Part 2 RED2, p.3; 108850-TR-ET Part 1 RED;
SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013271-SITF00013272; SITF00372498-00372510RED4,
p.SITF00372500; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 2 RED3, pp.2-3, 19-20.
898 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1187; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1289.
899 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.6, 17.
900 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1497, SITF00012895-00012913RED, p.SITF00012910 (no.53); TW4-11, 2 May
2023, p.1189-1191; SITF00013100-00013122RED3, p.SITF00013115 (photo no.47).
901 [REDACTED].
902 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013764.
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their release from the Prizren MUP building on 18 June 1999, which is confirmed by a

video broadcast by ARD TV Tagesschau from that day.903

225. Several victims also stated that Xhemshit KRASNIQI was one of the

perpetrators during the 20 May 1999 Incident,904 took part in other beatings,905 had a

role in the shooting [REDACTED],906 had a high-ranking role,907 and was in charge of

detention matters,908 although when Sabit GECI was present, GECI was the one in

charge.909 Evidence of KLA members corroborates that KRASNIQI was stationed at

the KMF.910 

226. Both TW4-11 and TW4-02 stated that they were interrogated by W04848,911 who

introduced himself as a judge or prosecutor,912 and whom TW4-11 identified in a

                                                

903 072508-01, at 06:10 to 06:15; 072508-01-TR-ET. That the man in a red jacket is Xhemshit KRASNIQI is
further confirmed by a comparison of the video with SITF00012895-00012913RED, p.SITF00012910,
photograph n.53.
904 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1453, 1477; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743; 082892-TR-
AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.3, 22, 28.
905 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1493, 1539; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013754.
906 Section V.F.
907 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743.
908 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1929.
909 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1929; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013838; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743. See also SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016231-
SITF00016232, where W01448 describes how Sabit GECI issued orders during his beating.
910 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014098; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3094-3095.
911 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1261, 1265-1267; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, pp.2, 26; 060664-TR-ET Part 4 RED3,
p.17.
912 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1261.
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photograph.913 W04848, in turn, confirmed that TW4-11 was brought to him for

interrogation.914 TW4-01, too, testified about a ‘judge or prosecutor’ present during the

20 May 1999 Incident,915 although he could not identify W04848’s photograph.916

c) The victims’ evidence is mutually corroborative

227. TW4-01 [REDACTED] detention at the KMF is corroborated not only by the

Accused,917 but by fellow detainees,918 and other KLA soldiers.919 

228. W04733’s detention is corroborated by co-detainees,920 some of which

recognised his photograph at trial.921 Both TW4-01 and W01448 stated that he worked

as a police officer,922 and corroborated W04733’s evidence that he wore a black KLA923

                                                

913 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1266-1267, SITF00013100-00013122RED3, p.SITF00013119 (no.74).
914 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014100; SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016916.
915 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453.
916 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1811.
917 Section V.H.1.
918 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1210-1212, 1213-1214; 059341-059350; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.6;
SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856. See also 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.1-3;
SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013276; SITF00015825-00015925RED, pp.SITF00015851-
SITF00015852; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014696-SPOE00014697.
919 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1073-1074.
920 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1438; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1307-1309, 1326-1328; SITF00013852-
00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013856, SITF00013858; 059341-059350, p.059350.
921 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1811-1812; 059113-059144, p.059127; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1307-1309,
1327; 059341-059350, p.059350.
922 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1455; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016144.
923 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856.
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uniform when he arrived at the KMF.924 W01448 corroborates W04733’s account of his

kidnapping, release, and timing of his detention.925 TW4-01 testified that he met

W04733 [REDACTED]926 which the evidence shows W04733 did in fact attend.927

229. W01448’s presence at the KMF is corroborated by W04733, who found him in

the Command Building Detention Room.928 W04733 and W01448 both stated that

when W04733 arrived dressed in a black KLA uniform,929 W01448 thought that

W04733 was a KLA member.930 TW4-01, W04733 and TW4-05 all stated, consistent

with W01448, that the latter had come from Germany,931 and was arrested by KLA

members in Durrës.932 TW4-01, who referred to W01448 as the ‘guy from Drenica’,933

                                                

924 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013742;
SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013836; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1453.
925 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016144.
926 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1492.
927 SITF00019793-00019810, p.SITF00019793.
928 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5, 7, 11.
929 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856.
930 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.7; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013856.
931 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1440; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.7; SITF00372498-00372510RED4,
pp.SITF00372500-SITF00372501.
932 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1556; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5, 18; SITF00372498-00372510RED4,
p.SITF00372500.
933 See e.g. TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1717. W01448 came from [REDACTED], Srbica/Skënderaj
Municipality (SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013852), and as it can be verified through an open
source search, Skënderaj is the largest city in the Drenica region of Kosovo.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/111 of 193



112

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

identified him  in a video of KFOR’s operation at the MUP building in Prizren in June

1999,934 thereby corroborating W01448’s account about his liberation.935

230. Victims corroborate that TW4-11, [REDACTED]936 [REDACTED],937 was

detained at the KMF in Room 1.938 W04848 provides additional corroboration about

TW4-11’s detention and interrogation,939 and corroborates W01448 about the reasons

for TW4-11’s detention.940

                                                

934 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1716-1720, REG00957-REG00957, 050084-01 at 02:38.
935 Section V.A.4.
936 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013833-00013847RED4, p.SITF00013837;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.6.
937 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.6; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.1; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1183-
1184.
938 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013754,
SITF00013757; 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.1; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.31; TW4-01, 31 May 2023,
p.1531.
939 SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016916; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1266-1267; SITF00013100-
00013122RED3, p.SITF00013119, picture n.74.
940 SITF00013736-SITF00013800, p.SITF00013757; SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016916.
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231. TW4-05’s detention in Room 1941 and the fact that [REDACTED],942 is

corroborated by several co-detainees.943 W01448 corroborates TW4-05 by identifying

him as the [REDACTED].944 [REDACTED].945 

232. TW4-04’s presence at the KMF is corroborated by TW4-02 and W01448.946

TW4-02’s presence is corroborated by TW4-01,947 who identified him as

[REDACTED]948 and stated that he was detained [REDACTED].949 TW4-01 also

corroborates TW4-02’s evidence that the latter’s [REDACTED].950

233. Some differences exist between the victims’ accounts of their detention in the

Command Building Detention Room, with W01448 and W04733 stating that both

TW4-01 [REDACTED] were detained [REDACTED] before and after the 20 May 1999

Incident,951 and TW4-01 testifying that [REDACTED].952 Similarly, TW4-01 testified

                                                

941 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013762.
942 SITF00372498-00372510RED4, p.SITF00372500.
943 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.5-7; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013811-
SPOE00013812; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; TW4-09, 30 March 2023, pp.981-982.
944 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013758; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858;
SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016143.
945 [REDACTED].
946 060664-TR-ET Part 5RED4, pp.1, 5-6; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013762.
947 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1434.
948 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1434.
949 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1434.
950 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1909.
951 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013741-SITF00013743; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013857; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.15-16.
952 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1471; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1915.
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that after the 20 May 1999 Incident, W04733 was moved to Room 1,953 while W04733

stated that he was taken back to the Command Building Detention Room, and to

Room 1 only after a few days.954 These differences in the victims’ recollections can be

explained with the passage of time,955 the extreme circumstances they were in, as well

as with the fact that, eventually, they all came to be held together in the Detention

Building. 

d) The victims are corroborated by other evidence

234. The evidence of the victims is also corroborated by other evidence, including

that of certain KLA members – who, for example, confirm the presence of the victims,

as well as identified perpetrators, at the KMF during the relevant timeframe. For

example, while W04848 tried to distance himself from the crimes committed at the

KMF, he admitted that some people where ‘isolated’ in the courtyard of the KMF,956

and corroborated the detention of TW4-01, [REDACTED],957 TW4-04,958 and TW4-11.959 

                                                

953 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1455-1457.
954 SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186; SPOE00185335-00185363RED3,
p.SPOE00185336; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013812; SITF00019824-
00019876RED2, p.SITF00019830; 106978-107020, p.106988.
955 W04733 had a different recollection over time as to whether [REDACTED] cfr. SPOE00185335-
00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185336, 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.29, with 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4
RED3, p.14; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186.
956 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014095.
957 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014100.
958 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014101.
959 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014100; SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016916.
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235. Equally, the victims – who corroborate each other on the presence of medical

personnel and facilities at the KMF960 - are also corroborated by KLA soldiers who

were stationed at or visited the KMF.961 

236. Other instances of corroboration by KLA members is noted throughout the

brief. In addition, as set out in other sections, the victim evidence is also corroborated

by inter alia:

a. the evidence of family members, including as to injuries and the

condition of the victims upon release;

b. photographs, diagrams and video of the KMF, which are consistent with

the victims’ accounts and descriptions;

c. medical evidence, which corroborates scars and injuries consistent with

the victims’ accounts of their mistreatment;

d. expert forensic and ballistics evidence, which is consistent with the

victims’ account of the fatal injuries inflicted upon [REDACTED]; and

                                                

960 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1529, 1547; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1834; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1346;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.29-32; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013759.
961 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1047; DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2750-2751; DW4-05, 3 October 2023,
pp.2834-2835; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2932-2933; W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3183-3184;
W04820, 28 November 2023, pp.3824-3825.
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e. the Accused’s own statements, which corroborate inter alia the

mistreatment of the victims at the KMF and his own participation

therein.

I. The Defence Case

237. The Defence case, as presented in the Defence Pre-Trial Brief, Opening

Statements and during the trial, appears to be that the Accused visited the KMF

throughout the war on a few isolated occasions only to get supplies in order to further

the KLA’s war efforts.962 Being at the KMF only sporadically, the Accused could not

have committed any of the crimes charged in the Indictment,963 the occurrence of

which is ‘not obvious.’964 The Defence claims that certain SPO witnesses are

unreliable,965 and that their evidence has been fabricated.966 

238. The Defence called ten fact witnesses live, three under Rules 153 and 155, and

two experts.967 Preliminarily, the SPO notes that the Defence chose not to take written

statements from their witnesses,968 capturing instead relevant parts of their evidence

in summary notes prepared after meeting with them.969 The absence of such

                                                

962 Defence Pre-Trial Brief, paras 8, 48-50; Defence Opening Statements, pp.574-576, 584-587.
963 Defence Pre-Trial Brief, paras 8, 52, 61-78; Defence Opening Statements, pp.586-590.
964 Defence Opening Statements, p.588.
965 Defence Pre-Trial Brief, paras 21-22; Defence Opening Statements, pp.579, 590-591; TW4-01, 2 June
2023, pp.1683-1692.
966 Defence Pre-Trial Brief, paras 19-20; Defence Opening Statements, pp.594-595.
967 Defence Witness List.
968 Defence Preparation Conference Submissions, para.27.
969 Defence Preparation Conference, 24 August 2023, pp.2352-2354.
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statements has impacted the degree to which these witnesses’ evidence could be

tested.

239. As discussed below, however, none of the Defence’s evidence has undermined

the Prosecution case, or the responsibility of the Accused. The SPO addresses below

specific Defence challenges regarding the Accused’s presence at the KMF, Defence

witnesses’ denials about the occurrence of crimes at the KMF, and regarding the

credibility of TW4-01 and W04733.

1. The Accused’s presence at the KMF

a) Witnesses who stated they did not know and/or never saw

the Accused at the KMF 

240. W03887, Naser KOQINAJ (DW4-05), DW4-02, Bardhyl MAHMUTI

(DW4-06), W04280, and W04405 testified that they never met or heard of a person

called Pjetër SHALA,970 or anyone nicknamed Ujku, during the war.971

241. First, in assessing the evidence of these witnesses, it bears recalling that the

Accused himself has admitted visiting the KMF regularly to accompany volunteers

and get supplies, and being there on two specific occasions when TW4-01,

                                                

970 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3219; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2831; DW4-02, 2 October 2023,
pp.2753-2754, 2777; DW4-06, 21 September 2023, p.2608; W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3778.
971 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3219; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2831; DW4-02, 2 October 2023, p.2754;
W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3779.
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[REDACTED], and W04733 were detained there.972 This evidence is corroborated by

that of other KLA members973 and victims who testified about his presence.974

242. Second, some of these witnesses also denied seeing individuals whose presence

at the KMF during the Indictment Period is otherwise established - demonstrating that

their evidence regarding who was present at the KMF is unreliable, implausible, or

both. W03887, for example, stated that he never met Sabit GECI or Xhemshit

KRASNIQI at the KMF during the war.975 DW4-05, a member of Brigade 128976 who

between March and June 1999 worked in the Uniforms Warehouse at the KMF,977 also

surprisingly stated that he did not know W03887,978 who had his workshop inside the

same building,979 during the same period of time.980 DW4-05 also denied seeing Sabit

GECI,981 and Xhemshit KRASNIQI (whom DW4-05 knew) at the KMF,982 despite

                                                

972 Section V.H.1.
973 TW4-10, 1 May 2923, p.1075; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.138-148. See also Section V.I.1.b.
for the timing and circumstances of W04754’s meetings with the Accused.
974 Section V.H.3.a.
975 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3215.
976 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2828.
977 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2815-2817, 2820-2821, 2823-2825, 2868; REG00968-REG00968; REG00970-
REG00970; TW4-10, 2 May 2023, p.1145.
978 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2828-2829.
979 W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3196-3199; REG00987-REG00987; REG00988-REG00988.
980 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3176.
981 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2878-2879.
982 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2879.
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compelling evidence of their presence coming from inter alia victims,983 W04848,984 and

the Accused. DW4-05, who worked in logistics,985 even claimed not to know W04754,986

who was in charge of logistics for Operation Arrow and generally based at the KMF.987

243. Third, some of these witnesses’ own presence at the KMF was sporadic.

W03887 was spent most of his time in the field.988 DW4-02, a KLA member who was

based at ‘Pavillion 1’ during the month of April 1999,989 stated that he only visited the

KMF twice, briefly, outside of the Indictment Period.990 W04405’s evidence is simply

not credible.991

244. While DW4-05 and W04280 were both present at the KMF, for the reasons

illustrated below  (and also, in the case of DW4-05, the implausible denials set out

                                                

983 Section V.H.3.b.
984 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014098.
985 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2817.
986 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2880.
987 W04754 23 October 2023, pp.2920-2921.
988 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3321-3332, 3339-3340, 3343-3344; W03887, 22 November 2023, p.3441.
989 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2739-2742. DW4-02 testified that he joined the KLA further to the call
for a general mobilization, that he arrived in Kukës in February 1999 (although he was unsure about
the dates), stayed there for about a month, and then went to Burrel to train (DW4-02, 2 October 2023,
pp.2735-2736, 2739). However, the KLA call for mobilization happened on or around the end of March
1999 (see Section III.A.), and KLA members moved from Kukës to Burrel towards the end of April 1999
(Section III.B.2.). It follows that DW4-02 arrived to Kukës at the end of March 1999.
990 DW4-02, 2 October 2023, pp.2741, 2743, 2750-2752 (DW4-02’s visits took place before he went to

Burrel).
991 Section V.I.3.a.4.b.
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above), their evidence is not credible with respect to detentions or the Accused’s

responsibility therefor.992

245. These witnesses’ evidence that they did not meet the Accused has therefore

extremely limited probative value with regard to the Accused’s criminal

responsibility.

b) Timing and circumstances of W04754’s meetings with the

Accused

246. During his testimony, W04754 changed certain details of his 2019 SPO

interview with regard to the Accused’s presence at the KMF.

247. W04754, who was based at the KMF from early April 1999 until around 10 or

11 June 1999,993 testified that he met the Accused twice during this period.994 W04754

testified, consistent with his prior statement,995 that the first encounter happened at

the KMF,996 around 10 or 15 April,997 when the Accused was based ‘at Ruzhdi

SARAMATI’s’.998 This is consistent with the evidence of the Accused, who stated that

                                                

992 Section V.I.2.
993 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2920-2921, 2982.
994 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2966.
995 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3061-3062, 3067-3069.
996 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2966-2967.
997 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2969.
998 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2967-2969; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3067-3069.
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he arrived at the KMF at the end of March 1999999 and remained there until he was

sent to Burrel for training,1000 an event which took place at the end of April 1999.1001 It

is also consistent with the evidence of W04848, who stated that around mid-April

1999, SARAMATI was gathering soldiers to prepare to go to Burrel to train.1002

248. However, differently from his prior statement, W04754 testified that it was on

this occasion that the Accused expressed the intention to go to the frontline and

requested a weapon, adding that the Accused stated that he did not intend to return

until the end of the war.1003 In his 2019 interview, W04754 had associated this

occurrence with the second meeting he had with the Accused, which W04754 stated

had taken place ‘a month, month and a half’ after the first one,1004 approximately

towards the end of May or beginning of June 1999.1005

249. The timeline provided by W04754 in 2019 is the correct one, because W04754

recalled that the Accused expressed his intention to go to the frontlines, and requested

                                                

999 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.98.
1000 T000-2748-T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, pp.30-34.
1001 Section V.H.2.
1002 This is established by the timeline provided by W04848 about his arrival to Kukës, his meeting with
Ruzhdi SARAMATI, and SARAMATI’s subsequent departure for Burrel with his soldiers,

SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014089, SITF00014091-SITF00014093. See also 060124-TR-ET Part
2 Revised RED4, p.99.
1003 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2967-2968.
1004 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.3061-3062, 3067-3069, 3079.
1005 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3067-3072, 3090.
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a weapon, upon returning from Burrel.1006 The Accused must have come back from

Burrel – at the earliest – after 2 May 1999, the date of the killing of Halil GASHI, for

which the Accused was arrested in Burrel.1007 This explanation is also consistent with

Ruzhdi SARAMATI and his men leaving for Operation Arrow, to fight in

Gorožup/Gorozhup, after 20 May 1999;1008 with the Accused’s presence at the KMF at

the time of TW4-01’s arrest in [REDACTED];1009 and with his participation in the

20 May 1999 Incident.1010 

250. In this regard, it is noted that W04754 has no direct knowledge about the

Accused actually going to the frontlines,1011 but only of his stated intention to do so.1012

W04754’s testimony that his second encounter with the Accused took place in a café

in Kukës, during which the Accused told him that he had ‘fulfilled his national duty’

and intended to go back to Belgium,1013 is also something that W04754 had never

mentioned before.1014

                                                

1006 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2966-2968.
1007 Section III.B.2.
1008 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.3000.
1009 Sections V.A.1. and V.H.1.
1010 Section V.D.
1011 W04754, 25 October 2023, pp.3140-3141.
1012 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3075-3076.
1013 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2969-2970.
1014 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3076-3077, 3086, 3090-3091.
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251. W04754’s evidence about the Accused’s presence at the KMF should also be

considered in light of the fact that W04754 spent ‘[m]ost of the time […] moving

around’,1015 as he frequently travelled to the different KLA bases in Albania for several

days, including going ‘almost every day’ to Krume,1016 ‘over ten times’ to Cahan,1017

twice to Koshare,1018, as well as to other locations,1019 and several times to the frontlines

to resupply KLA units.1020 These trips took many hours,1021 and often included

overnight stays.1022 After Operation Arrow  started, W04754 had to travel even more

frequently outside Kukës and was ‘mostly on the ground’.1023

252. The changes in W04754’s evidence over time, in addition to other omissions

and denials discussed below, show that W04754 tried to deny the commission of

crimes at the KMF and shield the Accused from criminal responsibility.1024

                                                

1015 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3013. See also W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2921, 2926.
1016 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3014.
1017 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3016.
1018 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3016-3018.
1019 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3021-3022.
1020 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3018-3020.
1021 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3014, 3017
1022 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3015, 3022.
1023 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3024.
1024 W04754 has a family relationship with the Accused: 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.173; T000-2748-
T000-2748-Alb and Eng Transcript-1, p.39; W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2964-2965.
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2. Denial of crimes

253. Several Defence witnesses denied knowing about the detention and

mistreatment of individuals at the KMF. These denials occurred in the context of

testimonies rife with other implausible denials and evasions. 

254. W04754, DW4-05 and W03887 did not recognise the remains of the Detention

Building in a picture taken in 2019,1025 or its original appearance in a photo taken in

2009.1026 W04754 testified that he never saw this building,1027 and that he did not see or

hear of anyone detained at the KMF during the time he was based there.1028

255. W04754’s claims are not credible considering that (i) the Detention Building

stood in the middle of the courtyard,1029 (ii) that ‘whenever [he] had time’1030 W04754

used to go to the Dormitory Warehouse,1031 the entrance of which was a few meters

                                                

1025 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3048; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2869-2870; W03887, 21 November
2023, pp.3383-3387; REG00993-REG00993; Annex 1, figure 17.
1026 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3048-3053; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2870; W03887, 21 November
2023, pp.3387-3390; 074390-074391, p.074390; Annex 1, figure 11.
1027 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3053-3056.
1028 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3055-3056.
1029 Section III.C.
1030 W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3037.
1031 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2957-2958.
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away from the window of Room 1 overlooking the courtyard,1032 and (iii) that he made

use of the toilets at the KMF, located in front of the Detention Building.1033 

256. The Detention Building is also conspicuously absent from  W04754’s sketch of

the KMF.1034 This is in contrast to the sketches drawn by TW4-01,1035 TW4-02,1036 and

W01448,1037 which are also corroborated by the 1996 planimetry of the KMF, in

depicting a building in the middle of the courtyard.1038 

257.  [REDACTED].1039 [REDACTED].1040

258. Asked whether he had ever seen the Detention Building given that it stood in

the middle of the courtyard, DW4-05 answered: ‘[m]aybe it was there, but I have

forgotten. [...] I didn’t look around. I just went to my workplace. I wasn’t interested in

other things.’1041 

                                                

1032 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3036-3037; REG00977-REG00977.
1033 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2958-2960; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3037-3038; Section III.C.
1034 083525-083534RED, p.083525; Annex 1, Figure 22.
1035 REG00954-REG00954; Annex 1, Figure 24.
1036 060653-060663-ET, p.060653; Annex 1, Figure 23.
1037 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013868; Annex 1, Figure 20; U003-2231-U003-2231-ET;
Annex 1, Figure 14.
1038 065437-065439, p.065437; Annex 1, Figure 18.
1039 SITF00013123-SITF00013153RED, p.SITF00013135-SITF00013136.
1040 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3101-3107.
1041 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2883-2884.
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259. DW4-05 similarly testified that he did not know of any people being detained

at the KMF during the period he was there.1042 However, DW4-05 also stated that

where he worked there were no toilets,1043 and, incredibly, that to relieve himself he

undertook a twenty-minute trip in and out of the KMF to go to his home in Kukës

town.1044 Apparently, DW4-05 did not even try to ascertain whether there were toilets

within the KMF that he could have used.1045 When further pressed by the Panel as to

why he did not ask to use the toilets within the premises, DW4-05 kept providing

evasive answers,1046 eventually conceding that ‘[m]aybe there was a toilet. I don’t

remember’.1047

260. In spite of the overwhelming amount of evidence to the contrary,1048 DW4-05

also claimed that there were no persons of Roma ethnicity at the KMF while he was

there.1049 Confronted with the District Court of Mitrovica’s acknowledgement that

some individuals were forced to work long hours in the warehouse every day,

DW4-05 simply stated that was not true.1050

                                                

1042 Provisional Transcript (DW4-05), 3 October 2023, p.2883.
1043 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2844.
1044 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2844-2845.
1045 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2845.
1046 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2845.
1047 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2846.
1048 Section V.A.8.
1049 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2875.
1050 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2877-2878.
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261. DW4-05’s testimony was characterised by general reticence and evasiveness,1051

and internal contradictions.1052 The Panel should also consider that, at the time of

DW4-05’s testimony, TW4-01 recognised him as one of the perpetrators present

[REDACTED].1053 The Panel should find that DW4-05 was not credible, and decline to

rely on his evidence concerning the commission of crimes and the presence and

responsibility of the Accused.

262. W03887 claimed that a number of broken trucks in the middle of the

courtyard1054 prevented him from seeing the buildings behind,1055 including the

Detention Building.1056 W03887 was not aware that people were detained at the KMF,

but learnt about this later through the Sabit GECI and Xhemshit KRASNIQI trials.1057

263. W03887’s claims about the Detention Building defy credibility, considering that

at times he worked in the courtyard, outside the Food Warehouse,1058 slept in the

                                                

1051 See e.g. DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2882 (claiming that he didn’t look around when going to work
every day, and that he was not interested in anything else).
1052 Cfr., e.g., DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2835 (stating that after the war, he went home to Prizren and
remained there) and DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2885, 2890 (admitting that in fact he went to Nashec
as part of his logistics duties).
1053 115994-115995RED.
1054 W03887, 20 November 2023, pp.3208, 3211; W03887, 22 November 2023, p.3420.
1055 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3208; W03887, 21 November 2023, p.3379.
1056 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3380, 3382; REG00989-REG00989, no.16; REG00994-REG00994, no.5. 
1057 W03887, 22 November 2023, p.3437.
1058 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3391-3394; REG00994-REG00994 (the location where W03887
worked in the courtyard is marked with no.3).
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broken truck standing parallel to the Food Warehouse’s wall,1059 and walked across

the courtyard to reach the Command Building.1060 W03887’s testimony was marred by

numerous contradictions with his prior SPO statement, including by increasing the

number of broken trucks allegedly obstructing his view,1061 and testifying that they

stood in the middle of the courtyard, in front of the Detention Building, rather than

next to the warehouse wall, as previously stated.1062 

264. W04280 testified that [REDACTED].1063 He did not remember the Detention

Building,1064 did not see anyone detained, did not see anyone performing labour at the

KMF while he worked there, and did not know of anyone who passed away at the

KMF. W04280 denied [REDACTED].1065 He also denied [REDACTED],1066 or

[REDACTED].1067 In this respect, W04280 is not a credible witness.

                                                

1059 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3401-3403.
1060 W03887, 22 November 2023, pp.3436-3437.
1061 W03887, 22 November 2023, pp.3419-3420.
1062 W03887, 22 November 2023, pp.3421-3424; 077857B Part 2 RED, at 10:28 to 12:00.
1063 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3769.
1064 W04280, 29 November 2023, p.3843; 074390-074391, p.074390.
1065 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3784-3787.
1066 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3787-3788.
1067 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3825.
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265. W04280 provided information consistent with that of the victims about

[REDACTED].1068 He also made some partial admissions including [REDACTED];1069

[REDACTED];1070 and meeting W04848 at the KMF.1071

266. W04280’s denials stand in contrast with the consistent evidence

[REDACTED].1072 [REDACTED].1073 [REDACTED].1074

267. W04280 was evidently evasive in his answers, especially about his tasks at the

KMF and the locations where he performed them.1075 He had no recollection about the

layout of the KMF,1076 and claimed not to have had [REDACTED],1077 which is

inconsistent with [REDACTED].’1078 [REDACTED], he stated that he did not know.1079

                                                

1068 Cfr. W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3806-3808, with 060664-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.11-12; 064716-
TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.29-30; TW4-01, 31 May 1999, p.1537.
1069 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3750-3751, 3753.
1070 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3769-3770.
1071 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3779.
1072 Section V.G.
1073 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3824.
1074 W04280, 29 November 2023, pp.3845-3846.
1075 See e.g. W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3771-3773; W04280, 29 November 2023, pp.3838-3839.
1076 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3774-3776; W04289, 29 November 2023, p.3844.
1077 W04280, 29 November 2023, p.3842
1078 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3772.
1079 W04280, 29 November 2023, p.3839.
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[REDACTED],1080 [REDACTED].1081 W04280’s reticence to testify truthfully was rooted

in security concerns, which he shared with the SPO but denied at trial.1082

268. For these reasons, W04754, DW4-05, W03887, and W04280’s denials of crimes

at the KMF are not credible. They also stand in stark contrast with the evidence of the

victims in this case,1083 of other KLA members,1084 and of the Accused himself.1085

3. Credibility of Prosecution witnesses

269. The Defence sought to challenge the credibility and reliability of TW4-01 and

W04733, in particular. The section below addresses the evidence relating to these

challenges.

a) TW4-01

(1) Involvement of the Accused

270. The Defence position is that TW4-01’s evidence about the Accused’s role in the

crimes is not credible, and the [REDACTED].1086 However, TW4-01’s evidence is

                                                

1080 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3755.
1081 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3810-3813; W04280, 29 November 2023, pp.3862-3867.
1082 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3813-3815.
1083 Sections V.A to V.G.
1084 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1054-1057, 1064-1069; SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014095.
1085 Section V.H.
1086 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1683-1692; Transcript, 20 September 2023, pp.2466-2467.
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corroborated, measured, and thus highly credible. There is also no reason why TW4-

01 would [REDACTED] the Accused, other than TW4-01’s rightful demand for justice

for the Accused’s involvement in the crimes, [REDACTED].

271. TW4-01 has consistently, [REDACTED], named the Accused amongst the

perpetrators at the KMF.1087 During cross-examination, the Defence confronted

TW4-01 with two prior statements in which he had not mentioned the Accused among

the perpetrators [REDACTED].1088 TW4-01 explained that he had mentioned the

Accused on the occasion of the [REDACTED] statement, that he did not know why

his name was not recorded in the statement, as he had ‘always mentioned Pjetër’.1089

Consistent with his testimony in this trial and other prior statements, [REDACTED],

TW4-01 named the Accused among the perpetrators in that incident.1090

272. In assessing TW4-01’s credibility, the Panel should also consider that he was

measured and cautious in his testimony, distinguishing when he personally witnessed

events, and when he did not. For instance, asked if he had witnessed [REDACTED]

mistreatment during the 20 May 1999 Incident, he answered that he did not, because

he was outside the room where it happened.1091 TW4-01 did not blame the Accused

for events the Accused was not involved with, or that TW4-01 could no longer

                                                

1087 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1591-1592; SITF00450258-00450259RED2, p.SITF00450258.
1088 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1675-1683.
1089 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1678.
1090 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1894-1897.
1091 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1469.
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remember.1092 [REDACTED]. At trial, however, he could not recall the Accused being

present on that day.1093 When confronted with his prior statements, he did not try to

correct his evidence, but maintained that he could not remember.1094 Similarly, when

asked by the Panel whether the Accused was present [REDACTED], TW4-01 stated

‘as far as I recall, Pjetër was not there at the time. Pjetër was present when

[REDACTED].’1095 Asked by the Panel how many times he saw the Accused in total,

while he was detained in Room 1, TW4-01 admitted that he could not remember.1096 

He also corrected a prior statement where it was indicated that the Accused had

beaten him ten or twelve times, stating that he certainly did not beat him that often.1097 

273. TW4-01 admitted when he could not recall the identity of a perpetrator,1098 or

when he could not recall certain potentially incriminating details.1099 He distinguished

when he had learnt information from others from when he had direct knowledge of

                                                

1092 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1537.
1093 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1498.
1094 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1498-1510.
1095 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1922.
1096 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1932.
1097 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1932-1933.
1098 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1512-1513.
1099 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1906-1907, 1913-1914.
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something.1100 He did not try to inflate the number of detainees at the KMF, and

specified that not all the detainees were beaten.1101

274. The Defence has failed to offer any reasonable explanation as to why TW4-01

would have falsely incriminated the Accused. That TW4-01 implicated the Accused

[REDACTED] for the brief encounter the Accused admitted having with him  at the

KMF – as maintained by the Defence1102 – is completely unreasonable.

[REDACTED].’1103

(2) [REDACTED]

275. [REDACTED].1104 The primary motivating factor was fear for his security and

that of his family. 

276. [REDACTED].1105 [REDACTED].1106 This explanation also finds support in the

forensic medical examination of TW4-01, where the examiners found that

[REDACTED] caused the resurfacing of feelings of helplessness and fear he had

                                                

1100 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1453-1454 (eyewitnessing W04733’s mistreatment during the 20 May 1999

Incident); TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1913-1917 (in relation to the detention of Serbs at the KMF); TW4-01,
5 June 2023, pp.1820-1821 (on learning the prosecutor’s name from others), 1826 [REDACTED].
1101 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1920-1921.
1102 Transcript, 20 September 2023, pp.2466-2467.
1103 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1597.
1104 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1559; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1881-1883.
1105 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1557-1558; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1867 [REDACTED].
1106 SITF00432531-00432531RED.
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experienced during his detention at the KMF. According to the examiners, TW4-01

‘was intensely afraid he would be killed, [REDACTED].1107 TW4-01 also felt unable to

protect his family, and developed deep mistrust.1108 In this regard, the examiners

concluded that:

‘[REDACTED].’1109

277. The fear TW4-01 had for his security and that of his family [REDACTED],1110

[REDACTED].1111

278. [REDACTED],1112 [REDACTED].1113 [REDACTED].1114 [REDACTED].

(3) Collaboration allegations

279. The Defence introduced DW4-01’s evidence in writing seeking to support its

allegations that TW4-01 [REDACTED], and a generally unreliable witness.

                                                

1107 V4010023-V4010044, p.V4010041.
1108 V4010023-V4010044, pp.V4010041-V4010042.
1109 V4010023-V4010044, p.V4010041.
1110 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1558-1559; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1867; V4010023-V4010044, p. V4010041.
1111 SPOE00014640-00014668RED2, p.SPOE00014650.
1112 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1559; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1881-1883.
1113 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1560.
1114 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1866, 1867, 1882.
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280. However, DW4-01’s assertion that TW4-01 [REDACTED]1115 is speculation at

best. [REDACTED].1116 His basis for the allegation regarding TW4-01 rests on such

insubstantial factors as [REDACTED].1117 The convictions accumulated [REDACTED]

make DW4-01’s claims about his innocence even less credible.1118 Moreover, even if

arguendo [REDACTED].

281. DW4-01’s evidence that TW4-01 [REDACTED]1119 is at best relevant to a

marginal issue concerning the motives that, according to TW4-01,1120 a JCE member

other than the Accused had to persecute him. DW4-01, however, was not

[REDACTED],1121 and TW4-01’s account concerning [REDACTED] is corroborated by

W01448.1122 Finally, the different versions of DW4-01 and TW4-011123 on [REDACTED]

are irrelevant, and should not be given any weight in assessing TW4-01’s credibility.

                                                

1115 SITF00015437-00015510RED2, p.SITF00015447.
1116 SITF00015437-00015510RED2, pp.SITF00015447, SITF00015454.
1117 SITF00015437-00015510RED2, pp.SITF00015447-SITF00015448.
1118 116111-116113-ET.
1119 SITF00015437-00015510RED2, p.SITF00015450.
1120 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1846.
1121 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1848; SITF00015437-00015510RED2, p.SITF00015449.
1122 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232.
1123 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1799.
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(4) Alleged inconsistencies and contrary evidence

(a) DW4-05

282. The Defence called DW4-05 to undermine TW4-01’s account that he

[REDACTED].1124 In this regard, DW4-05 testified that upon completing his shift,

[REDACTED],1125 which remained closed until the following morning.1126

[REDACTED].1127

283. First, TW4-01’s evidence that he spent time [REDACTED].1128

284. Second, DW4-05’s claims are contradicted by W03887, [REDACTED],1129 and by

W01448, [REDACTED].1130 Further, DW4-05 conceded his superior may have had the

[REDACTED],1131 and DW4-05 did not stay at the KMF at night.1132 Considered with

DW4-05’s multiple other implausible denials and credibility issues discussed above,

DW4-05’s evidence in this regard is devoid of any probative value.

                                                

1124 Section V.1.
1125 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2826.
1126 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2826.
1127 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2826-2827.
1128 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1403, 1410.
1129 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3368-3370; W03887, 22 November 2023, p.3438.
1130 SITF00013736-00013800RED5, p.SITF00013739.
1131 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2902-2903.
1132 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2818.
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(b) W04405

285. W04405, a Kosovar Albanian from Prizren1133 and member of KLA’s Brigade

128,1134 denied ever being at the KMF,1135 throwing cigarettes at detainees,1136

[REDACTED],1137 and telling TW4-01 [REDACTED].1138 W04405’s testimony is rife

with contradictory and implausible claims,1139 and filled with internal1140 and

external1141 inconsistencies. 

286. W04405 testified at trial that he joined the KLA in Kukës,1142 where he had been

twice during the war,1143 while he had told the SPO in 2019 that, in 1999, he had never

                                                

1133 W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3896.
1134 W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3907.
1135 W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3912-3914, 3940.
1136 W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3939-3940.
1137 W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3940, 3944, 3947.
1138 W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3947.
1139 For example, W04405 claimed that he did not know that Sali SARAMATI was buried, together with
other fallen KLA soldiers, in a funeral ceremony held at the Kukës cemetery (W04405, 9 January 2024,
pp.3976-3980), an event that other evidence in this case indicates was very notorious (Section III.B.2)
1140 Cfr. e.g. W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3909-3910 (stating that he only trained in Gorožup/Gorozhup),

with W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3960 (stating that he trained in Kolsh and Kalimash), while in 2019 he
had told the SPO that he had not received any training, W04405, 10 January 2024, pp.4020-4021.
1141 W04405 claimed when he deployed to Gorožup/Gorozhup sometime in April 1999 there was

ongoing fighting at the frontlines (W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3906, 3961-3962, 3968-3969, 3971-3973,
3975). However, W04754, the chief of logistics for Operation Arrow, explained that the fighting in the
Gorožup/Gorozhup direction only started at the end of May 1999 (W04754, 25 October 2023, pp.3141-
3148). See also, W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3987-3989).
1142 W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3901. Even in this regard, however, the witness gave inconsistent
accounts during his testimony providing unconvincing explanations when confronted with these
discrepancies, see W04405, 10 January 2024, pp.4007-4008.
1143 W04405, 10 January 2024, pp.4006-4007, 4011-4014.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/137 of 193



138

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

set foot in Albania.1144 His attempts to explain this inconsistency resulted in a series of

incredible explanations.1145 With reference to the KMF, W04405 asserted that he ‘had

nothing to do with that depot or whatever you’re describing here’,1146 clearly revealing

that he had knowledge of the KMF. 

287. W04405 became increasingly evasive when questioned about becoming a

witness in these proceedings, and knowing about [REDACTED] death. He made

inconsistent and incredible claims about the timing, number, circumstances, and

content of [REDACTED] after the war,1147 including clearly implausible denials about

his knowledge of [REDACTED] death.1148

(c) DW4-09

288. The Defence tendered DW4-09’s evidence to challenge TW4-01’s account that

[REDACTED].1149 In this regard, DW4-09 stated that, the day [REDACTED].1150 This

evidence does not contradict TW4-01. DW4-09 was not asked how he had learnt about

[REDACTED]. In his answer, DW4-09 simply relayed the details of the first time he

                                                

1144 W04405, 10 January 2024, pp.4009-4011, 4014-4016.
1145 W04405, 10 January 2024, pp.4009, 4011, 4014-4016.
1146 W04405, 10 January 2024, pp.4040, 4064-4066 (emphasis added).
1147 W04405, 9 January 2024, pp.3921-3924, 3932-3939; W04405, 10 January 2023, pp.4022-4023, 4051,
4054-4055, 4056-4059.
1148 W04405, 10 January 2023, pp.4030-4035.
1149 Defence Rule 155 Motion, para.14; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1790-1791, 1796.
1150 SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.SITF00374136.
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heard from TW4-01 after his detention. DW4-09’s evidence also shows that

[REDACTED] was discussed also on other occasions, including when TW4-01

[REDACTED].1151

289. In fact, DW4-09’s statement is generally consistent with and corroborates

TW4-01’s account of [REDACTED],1152 TW4-01’s physical state [REDACTED],1153

[REDACTED].1154

(5) Detailed account and recollection of events

290. TW4-01 provided a consistent, detailed, and emotional account of his ordeal at

the KMF, showing that he drew from personal experience. 

291. TW4-01 remembered numerous details of his detention and mistreatment,

including the presence [REDACTED] at the KMF and where he met the Accused,1155

which is corroborated by DW4-051156 and W03387,1157 and shows that he was inside

                                                

1151 SPOE00014640-00014668RED2, pp.SPOE00014647-SPOE00014649.
1152 Cfr., e.g., [REDACTED].
1153 SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.5; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1552.
1154 SITF00374132-00374148RED2, p.5; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1545-1546.
1155 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1403.
1156 DW4-05, 3 October 2023, pp.2816-2817.
1157 W03887, 20 November 2023, p.3198.
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that building. [REDACTED].1158 TW4-01 provided specific details of the 20 May 1999

Incident which are corroborated by the other victims.1159

292. Another example of the detailed and truthful nature of TW4-01’s evidence is

the accurate account of the serious injuries he suffered during his detention at the

KMF, including being beaten on the head and cut on [REDACTED], which resulted in

visible scars,1160 as corroborated by W04826’s physical examination report.1161

293. During cross-examination, TW4-01 was confronted with a document indicating

that, contrary to his claims,1162 he was in Serbia [REDACTED].1163 TW4-01 admitted to

having been [REDACTED], and explained that he had forgotten about it because he

‘never thought it was something of significance to remember.’1164 TW4-01’s hesitation

concerning this matter could also be explained by his fear of being associated with

Serbia, and of the possible stigma attaching to it, which had caused his mistreatment

at the KMF in the first place. Such fear and hesitation should not, however, be

                                                

1158 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1526.
1159 See e.g. TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1454; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.27, [REDACTED].
1160 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1457-1458, 1473-1475.
1161 W04826, 27 June 2023, pp.2119-2121; SITF00019134-SITF00019147RED2, pp.SITF00019137-
SITF00019138; 113841-113843, p.113843.
1162 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1617; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1852, 1854.
1163 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1863-1864; 058583-058585RED2, p.058584.
1164 TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1864-1865.
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considered to impact the credibility of his account in relation to the ordeal he,

[REDACTED] and other victims suffered at the KMF.

294. In fact, TW4-01’s account is repeatedly corroborated by several other witnesses

in relation to all material aspects of his experience at the KMF, including the

identification of the Accused,1165 and of other JCE members,1166 the identity of the other

detainees,1167 the presence of medics at the KMF,1168 the location and layout of the

Detention Building,1169 detention conditions1170 and their improvement after

[REDACTED] death,1171 the mistreatment he and others suffered at the KMF,1172 and

the 20 May 1999 Incident.1173

(6) [REDACTED]

295. The fact that TW4-01 [REACTED],1174 which TW4-01 did not deny and was

willing to discuss,1175 does not negate the fact that he and [REDACTED] were victims

                                                

1165 Section V.H.3.a.
1166 Section V.H.3.b.
1167 Section V.G.3.c.
1168 Section V.G.3.d.
1169 Section III.C.
1170 Section V.B.
1171 Section V.G.
1172 Section V.C.
1173 Section V.D.
1174 107067-107070RED; DPS00073-DPS00077.
1175 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1838.
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at the KMF, a fact amply corroborated by the evidence of multiple sources reviewed

in this brief.

b) W04733

296. The Defence called DW4-06, Time KADRIJAJ (W04440) and Safete

HADERGJONAJ (W04441) to undermine W04733’s evidence that they were present

at the KMF during the 20 May 1999 Incident.

297. DW4-06, a member of the LPK and political representative of the KLA,1176

testified that he was never in Kukës during the Indictment Period,1177 that he had never

seen W04733,1178 and that he does not know anyone by this name.1179 Due to the nature

of W04733’s references to DW4-06, the latter’s evidence does not affect W04733’s

credibility with respect to the crimes and the Accused’s responsibility therefor.

298. In fact, W04733 himself was not certain about his identification of Bardhyl

MAHMUTI.1180 W04733 had never met DW4-06 before,1181 and that night he was

‘seeing triple,’ as a result of the beatings he had suffered.1182 In any event, DW4-06

                                                

1176 DW4-06, 20 September 2023, pp.2487-2488; DW4-06, 21 September 2023, p.2613.
1177 DW4-06, 20 September 2023, pp.2514, 2530.
1178 DW4-06, 20 September 2023, pp.2537-2538; 059113-059144, p.059127.
1179 DW4-06, 20 September 2023, p.2516.
1180 106978-107020, p.106983; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, pp.3-5.
1181 106978-107020, p.106994; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018742.
1182 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.5.
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conceded that he went to Albania in April and June 1999,1183 and it cannot be excluded

that he entered Albania overland, through the Kosovo-Albanian border, during the

Indictment period.1184 The Accused himself stated that he may have seen DW4-06 in

Kukës.1185

299. Second, DW4-06 is not a credible witness. His evidence that he never met the

Accused before, during or after the war,1186 is contradicted by the Accused, who stated

that he met DW4-06 in a club in Schaerbeek on the occasion of DW4-06’s visit to

Brussels.1187 It is very hard to believe that, as the KLA political representative, he

ignored the existence of any KLA base in Albania.1188 DW4-06’s answers in relation to

his knowledge of detentions by the KLA were evasive1189 and unresponsive.1190 He

denied any knowledge or involvement with this matter, in spite of evidence to the

contrary.1191 He showed contempt towards the KSC and its mandate,1192 and readiness

                                                

1183 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2715-2716.
1184 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2714-2715; W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3808; TW4-01, 2 June 2023,
p.1628; Adjudicated Facts List, facts no.7-9.
1185 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066880.
1186 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, p.2608.
1187 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.13.
1188 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2716-2717.
1189 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2635-2636.
1190 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2679-2680, 2683-2685.
1191 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2635-2636, 2648-2656; 075522-075551, para.117.
1192 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2693-2696.
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to deny any wrongdoing by KLA members with no regard to any evidence to the

contrary.1193

300. Finally, DW4-06 also made certain claims about fabrication of evidence by

Serbia, which were generic, speculative, and completely irrelevant to this case.1194

301. W04733 identified W04440 and W04441 among the medical staff who bandaged

the injuries he suffered during the 20 May 1999 Incident.1195 The presence of female

nurses in the medical office inside the Command Building is also corroborated by

W03887.1196

302. W04440, a doctor by training,1197 joined the KLA’s war efforts in Koshare.1198 She

testified that in 1999 she never went to Kukës.1199 Her evidence is contradicted by

W04754, who saw  W04440 in Kukës towards the end of May 1999, at the beginning of

Operation Arrow. W04754 testified that W04440 was in Kukës to accompany to the

Kukës hospital Milam ZEKA, a journalist who had been wounded in Koshare, where

W04440 was deployed as a medic.1200 W04440 was accompanied by Nasim

                                                

1193 DW4-06, 21 September 2023, pp.2697-2706.
1194 DW4-06, 20 September 2023, pp.2552-2574.
1195 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, pp.29-32.
1196 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3375-3376.
1197 W04440, 23 November 2023, p.3550.
1198 W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3551-3552.
1199 W04440, 23 November 2023, p.3556.
1200 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2932, 2940, 2937-2943. W04754 testified the Ruzhdi SARAMATI and his
forces set off from Kukës to fight in Operation Arrow on or around 20 May 1999, see W04754, 23 October
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HARADINAJ, whose brother Agron was stationed at the KMF.1201 On that occasion,

W04754 had lunch with W04440 and others at the KMF.1202 When confronted with

W04754’s detailed recollection of her visit to the KMF, she maintained that she did not

go there.1203

303. W04440 made a number of other implausible claims, including not knowing

about [REDACTED],1204 in spite of consistent evidence that [REDACTED].1205 In

particular, there is evidence that [REDACTED],1206 [REDACTED].1207

304. She also denied knowledge that the KLA had a recruitment centre in Kukës in

1999.1208 This is implausible in light of (i) the evidence placing her at the KMF in May

1999 discussed above, (ii) the fact that the existence of a recruitment centre there was

advertised all over the media at the time,1209 and (iii) that the KMF was one of the

                                                

2023, p.3000. Milaim ZEKA was wounded on 20 May 1999, W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3578-3579;
SITF00016056-00016103RED, p.SITF00016070.
1201 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2943; W04754, 24 October 2023, p.3095.
1202 W04754, 23 October 2023, pp.2938-2939, 2942.
1203 W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3581-3582.
1204 W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3593-3594.
1205 W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3594-3596, 3606-3607; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, pp.15, 28;
083218-TR-ET Part 6 RED5, pp.4-5; 064716-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, p.17; SPOE00012603-00012662,
p.SPOE00012625.
1206 SPOE00012603-00012662, p.SPOE00012625; W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3604-3605.
1207 064716-TR-ET Part 4RED3, pp.16-17.
1208 W04440, 23 November 2023, p.3576.
1209 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3816-3817.
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KLA’s main bases in Albania.1210 She further denied, in the face of a EULEX police

report, that she tried to [REDACTED],1211 and showed a strong bias against the KSC.1212

Most importantly, W04440 holds the view that former members of the KLA should

not be put on trial, irrespective of any rightful claim to justice their alleged victims

may have.1213

305. W04441, a Kosovar Albanian from Voksh village with a background in

economics,1214 and member of the Democratic Party of Kosovo headed by Hashim

THACI,1215 moved from Kosovo to Durrës, Albania in June 1998, where she remained

with her family until July 1999.1216 W04441 testified that she never went to Kukës in

her life,1217 and denied knowing that the KLA had a base in Kukës in 1999.1218 This

claim appears incredible in light of the consistent evidence that the KLA made appeals

through the media, including the television, for people to join the KLA1219 indicating

where volunteers could register.1220

                                                

1210 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2929; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.8-9; SPOE00305270-00305271,
p.SPOE00305270.
1211 W04440, 23 November 2023, pp.3608-3609.
1212 W04440, 24 November 2023, pp.3618-3623.
1213 W04440, 24 November 2023, pp.3617-3623; 116107-116107.
1214 W04441, 22 November 2023, p.3478.
1215 W04441, 22 November 2023, p.3506.
1216 W04441, 22 November 2023, pp.3482-3483.
1217 W04441, 22 November 2023, p.3484.
1218 W04441, 22 November 2023, pp.3494-3495.
1219 W04280, 28 November 2023, p.3760.
1220 W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3815-3816.
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306. W04441 also showed a strong bias against the KSC, stating that the charges

brought against KLA members are politically motivated and made up by Serbia,1221

despite never reading the Indictment against the Accused, which she considered to be

‘based on stitched-up allegations of false witnesses.’1222

307. The credibility of W04440 and W04441 should be assessed in light of the

implausible statements they made and their bias against the KSC.

J. Existence of a non-international armed conflict 

308. Throughout the Indictment Period a non-international armed conflict (‘NIAC’)

existed in Kosovo, including along the border with Albania, between the KLA and

forces of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (‘FRY’) and Republic of Serbia, including

units of the Yugoslav Army (‘VJ’), police and other units of the Ministry of Internal

Affairs (‘MUP’), and other groups fighting on behalf of the FRY and Serbia

(collectively, ‘FRY forces’).

309. The Panel took judicial notice, pursuant to Rule 157,1223 of 17 common

knowledge facts and 56 adjudicated facts, some of which are relevant to the existence

of a NIAC and its protracted character.1224 These facts have been reliably adjudicated

                                                

1221 W04441, 22 November 2023, pp.3507-3508.
1222 W04441, 22 November 2023, p.3513.
1223 Adjudicated Facts Decision, paras 19, 27.
1224 Adjudicated Facts List, facts no.1-29 and 34-50.
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in trials before both the ICTY and Kosovo courts on the basis of a thorough analysis

of an extensive body of evidence, including reports of international organisations such

as OSCE and Human Rights Watch, reports of the FRY forces and its officials on the

status of the hostilities, and testimony of KLA members.1225 

1. The KLA

310. From well prior to the Indictment Period, the KLA had a formal structure,

including a General Staff and chain of command, uniforms, a communications system,

established rules and internal regulations which had been distributed to zone

commanders and their subordinates.1226 Weapons and other equipment was brought

across the border into Kosovo from Albania.1227

311. Kosovo was divided into seven KLA operational zones. One of them was the

Pashtrik Zone,1228 where Kukës was located,1229 and which covered parts of the

territory of Kosovo and northern Albania.1230 Each operational zone had a command

structure, headed by a zone commander appointed by the General Staff.1231 Within

                                                

1225 See e.g. Đorđević TJ, paras 1531-1579; Šainović et al. TJ, paras 790-841; Gashi et al. TJ, pp.4-5, 11-12; Geci

et al. TJ, pp.3-4, 6, 8-9, 18-20, 22-27; Krasniqi TJ, pp.3-6, 51-54.
1226 Adjudicated Facts List, facts no.36, 38, 39; U009-9397-U009-9397-ET Revised.
1227 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.34.
1228 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.40.
1229 066843-066855-ET Revised, p.066848.
1230 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.113; 066843-066855-ET Revised, p.066848; W04754, 24 October 2023,
p.3018; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.18-20.
1231 Adjudicated Facts List, facts no.38, 41; 058048-058112-ET, pp.058049, 058056.
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operational zones, KLA forces were organised into brigades, battalions, companies,

platoons and squads.1232 

312. From January to March 1999, the KLA General Staff conducted training in

Albania, focusing on the use of weapons, and preparing its fighting force for

operations and combat actions.1233 

313. At the end of March 1999,1234 the KLA General Staff ordered a general

mobilisation,1235 which continued through April and May 1999.1236 The KLA used the

KMF as a main logistics hub for the recruitment and mobilisation of volunteers.1237 At

the KMF, new KLA recruits were provided with uniforms and weapons,1238 sent for

                                                

1232 Adjudicated Facts List, facts no.38, 40, 43.
1233 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.49.
1234 SPOE00061241-00061243, p.SPOE00061241; SPOE00054441-SPOE00054442-ET Revised.
1235 SPOE00054519-SPOE00054522-ET, p.SPOE00054519-SPOE00054520; Section III.A.
1236 IT-05-87 4D00358-E, p.1; SPOE00305281-00305282, p.SPOE00305281; SPOE00304426-00304427,
p.SPOE00304426; SPOE00305281-00305282, p.SPOE00305281; SPOE00133847-00133847,
p.SPOE00133847.
1237 Section III.B.; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2929; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, pp.8-9; SPOE00305270-
00305271, p.SPOE00305270; W04280, 28 November 2023, pp.3760, 3816-3817.
1238 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.44-45; DW4-05, 3 October 2023, p.2816; W04280, 28 November
2023, p.3768; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2930.
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training to other KLA bases in Albania,1239 and eventually deployed to fight at the

frontline.1240 

2. A NIAC existed between KLA and FRY forces before and during the

Indictment Period

314. While frequent and significant armed clashes between the KLA and FRY forces

began taking place already from the end of February and early March 1998,1241 with a

significant increase in the summer of 1998,1242 this section will focus on the existence

of a NIAC between the KLA and FRY forces during the time leading up to and

including the Indictment Period.

315. In February 1999, an international peace conference was organised in

Rambouillet, France.1243 Diplomatic efforts to stop the hostilities were not successful,

and Ambassador HOLBROOKE announced the failure of negotiations on 23 March

                                                

1239 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.39-40, 42; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.9; W04754, 23 October 2023,
p.2921. Some training took also place within the grounds of the KMF: 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised
RED, pp.44-46; U003-2231-U003-2231-ET.
1240 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.39, 41-43; TW4-10, 1 May 2023, pp.1032-1036, 1080, 1097-1098,
1100, 1108.
1241 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.1.
1242 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.2.
1243 Common Knowledge Facts List, fact no.5.
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1999.1244 On 24 March 1999, NATO forces began air strikes against targets in Kosovo

and Serbia and Montenegro.1245 

316. At the end of March 1999, FRY forces began large-scale military operations in

Kosovo, in an area covering parts of Prizren, Suva Reka/Suharekë, and

Orahovac/Rahovec municipalities.1246 Large numbers of Kosovo Albanians began

leaving Kosovo and crossing the border to Albania from 24 March 1999.1247 

317. In April 1999, the KLA began preparations for Operation Arrow,1248 a military

operation aimed at clearing the border between Kosovo and Albania of FRY forces.1249

On 9 April 1999, the KLA launched an attack from Albania against the Košare/Koshare

border post area, Ðjakovica/Gjakovë municipality.1250 During April 1999, FRY forces

launched artillery and infantry attacks against the KLA inside the territory of

Albania.1251 By the end of April 1999, KLA forces stationed in Albania had widened

                                                

1244 Common Knowledge Fact List, fact no.12.
1245 Common Knowledge Fact List, fact no.13; SPOE00061241-00061243; SPOE00061244-00061247,
p.SPOE00061245; 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, pp.14, 21-22.
1246 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.7.
1247 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.8; SPOE00305270-00305271.
1248 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2920; W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3020-3023, 3119; 077978-077982-ET
Revised, p.077981; IT-05-87 3D00813-E, p.3D22-0001.
1249 SPOE00055399-SPOE00055399-ET.
1250 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.50; W04754, 25 October 2023, p.3148.
1251 SPOE00133809-00133810, p.SPOE00133809; 102282-102285, p.102282.
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their corridor within Kosovo, with casualties suffered in the course of these

operations.1252

318. Fighting between KLA and FRY forces occurred throughout May 1999.1253 On

or around 26 May 1999, the KLA launched Operation Arrow,1254 with forces from the

Pashtrik Operational Zone and other units entering Kosovo from Albania along four

different axes.1255 Around 20 May 1999, KLA soldiers under Ruzhdi SARAMATI

taking part in Operation Arrow left from Kukës to join the fight along the Kukës,

Gorožup/Gorozhup, and Morine/Qafë Morinë axis.1256 On or around 31 May 1999,

heavy fighting took place between FRY forces and the KLA in Gorožup/Gorozhup,1257

with heavy shelling killing and wounding a number of KLA soldiers.1258 On 3 June

1999, heavy fighting between the KLA and FRY forces was still taking place in border

areas between Kosovo and Albania.1259

                                                

1252 SPOE00133809-00133810, p.SPOE00133809; SPOE00133788-00133790, p.SPOE00133789.
1253 SPOE00305286-00305288, p.SPOE00305287; SPOE00305289-00305292, p.SPOE00305289; IT-05-87
4D00320-E; IT-05-87.1 D00675.E, pp.1-3; SITF00078771-00078781, p.SITF00078773.
1254 W04754, 24 October 2023, pp.3023, 3093, 3096-3097; W04754, 23 October 2023, p.3000; W04754, 25
October 2023, p.3141; SPOE00055399-SPOE00055399-ET. See also SPOE00133848-00133849,
p.SPOE00133848.
1255 W04754, 23 October 2023, p.2999; W04754, 25 October 2023, p.3143.
1256 Section III.B.2.
1257 W04405, 9 January 2024, p.3975; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.66-69.
1258 W03887, 21 November 2023, pp.3362-3363; 060124-TR-ET Part 2 Revised RED4, pp.16-17, 144-145.
1259 102279-102281, p.102279; SPOE00305303-00305305, p.SPOE00305303.
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319. During May 1999, the influx of refugees from Kosovo into Albania continued,

totalling hundreds of thousands since the beginning of the NATO air strikes.1260

UNHCR estimated that, from 24 March 1999 to 10 June 1999, some 800,000 Kosovo

Albanians left Kosovo,1261 with approximately 100,000 of them seeking shelter in

Kukës.1262

320. A Military Technical Agreement between KFOR and the Governments of the

FRY and Serbia was signed and entered into force on 9 June 1999 (Kumanovo

agreement).1263 On 10 June 1999, the Security Council of the United Nations adopted

Resolution 1244, which established that the international security presence’s

responsibilities entailed ensuring the military withdrawal, demilitarising the KLA,

and creating a secure environment for the return of refugees and displaced persons.1264

                                                

1260 SPOE00305289-00305292, p.SPOE00305291; SPOE00305297-00305298, p.SPO00305298; 075007-
075129, p.075087.
1261 Adjudicated Facts List, fact no.9; 074222-074225, p.074222.; SPOE00061248-00061251,
pp.SPOE00061248-SPOE00061249; 075007-075129.
1262 060124-TR-ET Part 1 Revised RED, p.22; 074117-074129-ET Revised, p.074121; SPOE00305289-
00305292, p.SPOE00305291; 075007-075129, p.075007; 074222-074225, p.074222; 074226-074231,
p.074226; SITF00011677-00011685, pp.SITF00011679, SITF00011681-SITF00011682; SPOE00305286-
00305288, p.SPOE00305287; SPOE00061248-00061251, p.SPOE00061249; SPOE00305283-00305285,
p.SPOE00305284; SPOE00305270-00305271.
1263 Common Knowledge Facts List, fact no.14; 060664-TR-ET Part 2, p.3.
1264 Common Knowledge Facts List, fact no.16.
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3. Nexus between the crimes and the NIAC

321. The detention, mistreatment, and murder of the victims in this case were

perpetrated by the Accused and the other JCE members in connection with the NIAC

described above. Under applicable law, for the nexus to exist, the NIAC need not have

been causal to the commission of the crimes charged, but it must have played, at a

minimum, a substantial part in the perpetrators’ ability to commit the crimes, their

decision to commit them, the manner in which they were committed, or the purpose

for which they were committed.1265 In determining whether this nexus exists, the Panel

may consider, inter alia: the status of the perpetrators and victims; whether the act

serves the ultimate goal of a military campaign; whether the act was committed as

part of, or in the contest of, the perpetrator’s official duties.1266

322. The detention, interrogations, and mistreatments of the victims in this case, as

well as the killing [REDACTED], took place within the grounds of the KMF, a base

used by the KLA in Albania to mobilise new recruits and to launch and logistically

support military operations against FRY forces.1267 

323. The crimes discussed under Section V were committed by the Accused,

Xhemshit KRASNIQI, Sabit GECI, all members of the KLA at the time, in concert with

or with the assistance of other members of the KLA, including its Military Police.1268

                                                

1265 See Mustafa TJ, para.712; Kunarac AJ, para.58.
1266 See Mustafa TJ, para.712; Ntaganda TJ, para.732; Kunarac AJ, para.59.
1267 Section III.B.
1268 Sections V.A. to V.F.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/154 of 193



155

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

In detaining, mistreating, and killing the victims in this case, the Accused and the

other perpetrators acted in the context of their official duties with the KLA, taking

advantage of the authority that derived from that position, as well as of the facilities

available to the KLA within the KMF. Xhemshit KRASNIQI and other KLA military

policemen carried out the arrests of a number of victims in this case,1269 and guards

deployed at the KMF were used to guard the victims.1270 KLA personnel escorted

detainees from the Detention Building to the Command Building for interrogations.1271

Some of the victims were also used to load and unload KLA military supplies in the

KMF’s courtyard.1272

324. The nexus between the ongoing NIAC and the crimes is further evidenced by

the interrogation of the victims, who were accused of being Serb collaborators, spies,

or of being otherwise connected to Serbia,1273 against whom the KLA was engaged in

the NIAC. 

325. The Accused was aware of the existence of the NIAC during the Indictment

Period. He was a KLA member with a group of soldiers under the command of Ruzhdi

                                                

1269 Sections V.A.1. to V.A.8.
1270 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1446; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1207; 060664-TR-ET Part 3, p.4; 108850-TR-ET
Part 1 RED, p.7.
1271 TW4-10, 1 May 2023, p.1101
1272 Sections V.A.7., V.A.8.
1273 Sections V.C. to V.D.
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SARAMATI.1274 The Accused was personally involved in the transport of new KLA

recruits, and performed other military tasks.1275 

4. Protected status of the victims

326. None of the victims in this case, at the time of their arrest, detention,

mistreatment, and [REDACTED] murder, were taking active part in the hostilities.1276

Indeed, irrespective of their status at the time of their arrest or transfer to the KMF,

once they were deprived of their liberty at the KMF, they were hors de combat and thus

entitled to the protections afforded by Common Article 3.1277 The Accused and other

JCE members and perpetrators were aware of their protected status, since they were

detained within the grounds of the KMF, under the control of their captors, when they

were interrogated and mistreated.1278

                                                

1274 Sections III.B. and IV.D.
1275 074117-074129-ET Revised 1, p.074121; 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.123-124, 127-129.
1276 Sections V.A.1. to V.A.8.
1277 Mustafa TJ, para.722.
1278 Sections V.A. to V.F.
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VI. ELEMENTS OF CRIMES AND EVIDENCE PROVING THE ELEMENTS

A. Count 1 - Arbitrary Detention

327. The evidence reviewed above proves beyond reasonable doubt that, between

approximately 17 May 1999 and 5 June 1999, the Accused, acting in concert with

Xhemshit KRASNIQI, Sabit GECI, and other KLA soldiers and military policemen

participated in the arbitrary detention of at least 18 civilians at the KMF.1279

328. KLA military policemen arrested TW4-01, [REDACTED] May 1999,1280 without

any explanation.1281 TW4-01 remained detained in Room 1 of the Detention Building

[REDACTED],1282 [REDACTED].1283 They were never brought before any judge or

equivalent authority, nor were they afforded the possibility of challenging their

detention.

329. TW4-11 was taken [REDACTED] and another man to the KMF

[REDACTED],1284 and detained in Room 1 of the Detention Building.1285 TW4-11 was

not provided with any warrant, nor informed that he was suspected of any crime.1286

                                                

1279 Sections V.A.1 to V.A.8.
1280 [REDACTED].
1281 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1419.
1282 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1422.
1283 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1529, 1532.
1284 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1186-1191.
1285 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1193-1198, 1204-1205; 074390-074391, p.074390.
1286 TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1336.
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TW4-11 was detained at the KMF [REDACTED].1287 During this time, nobody gave

TW4-11 any explanation of the reasons for his detention.1288 

330. W04733 was kidnapped on 18 May 1999 in Durrës1289 and transferred to the

KMF by KLA personnel on or around 20 May 1999.1290 W04733 was detained until

approximately 1 June 1999, when he was released by [REDACTED].1291 During his

detention, W04733 was repeatedly interrogated and beaten,1292 but was never brought

before a judge, informed of the reasons for his detention, or given the possibility to

challenge his detention.

331. KLA  soldiers transferred W01448 from Durrës to the KMF on or around 18 May

1999, where he was detained for approximately one month.1293 During this time, he

was repeatedly mistreated and interrogated,1294 including about his Serb

                                                

1287 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1199.
1288 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1187, 1193, 1195; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1266, 1283-1286.
1289 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 2 RED3, p.28; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013184;
SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013805, SPOE00013807; SITF00019824-00019876RED2,
p.SITF00019827; [REDACTED].
1290 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 2 RED3, p.50.
1291 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 7, pp.2, 6-7, 10-13; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 6, pp.23-24; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013823, SPOE00013828-SPOE00013830; U003-2283-U003-2289RED2,
p.U0032286; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013187; [REDACTED].
1292 Sections V.A.3 and V.D.
1293 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013750.
1294 Sections V.A.4., V.C., V.D.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/158 of 193



159

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

acquaintances and knowledge of collaborators.1295 He was not allowed to challenge his

detention, and was released by German KFOR in Prizren on 18 June 1999.1296

332. TW4-02 was arrested at the beginning of June 1999 [REDACTED] and detained

for a number of days on accusations of being a collaborator. During that period, he

was interrogated by W04848.1297

333. TW4-04 was taken to the KMF [REDACTED] at the [REDACTED],1298

[REDACTED],1299 and held for approximately [REDACTED].1300 TW4-04 was taken to

[REDACTED],1301 who asked him how long he had been detained,1302 but TW4-04

described this process as a farce.1303 Shortly after that, TW4-04 was released.1304

                                                

1295 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013744.
1296 Section V.A.4.
1297 Section V.A.5.
1298 SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014690; 064716-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, p.2.
1299 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.13-15; SITF00013336-00013347RED, p.SITF00013340; SPOE00014669-
00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014696-SPOE00014697.
1300 SITF00013262-00013315RED, pp.SITF00013273-00013274; SITF00015825-00015925RED,
p.SITF00015854; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, pp.SPOE00014692,SPOE00014697.
1301 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013274; SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014698;
064716-TR-ET Part 4 RED3, p.19; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.3-4; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.7.
1302 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013274.
1303 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, pp.9-10.
1304 SITF00013262-00013315RED, p.SITF00013274; SITF00015825-00015925RED, p.SITF00015854;
SPOE00014669-00014751RED, p.SPOE00014698.
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334. TW4-05 was taken to the KMF [REDACTED] and two other KLA members on

or around [REDACTED] 1999, accused of having helped Serb forces [REDACTED],

and detained at the KMF until [REDACTED].1305

335. Three Roma musicians [REDACTED], [REDACTED], a person from Mitrovica,

two women from Đakovica/Gjakovë, a group of FARK or KLA soldiers, and a number

of other unidentified individuals were also held at the KMF during the Indictment

Period.1306 There is no evidence that any of them were afforded due process guarantees

during their detention.

336. The evidence establishes that those detained at the KMF were held on the basis

of general allegations of having associated with Serbs,1307 or being traitors or spies.1308

W01448 stated that TW4-01, [REDACTED] and W04733 were being beaten on

accusation of having connections with Serb forces and institutions.1309 People who

managed to be released thanks to personal connections and external interventions did

not receive any release papers.1310

                                                

1305 Section V.A.7.
1306 Section V.A.8.
1307 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1555-1556; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013744,
SITF00013757.
1308 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1231; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013814; TW4-01, 30
May 2023, p.1455.
1309 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013744.
1310 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, p.SITF00016155.
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337. Evidence reviewed in Sections V.A to V.G. establishes that at no point during

their detention, mistreatment, and interrogation, were any of the detainees brought

before a judge or other competent authority, provided with access to a lawyer, or

otherwise permitted to challenge the lawfulness of their detention. W04848, a

prosecutor from Priština/Prishtinë1311 who was stationed at the KMF during the

Indictment Period,1312 was indicated by a number of victims as a KLA ‘prosecutor’ or

‘judge’ who questioned them during their detention at the KMF. The evidence of these

victims, however, makes it clear that W04848’s role was not to ensure due process of

law.1313 W04848 himself stated that he was never asked to review the circumstances of

detainees’ detention.1314 He was not aware of the existence of any records concerning

the detention of people at the KMF, nor did he think that any such records were ever

taken.1315 W04848 stated that he had taken statements from the soldiers suspected of

desertion, but could not indicate where these records could be found. He also stated

that he never conducted hearings in the Kukës courthouse, and that no such hearings

were ever held.1316

                                                

1311 SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016910.
1312 SITF00016908-00016964RED, p.SITF00016916.
1313 TW4-01, 5 June 2023, pp.1817-1821; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, pp.1261, 1265-1267; 060664-TR-ET Part 3,
pp.2, 26; 108826-TR-ET Part 1 RED, p.7; 060664-TR-ET Part 4, p.17.
1314 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014100.
1315 SITF00014088-00014120RED, p.SITF00014101
1316 SITF00014088-00014120RED, pp.SITF00014101-00014102.
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338. On this basis, and irrespective of whether any legitimate reason originally

existed to detain any of these victims, their detention was arbitrary and amounted to

a serious violation of Common Article 3.1317

B. Count 2 - Cruel Treatment

339. The evidence presented at trial establishes beyond reasonable doubt that,

between approximately 17 May and 5 June 1999, the Accused and certain other KLA

members, including Sabit GECI and Xhemshit KRASNIQI, subjected those detained

at the KMF to cruel treatment, by establishing and maintaining inhumane detention

conditions, and through beatings and other forms of mistreatment, resulting in severe

physical and mental harm and constituting an attack on their dignity.1318

1. Inhumane detention conditions

340. The evidence set out in Sections V.A. and V.B proves beyond reasonable doubt

that the detainees at the KMF where held for a prolonged period of time in inhumane

conditions.

                                                

1317 See Mustafa AJ, para.430; see also Mustafa TJ, para.643; Case 04 Jurisdictional Appeal, para.45; Case
06 Jurisdictional Appeal, paras 94-97, 101.
1318 Indictment, paras 18-25; Pre-Trial Brief, paras 42-65.
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2. Infliction of serious mental or physical suffering and attacks on the

prisoners‘ dignity

341. The evidence described in Section V, and further below, details the

mistreatment inflicted. 

342. During the 20 May 1999 Incident, W04733 was burnt with cigarettes, beaten

with different objects, including by the Accused,1319 and had his head bashed open

with a revolver,1320 which made him bleed profusely.1321 W04733 could not stand and

lost consciousness.1322 TW4-01 saw W04733 cry as he was being beaten.1323 W04733

stated that, in Kukës, the Accused beat him ‘like a horse’.1324 W01448 was made to

witness W04733’s mistreatment, and stated that its severity made him feel like

dying.1325

                                                

1319 SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018743; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, p.SITF00019845.
1320 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.28; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.12; SPOE00013793-
SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013814; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018742, SITF00018743;
[REDACTED].
1321 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.32; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1491-
1492; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, pp.SITF00013856-SITF00013857.
1322 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.28; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013818; 106978-
107020, p.106979; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018743-SITF00018744.
1323 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1454.
1324 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 3 RED2, pp.11-12; [REDACTED].
1325 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
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343. W01448 was beaten by the Accused and another KLA soldier with batons for

30 minutes,1326 and he fainted when Xhemshit KRASNIQI struck his nose with a

baton.1327

344. TW4-01 was severely beaten, including by the Accused, with different

objects,1328 [REDACTED],1329 causing him a serious injury.1330 [REDACTED].1331

[REDACTED]1332 [REDACTED].1333 TW4-01 [REDACTED] suffered unimaginable pain

that night.1334 With reference to the Accused’s role in the beating of TW4-01

[REDACTED], W04733 – who was detained in Room 1 with them after this beating –

stated that he ‘ruined them’.1335 Xhemshit KRASNIQI beat [REDACTED] so hard that

[REDACTED] wet the place when she was moved away.1336

                                                

1326 106978-107020, p.106984; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00016221-
00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016231-SITF00016232; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013744,
SITF00013746; SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016167-SITF00016168; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4
RED3, p.26; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018744.
1327 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857.
1328 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1457.
1329 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1457-1458.
1330 113841-113843, p.113843.
1331 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1457.
1332 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1464; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013747.
1333 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1465.
1334 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 4 RED3, p.27; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013745.
1335 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.9.
1336 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013746-SITF00013747; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013857; TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1477.
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345. [REDACTED] which caused them severe fear and pain.1337 [REDACTED] and

the Accused, in what TW4-01 described as the hardest beating he endured at the KMF.

[REDACTED] bleeding out and dying after much agony as a result.1338

346. Evidence reviewed in Section V.C. details the severe, continuous, random, and

humiliating beatings that the detainees endured daily at the KMF,1339 including by JCE

members Sabit GECI1340 and Xhemshit KRASNIQI.1341 Detainees in Room 1 were

beaten with batons, metal bars and belts in the presence of each other and made to

witness the mistreatments of co-detainees.1342 Beatings also took place outside the

Detention Room, when people were taken out for interrogation, and beaten by people

including Xhemshit KRASNIQI.1343

                                                

1337 [REDACTED].
1338 [REDACTED].
1339  TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1512-1513, 1524; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1919; TW4-11, 2 May 2023,
pp.1222, 1233; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
p.SITF00013754; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.15; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 8 RED2, p.29; 082892-TR-AT-
ET Part 9 RED2, pp.6-9; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013823-SPOE00013825;
106978-107020, pp.106988-106989; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018745-SITF00018746; TW4-
07, 29 March 2023, p.907.
1340 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1507, 1512-1513; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013750,
SITF00013753, SITF00013754; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013860.
1341 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013750, SITF00013754.
1342 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1220, 1230-1231, 1233; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018746;
SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013825; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, pp.9-10;
SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016237; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013753-
SITF00013754, SITF00013759; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013859.
1343 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1219, 1222, 1224; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1497-1498, 1510; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013753.
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347. While the suffering inflicted on the victims need not be lasting to amount to

cruel treatment,1344 TW4-01 still suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder as a

consequence of the violence he experienced at the KMF.1345 TW4-11 still suffers

consequences from the injury he received to his eye.1346 More than 15 years after his

detention, W04733’s elbow and hand were still damaged, and his eyesight

impaired.1347 W04733 also suffered from anxiety and was haunted by nightmares, in

which he saw dead people.1348 [REDACTED] W04733 ‘was destroyed because of his

detention in Kukës’.1349 Ten years after his release, W04733 was still afraid and hesitant

to visit a doctor in Kosovo for fear of being apprehended again.1350

348. The circumstances of these beatings show that the perpetrators acted with the

intention to inflict serious physical suffering and injury, to attack the dignity of the

victims, and to cause them serious mental harm. At the very least, they acted with full

knowledge that their acts and omission would cause this level of harm.1351

                                                

1344 Mustafa TJ, para.662.
1345 V4010023-V4010044, pp.V4010023-V4010024.
1346 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1232-1233.
1347 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.21; SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, SITF00013185;
SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013798; 106978-107020, p.106982.
1348 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.24; [REDACTED].
1349 [REDACTED].
1350 SPOE00185335-00185363RED3, p.SPOE00185344; [REDACTED].
1351 Mustafa TJ, para.663.
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C. Count 3 - Torture

349. The evidence reviewed above under Count 2 also supports the charges under

Count 3, and proves beyond reasonable doubt the infliction of severe physical and

psychological harm on the victims. 

350. For example, the mistreatment inflicted during the 20 May 1999 Incident was

clearly premeditated. KLA  soldiers that night told W04733 that they had been waiting

for him.1352 The victims were brought one after the other to the Office Room of the

Command Building,1353 where they were repeatedly beaten, for a protracted period of

time,1354 in a way aimed at inflicting as much pain as possible. The perpetrators used

salt on the wounds of detainees.1355 They continued abusing them in spite of the

precarious physical condition of the victims, who were covered in blood,1356 or

fainted,1357 some of them multiple times.1358 These are all factors that qualify the

mistreatment of the victims as torture.1359 

                                                

1352 SITF00013181-SITF00013189RED3, p.SITF00013186; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2,
p.SPOE00013813.
1353 Section V.D.
1354 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1469.
1355 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1454, 1464; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016232; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013747.
1356 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1452; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1491-1492.
1357 SITF00016140-00016220RED3, pp.SITF00016147; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016237.
1358 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1457.
1359 Mustafa TJ, para.668.
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351. The condition of inferiority of the victims vis-à-vis their torturers, which was

evident given their state of detention, and the fact that they were forced to beat each

other, including on their genitals,1360 are further evidence that these beatings

amounted to torture.1361

352. The daily occurrence of beatings,1362 and the fact that the victims were routinely

accused of being spies, traitors, or collaborators,1363 show that the mistreatments were

inter-related and formed part of a pattern. Accordingly, the victims’ suffering should

be assessed holistically, and not solely in relation to distinct episodes of

mistreatment.1364

                                                

1360 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013848-00013851RED2, p.SITF00013849.
1361 Mustafa TJ, para.668.
1362 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1512-1513, 1524; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, p.1919; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1222,
1233; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
pp.SITF00013754, SITF00013747; 064716-TR-ET Part 5 RED4, p.15; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 8 RED2, p.29;
082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9 RED2, p.7; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, pp.SPOE00013823-
SPOE00013825; 106978-107020, pp.106988-106989; SITF00018740-00018767RED, pp.SITF00018745-
SITF00018746; TW4-07, 29 March 2023, p.907.
1363 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.152-153, 157; 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066877; TW4-01, 30 May
2023, pp.1466-1467, 1476; TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1556; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1231; 082892-TR-AT-ET
Part 4 RED3, p.18; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, p.10; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
pp.SITF00013746-SITF00013747.
1364 Mustafa TJ, para.668.
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353. Victims were scared to talk to1365 or even look at one another.1366 They lived in

constant fear, counting the minutes separating them from their death.1367 They were

so afraid that they could not sleep,1368 and suffered from mental trauma.1369 This type

of severe mental pain and suffering in the victims also qualifies their mistreatment as

torture.1370

354. The beating of the victims in front of one another was a further pattern at the

KMF. For example, the victims in Room 1 were made to witness the mistreatments of

other co-detainees,1371 with the clear intent of intimidating them.1372

                                                

1365 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, p.1448; TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1228; TW4-11, 3 May 2023, p.1243.
1366 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, p.1231; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013760.
1367 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539.
1368 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539
1369 SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013858.
1370 Mustafa TJ, para.669.
1371 TW4-11, 2 May 2023, pp.1222, 1230-1231, 1233; SITF00018740-00018767RED, p.SITF00018746;
106978-107020, p.106989; SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013825; 082892-TR-AT-ET
Part 9 RED2, p.9-10, 13; SITF00016221-00016285RED4, p.SITF00016237; SITF00013736-
SITF00013800RED5, pp.SITF00013753-SITF00013754, SITF00013759; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013859; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013859.
1372 Mustafa TJ, para.673.
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355. The purpose of the mistreatment was also to obtain information,1373 and to

punish [REDACTED]1374 and W047331375 in relation to acts the perpetrators alleged

they had committed, with no real possibility for the victims to respond to these

allegations. [REDACTED].1376

D. Count 4 - Murder

356. The evidence discussed in Section V.F. proves beyond reasonable doubt that

[REDACTED] was shot on or around [REDACTED] 1999, during the course of a brutal

beating, while detained at the KMF. He subsequently bled to death. The direct, point-

blank shooting [REDACTED], prior threats against him, and subsequent denial of

appropriate medical care show that the perpetrators intended his death. At the very

least, the perpetrators should reasonably have known that the injuries inflicted

[REDACTED] may have caused his death.1377

                                                

1373 SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013746.
1374 [REDACTED]; SITF00013852-00013869RED6, p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5,
p.SITF00013744.
1375 SPOE00013793-SPOE00013847RED2, p.SPOE00013814; SITF00019824-00019876RED2,
pp.SITF00019841-SITF00019842; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013744; TW4-01, 30 May
2023, p.1455. [REDACTED].
1376 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1527.
1377 Mustafa TJ, paras 686, 688; Kvočka et al. AJ, paras 259-261, 270-271.
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VII. INDIVIDUAL CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY OF PJETËR SHALA

A. JCE

357. The evidence establishes beyond reasonable doubt that the Accused is

responsible for the crimes charged in the Indictment as a participant in a JCE. The

Accused committed the crimes together with a plurality of persons, including Sabit

GECI, Xhemshit KRASNIQI, and other KLA soldiers and military policemen. The

Accused and the other JCE members all shared the intent for the crimes of arbitrary

detention, cruel treatment, torture, and murder. Alternatively, it was foreseeable to

the Accused that the crime of murder might be perpetrated in the execution of the

common criminal plan.

358. The Accused and the other JCE members significantly contributed to the

execution of the common criminal purpose through the acts and omissions discussed

below.

1. The charged crimes were part of a common criminal purpose shared

by a plurality of persons which included Pjetër SHALA

359. It is not necessary for the common purpose described above to have been

previously arranged, formulated, and planned, as it can also materialise
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extemporaneously and be inferred from the unified actions of the JCE members.1378

The following facts prove the existence of this common plan.

360. It was KLA military policemen and soldiers who arrested W014481379, TW4-01,

[REDACTED],1380 [REDACTED]. [REDACTED] arrested TW4-02,1381 [REDACTED]

took TW4-11,1382 TW4-04,1383 and TW4-051384 to the KMF, where they were subsequently

detained. Xhemshit KRASNIQI was [REDACTED] part of the group that after several

attempts managed to kidnap W04733 in Durrës.1385 The Accused himself participated

in the transfer of W04733 to the KMF, together with a group of other KLA soldiers.1386

W04733’s evidence on the Accused’s involvement in his transport is corroborated by

evidence of the Accused himself,1387 and by the Accused’s participation in W04733’s

beating later the same day, during the 20 May 1999 Incident.1388 The victims were all

detained within the KMF.1389

                                                

1378 Mustafa TJ, para.739; Vasiljević AJ, IT-98-32-A, para.109; Šainović et al. AJ, para.611.
1379 Section V.A.4.
1380 Section V.A.1.
1381 Section V.A.5.
1382 Section V.A.2.
1383 Section V.A.6.
1384 Section V.A.7.
1385 Section V.A.3.
1386 Section V.A.3.
1387 Section V.H.1.
1388 Section V.D.
1389 Section VI.A.
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361. The Accused, Xhemshit KRASNIQI, Sabit GECI, and other KLA soldiers and

policemen, including ‘Bedri’ and ‘Van Dam’, all took part in the mistreatment of the

victims at the KMF. For example, during the 20 May 1999 Incident,1390 Sabit GECI

primarily conducted the interrogations and gave orders while the Accused, Xhemshit

KRASNIQI, and other KLA members brutally beat the victims, revived them to ensure

the beatings could continue, and brought in new victims to beat in front of the

others.1391 

362. Interrogations and mistreatment, including by the same people, continued

throughout the Indictment Period, culminating in the shooting [REDACTED].1392

2. The Accused’s intent and significant contribution to the common

criminal purpose

363. The Accused’s participation in the transport of W04733,1393 the beating of

W04733, W01448, and TW4-01, amongst others, during the 20 May 1999 Incident,1394

and the mistreatment and shooting of [REDACTED]1395 amount to a significant

                                                

1390 Section V.D.
1391 Section V.D. See also e.g. TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1457-1458; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1925-1926;
SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013743; SITF00019824-00019876RED2, pp.SITF00019842,
SITF00019844; 106978-107020, p.106980; 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 5 RED2, pp.9-10.
1392 Section V.F.
1393 Section V.A.3.
1394 Section V.D.
1395 Section V.F.
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contribution to the common criminal purpose. It also proves beyond reasonable doubt

that the Accused shared the intent to commit the charged crimes, which is further

evidenced by multiple factors as outlined below.

364. The direct, and escalating, nature of the perpetrators’ conduct, and the

continued direct participation of the JCE members – including the Accused – in it,

shows their intent to commit the crimes.1396 In fact, in admitting to beating TW4-01

[REDACTED], the Accused stated that he ‘would do it [again] without any hesitation’

as ‘[REDACTED].’1397

365. Adding to his culpability is the fact that the Accused was in a position of

relative privilege at the KMF: (i) he was in close contact and association with senior

KLA figures, such as Sabit GECI and Xhemshit KRASNIQI; and (ii) he could come and

go freely from the premises, and  (iii) had access to the Command Building. Indeed,

the Accused represented himself to one of the victims as ‘a superior, a senior

officer’.1398 Despite this, he did nothing to assist the victims, or improve their

conditions; on the contrary, he was a principal perpetrator of the violence against

them. In the 20 May 1999 Incident, the Accused –[REDACTED] the vicious beating he

then suffered.

                                                

1396 Karemera and Ngirumpatse AJ, para.632; Kvočka et al. AJ, paras 109-110.
1397 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, pp.155, 169.
1398 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1477; TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1690; TW4-01, 6 June 2023, pp.1925-1926.
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366. The Accused and the other JCE members also intended the murder

[REDACTED], or were aware of the substantial likelihood that that their actions

would lead to his death.

367. [REDACTED] was repeatedly and severely beaten. The Accused stated that the

allegations against [REDACTED].1399 Therefore, TW4-01 [REDACTED].1400 The

Accused admits ‘explod[ing]’1401 [REDACTED],1402 and hitting them with a piece of

wood.1403

368. Already during the 20 May 1999 Incident, potentially lethal weapons -

including baseball bats, rubber batons, metal bars, and knives – were used against the

detainees. Guns were also used and displayed by multiple people that night,1404

including by Sabit GECI who used his gun to cause a serious injury [REDACTED],

and by Xhemshit KRASNIQI, who used his revolver to hit W04733 on his forehead,

causing a deep wound and extensive bleeding.1405 The degree of violence used was

such that the Accused should reasonably have known that it might lead to death.

[REDACTED] lost consciousness as a result of the severity of the mistreatment.1406

                                                

1399 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.157.
1400 The truthfulness of this allegation is irrelevant for the crimes charged against the Accused, since in
any event, once detained at the KMF, [REDACTED] were entitled to the protection of Common Article
3.
1401 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.152.
1402 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.152.
1403 066888-TR-ET Part 1 Revised, p.154.
1404 TW4-01, 30 May 2023, pp.1453, 1457-1458.
1405 Section V.D.
1406 Section V.D.
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Indeed, indicative of their intent is the fact that even after the victims had lost

consciousness, and then been revived again, the perpetrators continued to beat them. 

369. The Accused both witnessed and participated in this conduct, and was aware

of the condition to which TW4-01, [REDACTED] and W04733 were reduced during

the 20 May 1999 Incident. Despite this, the Accused not only continued his

participation in the mistreatment on that occasion, but also subsequently,

[REDACTED]. That night, the perpetrators, which again included the Accused,

[REDACTED].1407 Again, there were multiple firearms in the room, and again they

were used, this time to fire [REDACTED]. [REDACTED],1408 the common purpose

included the commission of murder.1409 The injuries inflicted [REDACTED] were of

such nature that the perpetrators must have intended to kill him  or – at the very least

– were aware of the substantial likelihood that their actions would lead to his death.

370. Indeed, the JCE members expressly stated their intent for murder. For example,

very shortly before this incident, [REDACTED].1410 [REDACTED].1411 And, even after

[REDACTED] shooting, KLA members continued to threaten detainees

                                                

1407 Section V.F.1.a.
1408 Krajišnik AJ, para.163.
1409 Section V.F.
1410 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1525-1526.
1411 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1523-1524.
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[REDACTED].1412 The Accused himself has remained clear and unrepentant about his

murderous intent towards the victims, stating, with respect to W04733, that ‘If I had

caught him  one year earlier, he wouldn’t have been able to testify about anything

anymore. Unfortunately, I never found him.’1413 

371. After [REDACTED] had been shot, the perpetrators continued mistreating

[REDACTED].1414 The subsequent denial of appropriate medical care, in addition to

the shooting, is further proof of the intent to kill.1415

372. This evidence, in addition to proving beyond reasonable doubt the

perpetrators’ – including the Accused’s – intent for murder, is consistent with, and

corroborate, W04733’s statement that, while at the KMF, the Accused told him that he

would be executed.1416 [REDACTED], the perpetrators considered W04733 directly

linked to Serb security forces. [REDACTED].1417

373. In the alternative, for the reasons stated above, it was at least foreseeable to the

Accused that [REDACTED] might die as a result of his mistreatment.1418

                                                

1412 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1530; SITF00013852-00013869RED2, p.SITF00013859; SITF00013736-
SITF00013767RED2, p.SITF00013754.
1413 074117-074129-ET Revised, p.074128.
1414 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1527.
1415 Section V.F; Mustafa TJ, para.688.
1416 082892-TR-AT-ET Part 9RED2, p.5.
1417 Section V.A.3.
1418 Mustafa TJ, para.734; Šainović et al. AJ, paras 1557-1558.
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B. Aiding and Abetting

374. Through the same acts and omissions that significantly contributed to the

furtherance of the common criminal plan, the Accused also aided and abetted the

crimes committed at the KMF.

375. His participation in beatings, for instance, provided practical assistance and

encouragement to the perpetrators, and so did his participation in the transport of

W04733 to Kukës. This practical assistance had a substantial effect on the commission

of the crimes, and the Accused was aware that his conduct would contribute to their

commission.

C. Physical commission

376. The Accused’s direct participation in the arrest of W04733, the 20 May 1999

Incident, and [REDACTED] also makes him responsible for the crimes of arbitrary

detention, cruel treatment, and torture as a physical perpetrator.

VIII. SENTENCING 

377. The Panel should impose a lengthy term of imprisonment on the Accused,

reflecting the gravity of the crimes he committed, his role in them, their severe

consequences on the victims, the presence of multiple aggravating factors, the

importance of deterrence, and the lack of any mitigating factors.

378. In addition to imprisonment, the Panel should also order the Accused to make

restitution or pay compensation to the victims in this case, pursuant to Article 44(6).
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A. Applicable Sentencing Ranges

379. The Panel may impose upon a convicted person imprisonment up to a

maximum term of life-long imprisonment.1419 It retains broad discretion in this regard,

due to its obligation to individualise the penalty to the specific circumstances of the

case.1420 

380. Pursuant to Article 44(2), the Panel shall also consider, but is not bound by:1421

a. the sentencing range for the crime provided under Kosovo Law at the time of the

commission, and b. any subsequent more lenient sentencing range for the crime

provided in Kosovo Law, as well as the relevant provisions of the legal instruments

referred to in paragraph c.

381. The Criminal Code of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (‘CCSFRY’)

of 1 July 19771422 was in force at the time of the commission of the charged crimes,1423

and is the relevant applicable law.1424

                                                

1419 Mustafa TJ, para.779; Article 44(1).
1420 Mustafa TJ, paras 784-785, 794-795; Brđanin AJ, IT-99-36-A, para.500; Semanza AJ, ICTR-97-20-A,
para.394.
1421 Mustafa TJ, para.780. See also Limaj et al. TJ, para.734; Haradinaj et al. TJ, para.497; Tadić SJ, paras 11-
12; Delalić et al. AJ, paras 813-816; Serushago AJ, para.30.
1422 Article 15(1); Official Gazette SFRY No. 44 of 8 October 1976.
1423 Article 15(1).
1424 Mustafa TJ, para.781.
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382. Article 142 of the CCSFRY which addressed, inter alia, war crimes of killings,

torture, inhuman treatment and illegal arrests and detention - provided for

punishment of either imprisonment for not less than five years or the death penalty.1425

Article 38(1) and (2) of the CCSFRY additionally provided that the punishment of

imprisonment may not be greater than 15 years,1426 but that a term of 20 years may be

imposed for criminal acts eligible for the death penalty.1427 All subsequent relevant

laws or codes adopted in Kosovo have provided for equal or more severe sentencing

ranges, with higher minimum penalties, and up to life imprisonment.1428 As found in

Mustafa, this demonstrates that, pursuant to Article 142 CCSFRY, the most serious

crimes, such as war crimes, attract the most severe sentences.1429

383. The Accused was aware, or should have been aware, based on the sentencing

provisions of the CCSFRY, that war crimes were subject to severe punishment. This is

the conclusion reached by the International Criminal Tribunal for the former

Yugoslavia (‘ICTY’) Delalić Appeals Chamber, which found that ‘there [could] be no

doubt that the accused must have been aware of the fact that the crimes for which they

were indicted are the most serious violations of international humanitarian law,

                                                

1425 See Art.142 CCSFRY.
1426 Art.38(1) CCSFRY.
1427 Art.38(2) CCSFRY.
1428 See Provisional Criminal Code of Kosovo, introduced under UNMIK Regulation No.2003/25 in July
2003, Articles 118 and ff.; Kosovo Criminal Code of 20 April 2012, Law No.04/L-082, Articles 150 and
ff.; Kosovo Criminal Code of 14 January 2019, Law No.06/L-074, Articles 144 and ff.
1429 Mustafa TJ, para.781.
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punishable by the most severe penalties.’1430 Lengthy sentences, in excess of 20 years,

were imposed for example in Stakić,1431 Krstić,1432 and Blaškić.1433 

384. When determining the appropriate sentence, the Panel may also consider

sentencing practices of both national and international courts for similar cases, bearing

in mind that the length of sentence ultimately depends on the circumstances of the

particular case.1434

385. Two of the Accused’s co-perpetrators have already been convicted by Kosovo

courts for some of the crimes charged in this case. Sabit GECI was convicted to

15 years for the charges of inhumane treatment, violation of bodily integrity, and

torture, which is the maximum sentence the judges determined could apply under the

applicable law.1435 Pursuant to Article 44(2), the Panel in this case is not bound by that

limit.1436 Xhemshit KRASNIQI was sentenced to 8 years of imprisonment,1437 reduced

to 7 years on appeal1438 - which falls in the mid-range of what would have been open

                                                

1430 Delalić et al. AJ, para.817.
1431 Stakić TJ, para.889.
1432 Krstić TJ, para.727; Krstić AJ, para.261.
1433 Blaškić TJ, p.267; Blaškić AJ, para.681.
1434 See Krstić AJ, para.248; Semanza AJ, para.394; Taylor AJ, para.705; Bemba et al. SD, para.36.
1435 Geci et al. TJ, p.10 (verdict), paras 273-274, confirmed in Geci et al. AJ, p.4; Geci et al. Supreme Court
Judgment, pp.2-3.
1436 Mustafa TJ, para.780.
1437 Krasniqi TJ, p.8.
1438 After a reclassification of two counts and their rejection due to expiration of the statutory limitation
period, see Krasniqi AJ, pp.7, 12-19, 24.
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to that Panel, and again (like with GECI’s sentence) did not include the crime of

murder.

B. The crimes committed by the Accused warrant a severe sentence

386. When determining the sentence, the Panel shall consider the gravity of the

crime and its consequences, the convicted person’s personal contribution to the crime,

the individual circumstances of the convicted person, and the aggravating and

mitigating circumstances related to those factors.1439 

1. The gravity of the crimes and their consequences require a severe

sentence

387. The gravity of a crime is the primary consideration in guiding the imposition

of punishment by the KSC.1440 This requires a qualitative and quantitative assessment,

considering the nature, scope, circumstances, and consequences of a crime.1441

388.  Gravity is measured both in abstracto, by analysing the nature of the crime in

general terms, and in concreto, by assessing the particular circumstances of the case.1442

                                                

1439 Article 44(5) and Rule 163(1); Mustafa TJ, para.783.
1440 See Mustafa AJ, para.451; Gucati and Haradinaj AJ, para.410; Mustafa TJ, para.787.
1441 Mustafa TJ, para.787.
1442 See Mustafa TJ, para.788; See also, Nshogoza, AJ, para.98; Bemba et al. SD, para.23; Ayyash et al. SJ,
para.24; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.951.

Date original: 25/03/2024 22:04:00 
Date public redacted version: 26/08/2024 09:45:00

PUBLICKSC-BC-2020-04/F00818/RED/182 of 193



183

KSC-BC-2020-04  25 March 2024

Indicators of gravity include, inter alia, the scale of the crime, the number, vulnerability

and age of the victims, and the impact of the crimes on them and their relatives.1443

a) The Accused’s crimes were brutal and devastating for the

victims

389. The crimes committed by the Accused were brutal. The victims were

apprehended without warning,1444 held in degrading conditions at the KMF,1445 where

the mistreatment inflicted on them was unpredictable and extraordinarily violent and

harmful.1446 One of the victims was murdered at the KMF.1447

390. Arbitrary detention is a grave crime in nature because it exposes victims to

other, additional human rights violations.1448 In the case at hand, at least 18 persons

were apprehended without warning and illegally detained between 17 May 1999 and

5 June 1999 at the KMF, in harsh conditions and with no explanation for their

detention, and no possibility to challenge it.1449

                                                

1443 See Mustafa TJ, para.789; Mustafa AJ, para.478.
1444 Section V.A.
1445 Section V.B.
1446 Sections V.C., V.D.
1447 Section V.F.
1448 See Mustafa TJ, para.796.
1449 Sections VI.A. and VI.B.
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391. The prohibition of cruel treatment and torture aims at protecting core human

values, such as human dignity, mental and physical well-being, and security.1450 An

attack on these fundamental values is a grave crime in itself. The victims were kept in

inhumane and degrading conditions, deprived of basic sustenance, sanitary needs and

necessary medical care, and in unbearable temperatures.1451 

392. Beatings and mistreatment took place on a daily basis, and the victims lived in

constant fear, thus adding severe mental harm to the extreme physical one.1452

Completely at their tormentors’ mercy, the detainees did not know why or for how

long they would be kept and what would happen to them. In the words of TW4-01:

‘[w]e were expecting to be killed at every moment’.1453

393. The right to life and the corresponding prohibition against illegal killing

protects the highest human value: human life.1454 It is most precious for its own sake

as well as a prerequisite for the enjoyment of all other human rights. Murder,

accordingly, is inherently one of the most serious crimes. [REDACTED] was murdered

at the KMF, shot during a night of terrible torture and left to bleed to his death.1455

                                                

1450 See Mustafa TJ, para.797.
1451 Section V.B.
1452 Sections VI.B. and VI.C.
1453 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1539
1454 Mustafa TJ, para.798.
1455 Sections V.F., VI.D.
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394. While the Accused did not pull the trigger, his conduct is highly culpable in

relation to the murder [REDACTED]. He engaged in potentially lethal torture

practices throughout the 20 May 1999 Incident, in complete disregard of the clear risks

to the victims‘ lives, which were evident to all those present that night. [REDACTED]

he engaged in a further, night-long beating, where perpetrators were armed with

automatic weapons and displayed a clear intent to kill.1456

395. The disastrous detention conditions, the brutal mistreatments and the murder

[REDACTED] took a terrible toll on the detainees – and their families. To the victims,

the crimes inflicted on them  caused far-reaching and long-lasting physical and

psychological consequences. TW4-01 testified that he will never be able to leave

behind the memories of what happened to him in Kukës: ‘I have this dark spot [...]

inside, I will never find peace of mind‘.1457 To this day, he suffers from physical pain

and chronic PTSD related to what he endured at the KMF.1458 [REDACTED].1459

396. The Accused‘s crimes also irreversibly traumatised the victims‘ families, who

feared for their loved ones when they were detained and witnessed their terrible

conditions when they finally came back. The pain and suffering caused by the torture

                                                

1456 Section VII.A.2.
1457 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1572-1573; TW4-01, 5 June 2023, p.1760.
1458 Section V.A.1; V4010023-V4010044, pp.V4010040-V4010041.
1459 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, p.1569.
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is still vivid for the surviving family members [REDACTED], who explained that:

‘[w]hat befell on us will stay with us and we will never be able to erase it.’1460 

b) Aggravating factor: particularly vulnerable and

defenceless victims

397. The victims of the Accused’s crimes were particularly vulnerable and

defenceless in the sense of Rule 163(1)(b).

398.  During their mistreatment, they were completely at the mercy of their

tormentors, they were civilians, who were detained, rendered even more helpless

through beatings, forced to witness the mistreatment of others.1461 The state of fear and

constant intimidation to which the victims were subjected1462 amplified their

vulnerability and defencelessness.

c) Aggravating factor: commission of crimes with particular

cruelty and against multiple victims 

399. The perpetrators displayed a high level of cruelty against multiple victims in

the sense of Rule 163(1)(b).

                                                

1460 TW4-06, 28 March 2023, pp.825-826.
1461 Section V.C.
1462 Section VI.C.
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400.  This is evidenced by the harsh detention conditions the detainees suffered -

some of them for several weeks.1463 The high level of cruelty is further evidenced by

inter alia (i) the prolonged, violent, and harmful character of the beatings, including

the instruments and methods used and the injuries caused,1464 (ii) the degrading and

humiliating nature of their mistreatment, which included being ordered to beat each

other on the genitals and pretend to have sexual intercourse with each other, (iii) being

made to witness each other’s mistreatments, and (iv) in the case of TW4-01, on one

occasion being falsely told that [REDACTED].1465

401. The brutality unleashed on the detainees culminated in [REDACTED].1466

2. The Accused’s direct and deliberate participation in the crimes

requires a severe sentence

402. Among the factors relevant to the assessment of the Accused’s contribution to

the crimes are his role in their commission, the means employed to execute them  and

the degree of intent.1467

403. The Accused’s personal contribution to the crimes was direct, significant,

deliberate, and extremely violent. The evidence shows that the Accused was

                                                

1463 Section V.C.
1464 Section VI.C.
1465 TW4-01, 31 May 2023, pp.1523-1524.
1466 Section V.F.
1467 Mustafa TJ, para.790.
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personally involved in the arrest, detention, and severe mistreatment of the victims,

who vividly remember the Accused’s deliberate participation in their mistreatments

and the brutal torture.1468 He beat W01448 with batons for half an hour, so hard that

W01448 almost fainted,1469 [REDACTED],1470 during a night when he beat him as much

as he could.1471 The Accused also participated in the brutal beating [REDACTED] the

harshest during his detention, which ended with the killing [REDACTED].1472

3. There are no mitigating factors

404. The Panel has wide discretion in determining what constitutes mitigating

circumstances, which must be established on a balance of probabilities, and the weight

to be accorded thereto.1473 Pursuant to Rule 163(1)(a), mitigating circumstances may

include the convicted person’s conduct after the act, including any efforts to

compensate the victims, voluntary surrender, and any cooperation with the SPO or

the KSC. 

405. In this case, there are no circumstances which could mitigate the sentence to be

imposed on the Accused. At no point in the almost 25 years since the crimes occurred

                                                

1468 Sections V.D, V.F, VII.A.
1469 SITF00016221-00016285RED4, pp.SITF00016231-SITF00016232; SITF00013852-00013869RED6,
p.SITF00013857; SITF00013736-SITF00013800RED5, p.SITF00013746.
1470 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, p.1690.
1471 TW4-01, 2 June 2023, pp.1691-1692.
1472 Section V.F.
1473 See e.g. Simba AJ, para.328; Brđanin TJ, para.1117.
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has the Accused shown any remorse. On the contrary, in 2016, when he admitted to

beating [REDACTED], the Accused added that he had no regrets.1474 In 2019, he even

said that ‘if I had to do it again tomorrow, I would do it without hesitation’.1475 With

regard to W04733, the Accused stated that ‘If I had caught him  one year earlier, he

wouldn’t have been able to testify about anything anymore. Unfortunately, I never

found him.’1476

406. Time has not changed the Accused’s propensity to violence. On 4 January 2018,

the Accused stabbed a person in a bar five consecutive times, causing deep cuts that

required surgery to drain blood in the victim’s lungs,1477 for which he was criminally

convicted.1478 On 11 February 2019, when interviewed by Belgian authorities in the

presence of SPO staff, and asked whether he had a criminal record in Belgium, the

Accused stated ‘[c]lean, never had any problems’.1479 Although at that time he was yet

to be convicted for the stabbing, his house had already been searched in relation to it,

and a knife confiscated.1480 

                                                

1474 074117-074129-ET Revised, p.074127.
1475 066866-066882-ET Revised, p.066876.
1476 074117-074129-ET Revised, p.074128.
1477 118356-118384-ET, p.118367.
1478 118356-118384-ET, p.118368.
1479 066864-TR-ET Part 1 Revised 1, p.4.
1480 The search took place on 23 February 2018, 118356-118384-ET, p.118367.
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407. When providing his unsworn statement at the beginning of this trial, the

Accused denied any accountability for his actions. He called himself ‘a simple fighter

for freedom’ and claimed that no fighter of the KLA  ever fought against civilians,1481

even though he had previously confessed to having assaulted TW4-01

[REDACTED].1482 

408. Against this background and considering the gravity of the crimes, no

substantial weight should be given to any possible submissions on the Accused’s good

character.

C. Deterrence warrants a severe sentence 

409. Deterrence is one of the primary purposes of sentencing individuals under

Article 14.1483 The sentence imposed in this case should recognise the seriousness of

the crimes committed and be sufficiently severe to deter others in the future from 

committing such crimes.1484 

410. As set forth above, a significant sentence is warranted because of the gravity of

the crimes and the Accused’s role therein. Such a sentence will send a message to

future potential perpetrators that their crimes will be investigated and prosecuted -

                                                

1481 Defence Opening Statements, pp.603-604.
1482 Section V.H.1.
1483 Mustafa TJ, para.772; Gucati and Haradinaj TJ, para.938.
1484 Todorović SJ, para.30; Aleksovski AJ, para.185; Delalić et al. AJ, para.803.
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even decades after the events. It will additionally serve to reassure the general public,

surviving victims, their relatives, and witnesses, that the rule of law  is implemented

and enforced, and conveying the message that ‘globally accepted laws and rules have

to be obeyed by everybody.’1485

D. Requested sentence

411. Having considered the applicable sentencing ranges and the factors set out

above (in particular the gravity of the crimes and Accused’s conduct – including the

role played in each of the crimes, the aggravating circumstances, the lack of any

mitigating circumstances, the crucial importance of general deterrence), and given

that pursuant to Rule 163(4) the Panel must first determine a sentence in respect of

each charge in the Indictment, the SPO requests the Panel to impose the following

sentences on the Accused:

Count 1: 8 years’ imprisonment;

Count 2: 15 years’ imprisonment;

Count 3: 20 years’ imprisonment;

Count 4: 26 years’ imprisonment.

                                                

1485 Brđanin TJ, para.1091; Dragan Nikolić SJ, para.139.
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412. Rule 163(4) requires the Panel to impose a single sentence reflecting the totality

of the criminal conduct of the Accused, which shall not be less than the highest

individual sentence determined in respect of each charge. It remains open to the Panel

to sentence the Accused to the terms of imprisonment set out in relation to Counts 1-4

cumulatively, or to a higher sentence of imprisonment than that set out in relation to

any specific count.

413. In order to reflect the totality of the criminal conduct of the Accused, the SPO

requests to impose on the Accused a single sentence of 28 years’ imprisonment.

IX. CLASSIFICATION 

414. The present submission is filed confidentially in order to protect confidential

material such as trial transcripts, confidential exhibits and testimony heard in private

session. A  public redacted version will be filed.

X. RELIEF SOUGHT

415. For the all the reasons set forth in this brief, the Accused should be convicted

of all counts in the Indictment and sentenced to 28 years’ imprisonment for his crimes.

Word Count: 44,577

_______________________

        Kimberly P. West

       Specialist Prosecutor
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Monday, 25 March 2024

At The Hague, the Netherlands. 
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